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China Gas

China Gas Holdings Limited (“China Gas”,
stock code: 384) is a natural gas services
operator, principally engaged in the
investment, construction and management
of city gas pipeline infrastructure,
distribution of natural gas and LPG to
residential, industrial and commercial
users, construction and operation of oil
stations and gas stations, and development
and application of oil, natural gas and LPG
related technologies.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Financial Highlights 2015 2014 Change
for the year ended 31 March HK$'000 HK$'000
Turnover 31,686,028 26,007,997 21.8%
Gross profit 6,457,336 5,286,135 22.2%
Profit for the year 3,869,686 2,979,295 29.9%
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 3,371,053 2,575,506 30.9%
Basic EPS (in HK cents) 67.30 53.58 25.6%
Total dividend per share (in HK cents) 16.15 12.06 33.9%
EBIT 5,363,895 4,335,563 23.7%
EBITDA 6,295,288 5,084,644 23.8%
Total assets 50,624,436 45,264,629 11.8%
Bank balance and cash 5,291,981 6,704,647 -21.1%
Shareholders’ equity 18,396,317 15,783,489 16.6%
Key Financial Indicators
for the year ended 31 March 2015 2014
Average finance costs 3.87% 4.71%
Current ratio (times)* 1.26 1.50
Gross profit margin 20.4% 20.3%
Net gearing ratio* 0.66 0.57
Net profit margin 12.2% 11.5%
Payout ratio (%) 24.0% 22.5%
Return on average equity 19.7% 18.9%

* Note: excluding the trade finance related facilities of LPG business

Definitions:

3 Average finance costs o Net profit margin

Total interest expenses/Average borrowing for the year

. Current ratio
Current assets/Current liabilities

3 Gross profit margin
Gross profit/Turnover

. Net gearing ratio

Net borrowing/Shareholders’ funds (excluding LPG trade finance

related facilities)
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Net profit for the year/Turnover

3 Payout ratio

Dividend per share/Earning per share

o Return on average equity

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company/Average

equity attributable to equity holders of the Company




OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

Operational Performance 2015 2014 Change
for the year ended 31 March million m3 million m3
Total natural gas sale volume 8,974.6 8,044.8 11.6%
Natural gas sold through city gas projects 6,753.3 5,663.2 19.2%
Natural gas sold through long distance pipelines 2,221.3 2,381.6 —6.7%
Sales of natural gas (customer breakdown)
Residential 1,339.8 1,129.6 18.6%
Industrial consumption in city projects 3,096.8 2,782.8 11.3%
Industrial consumption via long distance pipelines 2,221.4 2,381.6 —6.7%
Commercial 1,244.6 992.2 25.4%
CNG/LNG stations 1,072.0 758.6 41.3%
New Connections and CNG/LNG stations
for the year ended 31 March 2015 2014 Change
Residential 1,920,790 1,662,167 15.6%
Industrial 930 528 76.1%
Commercial 11,665 8,656 34.8%
CNG/LNG stations 167 173 -3.5%
for the year ended 31 March 2015 2014 Change
Number of city natural gas projects 273 237 36
Total length of existing pipelines (km) 60,419 47,668 26.7%
Accumulated number of connected customers
and gas stations 2015 2014 Change
Residential 12,590,944 10,306,995 22.2%
Industrial 3,668 2,714 35.2%
Commercial 71,807 59,479 20.7%
CNG/LNG stations 520 353 47.3%
Urban population covered (million) 91.8 75.5 21.6%
Penetration rate (%) 44.3% 44.0% 0.3% pts
Average connection fees (RMB) 2,568 2,562 0.2%
Average tariffs (ex-tax) 2015 2014 Change
for the year ended 31 March RMB/m3 RMB/m3
Residential 2.36 2.26 4.4%
Industrial 2.82 2.56 10.2%
Commercial 2.98 2.85 4.6%
CNG/LNG stations 3.33 3.00 11.0%
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OPERATIONAL STATISTICS

as at 31 Mar 2015
Province/ Operational Location Total Population Urban Connectable Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated Length of
Autonomous Population Residential Connected Connected Connected Pipelines (km)
Region/Directly Households Residential Industrial Commercial
Total Length
Administered City Household C C
City Gas Anhui Wuhu 3,845,400 1,900,000 593,800 563,046 281 2,693 1,455
Huainan 2,433,000 1,790,000 559,000 267,49 24 731 966
Shou County 1,390,000 166,000 52,000 20,494 32 98
Suzhou 6,423,000 464,000 145,000 144,921 3 447 627
Wuhu County 394,000 150,000 47,000 37,681 100 225 218
Nanling County 550,000 200,000 62,500 40437 " 182 182
Huoshan County 370,000 82,000 25,600 16,451 5 67 81
Fengtai County 607,000 113,000 35,000 31,982 1 131 125
Wuwei County 1,423,000 180,000 56,000 32,031 1 162 184
Qimen County 187,000 39,000 12,188 2,306 1 1 20
Xiuning County 275,000 38,000 12,000 5012 2 9 34
Maoji Development Zone 133,000 27,000 8,500 1,721 1 12 6
Huogiu County 1,857,000 612,000 191,250 9,052 32 74
Susong Linjiang Industrial Zone 10,000 10,000 3,125
Suzhou Si County 950,000 300,000 93,750
Suzhou Yonggiao Economic Zone 116,000 116,000 36,000
Wuhe County 165,000 165,000 47,000 14,458 1 26 84
Hubei Yichang 4,105,000 1,246,000 389,000 276,696 63 1,770 1,022
Xiaogan 883,000 500,000 156,000 136,394 4 743 597
Hanchuan 1,123,000 220,000 69,000 56,302 120 297 217
Yingcheng 699,000 313,000 98,000 53,802 18 347 360
Yunmeng 600,000 128,000 40,000 39,748 19 269 180
Suizhou 2,580,000 1,015,000 317,000 92,074 28 47 553
Tianmen 1,638,000 564,000 176,000 51,636 " 321 321
Dangyang 560,000 212,000 66,000 28,712 25 208 233
Wuhan Qingshan District 485,000 192,000 60,000
Wuhan Jiangnan 320,000 320,000 100,000 22,336 86
Laohekou 609,000 251,000 78,500 37,341 1 324 382
Danjiangkou 500,000 193,000 60,000 22,405 15 302 276
Yuanan 194,000 78,500 25,000 4,185 1 7 33
Dawu County 700,000 243,000 76,000 402 1
Yun County 626,000 216,000 67,500 1,004 9
Wuxuetian Industrial Zone 25,000 25,000 7813
Shiyan Wudangshan Zone 60,000 60,000 18,750 2438 2 18 12
Fang County 486,000 250,000 78,000
Donghu High-tech Zone 400,000 400,000 125,000
Jianli County 672,000 360,000 112,500
Hunan Yiyang 4,842,000 1,340,000 419,000 142,644 33 59 708
You County 805,000 360,000 112,500 19,242 2 55 142
Zhangjiajie 1,721,000 658,000 205,000 29,661 1 199 188
Yiyang Datonghu 140,000 50,000 15,625
New Zone of Yiyang city 158,000 158,000 49,000
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OPERATIONAL STATISTICS (CONTINUED)

as at 31 Mar 2015
Province/ Operational Location Total Population Urban Connectable Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated Length of
Autonomous Population Residential Connected Connected Connected Pipelines (km)
Region/Directly Households Residential Industrial Commercial
Total Length
Administered City Household C C
Jiangsu Pizhou 1,829,000 460,000 143,750 63,562 10 342 336
Yangzhong 281,000 160,000 50,000 42,838 48 75 528
Jiang Bei District , Nanjing 1,680,000 1,680,000 525,000 350,993 67 364 1,166
Pu Kou District, Nanjing 611,000 340,000 106,250 19,387
Jiawang District, Xuzhou 509,000 259,000 81,000 27,674 5 81 24
Xinyi, Xuzhou 1,096,000 276,000 86,000 34,385 22 94 243
Yangzhou City 4,613,000 2,318,000 724,000 298,679 26 924 1,684
Taixing East District 14,000 14,000 4375
Lianyungang Haizhou Economic 240,000 240,000 75,000
Development Zone
Nanjing Jinggiao 48,000 48,000 13714 5 7
Donghai County 53,000 53,000 15,143
Pei County 229,719 229,19 65,656 45,767 4 55 433
Sihong County 187,39 187,39 53,541 33,564 2 89 335
Si County 164,000 164,000 46,857 83818 15 55
Guannan County 164,546 164,546 47,013 16,229 23 158
Zhejiang Xiaoshan district, Hangzhou 1,236,000 1,236,000 386,000 53,765 195 164 985
Taizhou 600,000 600,000 160,000 50,995 6 183 261
Jinhua 5,428,000 1,090,000 340,600 76,379 21 179 45
Hangzhou Jiangdong 420,000 240,000 75,000
Development Zone
Daishan Economic
Development Zone
Hebei Cangzhou Development Zone 370,000 270,000 84,375 4,065 38 14 4
Nanpi County 760,000 150,000 46,800 33,154 10 26 94
Qinghe County 407,000 113,000 35,300 7,182 18 12
Wangdu city 270,000 100,000 31,250 20,106 30 169 15
Tangshan Nanbao 170,000 78,000 24,000 21,556 19 88 151
Leting County
Xinle
Gaocheng
Pingshan County 4,320,000 894,000 279,000 203,971 144 602 1,043
Fengnan District of Tangshan
Neigiu County
Bohai New Zone 750,000 750,000 234,000 1,259 5 1
Cangzhou High-tech Zone 150,000 90,000 28,125
Tang County 590,000 310,000 96,875 13,426 37 n
Jinan New Zone of Handan 918,000 70,000 21875
Luquan 430,000 156,000 52,000 42,730 1 37 90
Quyang County 600,000 150,000 40,000 16,832 3 36 45
Raoyang County 300,000 67,000 20,938
New Zone of Botou 830,000 380,000 118,750
Laishui County 100,000 100,000 31,250
Dingzhou 353,000 62,000 19,375 575 1 1
Dingxing County 1,221,000 520,000 162,500
Yutian County 144,197 144,197 41,199 32,689 14 19
Changli County 200,000 200,000 57,143 23,535 23 182
Wei County 70,000 70,000 20,000 15473 3 80
Xiahuayuan District 67,648 67,648 19,328 10,612 7 61
Cheng'an County 158,000 158,000 45,143 10,391 1 5 92
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OPERATIONAL STATISTICS (CONTINUED)

as at 31 Mar 2015
Province/ Operational Location Total Population Urban Connectable Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated Length of
Autonomous Population Residential Connected Connected Connected Pipelines (km)
Region/Directly Households Residential Industrial Commercial
Total Length
Administered City Household C C
Wugiao County 60,743 60,743 17,355 9,232 7 15 9
Ningjin County 79,552 79,552 22,729 14,275 3 72 139
Linzhang County 77,154 77,154 22,044 9,896 7 m
Zaogiang County 80,000 80,000 22,857 8,957 7 60
Longyao County 210,000 210,000 60,000 3,595 9 28
Xingtang County 15,033 15,033 4,295 3,347 4 35
Gucheng County 100,000 100,000 28,571 17,907 1 20 141
Nangong City 103,607 103,607 29,602 26973 18 Y
Jize County 31,234 31,234 8924 4,246 1 7 62
Xinhe County 29,603 29,603 8458 7,025 4 9 71
Guangxi Zhuang Yulin 7,008,000 1,063,000 332,000 81,927 21 303 374
Autonomous Region | Qinzhou 3,965,000 400,000 125,000 73943 4 32 264
Liuzhou 3,723,000 1,454,000 454,000 252,068 20 8719 1273
Fangchenggang 899,000 255,000 79,600 49,041 1 m 186
Nanning ASEAN Development Zone 200,000 200,000 62,500 4310 6 27 22
Laibin 2,663,000 385,000 120,000 32,033 1 80 169
Baise 4,116,000 353,000 110,000 16,409 58 51
Bobai 1,820,000 310,000 96,300 8328 19 29
Nanning 7,244,000 2,797,000 874,000 663,448 65 1,941 2315
Chongzuo 2,465,000 689,000 215,000 12,515 13 36
Guiping 1,950,000 263,000 82,000 6,770 6 34
Beihai 1,693,000 635,000 198,000
Luchuan 1,100,000 720,000 225,000 60 1
Tiandeng County 453,000 310,000 96,875
Dahua County 449,000 300,000 93,750
Hechi 4,020,000 600,000 187,500
Shaanxi Baoji 3,856,000 1,455,000 455,000 426,154 166 1,784 1,463
Qishan County 476,000 231,000 72,000
Yulin 3,769,000 600,000 187,500 1422 2 19 17
Linyou County 88,000 25,000 7813
Guangdong Maoming 7,724,000 1,358,000 424,000 56,853 1 84 244
Conghua 630,000 300,000 94,000 39,134 38 13 364
Meizhou 1,237,000 886,000 250,000 48,340 4 124 294
Yunfu 2,942,000 286,000 110,000 24,563 m 153
Shanwei 3,590,000 531,000 166,000 9,507 27 56
Xinxing County 478,000 83,000 31,200 9,860 19 35 103
Fengshun County 702,000 250,000 78,000 3773 1 9 35
Pingyuan County 263,000 136,000 42,500 6,226 1 27 44
Dapu County 549,000 198,000 61,875 4,91 1 5 28
Wuhua County 1,335,000 489,000 152,813 3,208 3 20 32
Huazhou 1,653,000 580,000 181,250 11,542 8 47
Luhe County 346,000 103,000 32,000 4
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OPERATIONAL STATISTICS (CONTINUED)

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

as at 31 Mar 2015
Province/ Operational Location Total Population Urban Connectable Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated Length of
Autonomous Population Residential Connected Connected Connected Pipelines (km)
Region/Directly Households Residential Industrial Commercial
Total Length
Administered City Household C C
Liaoning Fushun 2,260,000 1,426,000 445,625 300,798 13 6,156 501
Jinzhou Economic Hi-Tech 200,000 200,000 62,500 45,899 1 179 114
Development Zone
Shenyang Sujiatun 437,000 437,000 136,500 55,732 30 353 354
Dailian Jinzhou Development Zone 1,100,000 450,000 140,625 61,454 8 162 234
Liaoyang 1,824,000 748,000 233,750 91,636 39 298 598
Gaizhou 730,000 287,000 103,000 19,977 7 106 124
Zhuanghe City 913,000 284,375 88,867 35,248 8 83 215
Zhuanghe Industrial Park 97,000 69,000 21,563
Pulandian 932,000 350,000 109,375 9,864 12 19 104
Liaoyang Economic Zone 87,000 63,200 19,750
Liaoyang Taizi River 131,000 67,000 21,000
Xinbin County 320,000 150,000 46,875 1,507 7
Jinzhou Longxiwan New Zone 60,000 25,000 73813 6,032 15 32
Qingyuan County 350,000 160,000 50,000 1,409
Dashigiao Industrial Zone
Jianping County
Fushun County 220,000 150,000 46,875
Yixian Qilihe 34,800 34,800 10,875 5
Chongging Yubei 1,136,000 900,000 281,250 133,625 27 6,493 389
Shandong Dezhou 5,705,000 1,771,000 553438 183,175 20 1,956 477
Qingdao 7,736,000 3,140,000 981,250 872,834 10 4,755 2,138
Leling 810,000 350,000 109,375 1,073 3 15
Qufu 640,000 160,000 50,000 39,200 14 123 170
Sishui 620,000 168,000 50,000 12,762 9 76 70
New Zone of Qufu 160,000 160,000 50,000 19,249 4 9 80
Weifang Binhai Economic 100,000 100,000 31,250
Development Zone
Liaocheng 260,000 260,000 81,250
Dezhou Tianqu Industrial Zone 2 2 38
Linyi City 1,280,000 1,280,000 365,714 257,997 52 864 644
Linyi Economic Zone 167,000 167,000 47,114 43,686 73 50 433
Linshu County 9,000 9,000 2,57 38 2 97
Shanxi Shuozhou 350,000 350,000 110,000 100,380 4 627 634
Tianjin Jinghai Economic Development 600,000 150,000 43,000 15,680 8 26 188
Zone
Ziya Industrial Zone 50,000 50,000 15,625
Jilin Fusong 100,000 65,500 19,000 2,164 9
Baishan City 217,641 217,641 62,183 41,245 180 205
Changbaishan International Resort 147,588 147,588 42,168 5,090 55 93
of Fusong County
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OPERATIONAL STATISTICS (CONTINUED)

as at 31 Mar 2015
Province/ Operational Location Total Population Urban Connectable Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated Length of
Autonomous Population Residential Connected Connected Connected Pipelines (km)
Region/Directly Households Residential Industrial Commercial
Total Length
Administered City Household C C
Inner Mongolia Hohhot 3,030,000 2,028,000 633,750 618,389 106 6,733 1,963
Autonomous Region | Wuzhen Banner 120,000 90,000 28,125 24,104 4 646
Baotou 2,766,000 1,700,000 531,250 454,655 395 3319 2,218
Helingeer County 202,000 90,000 28,125
Tuoketuo County 207,000 120,000 37,500
Tuzuo Banner 365,000 100,000 31,250
Wuchuan County 180,000 60,000 18,750
Alashangmeng 239,000 184,000 57,500
Alashangmeng Wusitai Industrial 30,000 30,000 9,375
Zone
Zuo Banner Tenggeli Industrial Zone 13,000 6,000 1,875
Wuhai 550,000 440,000 137,500
Wautelagian Banner 450,000 150,000 46,875
Heilongjiang Harbin 10,000,000 5,000,000 1,562,500 1,482,491 79 8,694 2470
Jiamusi 2,480,000 1,199,000 375,000 166,832 8 635 563
Shuangcheng 900,000 250,000 78,125
Mudanjiang 2,783,000 970,000 303,125 114,182 3 275 334
Jiagedag 550,000 160,000 50,000 6,198 13 52
Huachuan County 220,000 137,000 42,813 11,116 1 58 3,012
Tangyuan County 330,445 114,000 35,625 4,806 7 17 22
Huanan County 461,000 140,000 43,750 3,130 8 31 23
Suibin County 220,000 100,000 31,250 56 5 6
Tongjiang 210,000 106,000 33,125 815 1 14
Mudanjiang Jiangnan Development 70,000 70,000 21,875
Zone
Nongkenbaoguanling 210,000 150,000 46,875 542 1 9
Rache County 150,000 100,000 31,250 536 7
Qitaihe Jinsha New Zone 14,000 14,000 4375
Mulan County 274,000 120,000 37,500
Tieli Chengguan 198,000 198,000 56,571 2,982 18
Fuyu County 292,000 120,000 37,500
Boli County 353,000 136,000 42,500
Luobei County 224,000 136,000 42,500
Xinging District of Yichun City 50,000 50,000 15,625
Jixi 380,000 180,000 56,250
Ningxia Hui Zhongwei 1,133,000 599,000 187,200 35,742 10 1423 389
Autonomous Region | Guyuan City 1,550,000 351,000 110,000 4,264 14 90
Fujian 30 cities/regions 4,450,000 4,450,000 1,390,625 650,834 274 1,456 6,653
Sanming City 2,510,000 1,345,000 420,000
Shaowu City 165,000 165,000 47,143 1,201 18
Wauping County 375,000 115,000 35,900
Jiangxi Nanchang Wanli 90,000 50,000 15,625 12,240 1 37 107
Xinfeng County 780,000 260,000 81,250 16,481 3 90 284
Le'an City 370,000 100,000 31,250
Wauyuan County 365,000 120,000 37,500 2,307 2 " 37
Yihuang County 232,000 70,000 21,875
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OPERATIONAL STATISTICS (CONTINUED)

as at 31 Mar 2015
Province/ Operational Location Total Population Urban Connectable Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated Length of
Autonomous Population Residential Connected Connected Connected Pipelines (km)
Region/Directly Households Residential Industrial Commercial
Total Length
Administered City Households Customers Customers
Gansu Lingtai County 232,000 130,000 40,625
Huating County 194,000 130,000 40,625
Jingning County 488,000 144,000 45,000
Chongxin County 99,000 56,000 17,500
Huachi County 134,000 46,000 14,375
Heshui County 200,000 70,000 21,875 65 1
Henan Xinyang 700,000 700,000 220,000 121,605 7 659 1,399
Jiaozuo City 3,660,000 800,000 228,571 209,835 63 654 1,112
Qinyang City 130,000 130,000 37,143 15,215 13 66
Wauzhi County 520,000 520,000 148,571 16,840 8 170
Xiuwu County 90,000 90,000 25714 6,795 28 35 183
Luohe City 7 Projects 2,600,000 600,000 171,429 171,315 2 562 639
Xiping County 32,800 32,800 9,371
Jiyuan City 400,000 400,000 114,286 91,985 116 663 576
Sanmenxia City 390,000 390,000 111,429 64,364 27 254 293
Shan County 53,000 53,000 15,143
Sanmenxia Industrial Park 7
Lingbao City 120,000 120,000 34,286 1 32
Yanshi City 150,000 150,000 42,857 21,493 60 65 223
Yongcheng City 400,000 400,000 114,286 45,026 1 3 310
Yongcheng Industrial Zone 35,000 35,000 10,000 1
Xinmi City 250,000 250,000 71,429 32,569 22 101 366
Guizhou Kaili City 1,060,000 516,000 161,250 8,058 35
Yunnan Dali Haidong New Zone 80,000 80,000 25,000
Xinjiang Uygur Khorgos Economic 85,000 85,000 26,563
Autonomous Region |  Development Zone
Ho City Economic 100,000 100,000 31,250
Development Zone
E&P Chongging Chongging Dingfa 67,671 16 1,208 602
Pipeline Inner Mongolia Chang Meng 3,940 13 45 337
Autonomous Region | Wushen Banner 4 455
Tianjin Tianjin 2 36
Hubei Xiaogan 1 202
Dangyang 1 n
Huanggang-Daye
Hebei Huanghua 2 51
Cangzhou Zhongyou 43 1
Chongging Chongging 3 134
Shanxi Jing-Shuo 43
Liaoning Liaoyang
Jiangsu Subei
Guangxi Zhuang Guangxi Provincial Natural Gas
Autonomous Region | Pipeline
Total 235,363,181 91,843,911 28,439,569 12,590,944 3,668 71,807 60,419
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To provide natural gas service
to 273 CITIES covering
total 91 MILLION urban population



Natural Gas

We Endeavor To Provide Quality Services, Make Innovations In Clean Energy, Improve The Environment And Increase
the Standard Of Living.

The Group is primarily engaged in the construction and operation of city gas pipelines, and transmission of natural gas
and sale of liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") to residential, industrial and commercial users in China. The Group owns
273 city gas projects, the largest portfolio in China. The Group also invests in associated infrastructure such as gas
terminals, storage and transportation facilities, gas logistics systems and vehicle refilling stations and engages in the
development and application of technologies relating to petroleum, natural gas and LPG in China.
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NATURAL GAS

Natural Gas

The issues of climate change, energy safety and
environmental protection have aroused wide concern
from the international community, rendering green and
low-carbon development a pressing topic under the
spotlight among countries, a major development mode
of the world economy in the future as well as an
inevitable choice of China’s active response towards
climate change and shift of development approach. After
years of continuous sprawling growth of China economy
in full swing, the phenomena of serious atmospheric
pollution and frequent hazy weather are widespread in
the country. In fact, air pollution has become the “mortal
maladies” of people’s livelihood and constraints of
national sustainable development.

As a clean energy with a high level of safety and
efficiency which can effectively reduce major sources of

No. of City Gas Projects

213

:i.

1M 12 13 14 15
,J 0

(million m3)

City Gas
Projects Coverage
213 cities
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Piped Gas Sales Volume

1 12 13 14 15

Piped Gas
Sales Volume
9.11 hillion m®

pollution, natural gas represents a superior substitute for
other fuels such as coal, heavy oil, diesel, gasoline, etc.
Thus, the motivation for the development of green and
clean energy brings a very positive effect on the
adjustment of national energy structure, reduction of
atmospheric pollution and enhancement of energy
protection; it has also become the “rigid demand” of the
country and the society. Meanwhile, various levels of the
Chinese government introduce incentive policies,
promote green and low-carbon development, push
forward the energy production and consumption
revolution, improve the market stimulation and binding
mechanism, speed up the formation of resource-saving
and environmental-friendly production method and
consumption pattern, and strengthen the sustainable
development capabilities of the whole economy in order
to fulfill the ultimate goal of transforming China from a
country which is energy consumption orientated to a
energy efficiency orientated one..

Total Connected Households

12,590,944

9114

(.

07 n 12 13 14 15

Connected Household
Customers

12,590,944



NATURAL GAS (CONTINUED)

As shown in “China Oil and Gas Industry Development
Analysis and Outlook Blue Paper Report 2015"”, China
ranked 7th globally in terms of national gas production
with a pipeline network of 63,000 kilometers in 2014.
China has constructed a nationwide trunk pipeline
network connected with the four major strategic import
channels, major production areas, consumption areas
and gas storage facilities with main arteries of West-East
Gas Pipeline, Sichuan-East Gas Pipeline, Shaanxi-Beijing
Gas Pipeline and coastal trunk gas pipeline, thus forming
a smooth and safe supply network of multi-gas sources
and multi-way adjustments. During the Period, China’s
apparent consumption of natural gas was 183.0 billion
cubic meters, accounting for 6.3% of overall primary
energy consumption in China in 2014, compared with 5.9%
in 2013, and accounting for 5.1% of global natural gas
consumption. China became the third largest natural gas
consuming country in the world after the US and Russia.
However, as compared to developed countries, China’s
natural gas industry was still at its early stage of
development. In 2014, China issued a series of policies,
including “Guidance Opinions on Energy Related Works
2014", “The Work Plan for Strengthening Air Pollution
Prevention Efforts for the Energy Sector”, “Implementation
Rules of Natural Gas Distributed Energy Demonstration

Project” and “Energy Development Strategy Action Plan
(2014-2020)", so as to optimize the energy consumption
structure and encourage the use of clean energy such as
natural gas. Among these, the “Energy Development
Strategy Action Plan (2014-2020)" clearly states that the
proportion of natural gas in primary energy consumption
shall increase to over 10% by 2020. The government
also introduces a series of measures and plans on natural
gas, which include placing high emphasis on raising the
penetration rate of natural gas among urban residents;
developing natural gas transportation system; building
gas-fired peaking power plants and constructing gas-
steam combined cycle cogeneration plants at moderate
pace which is in line with heat load demand in key areas,
such as Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei-Shandong region, Yangtze
River Delta and Pearl River Delta, so as to prevent and
control atmospheric pollution; and further boosting the
imports of liquefied natural gas and piped natural gas.

Scientific fact: Natural gas is one of the fossil fuels. Its major component
is the colorless and odorless methane that has high calorific value, can
combust fully but contain no impurity. As a quality gas fuel, natural gas is
clean, toxic-free and convenient for use with high calorific value. It is
mainly used in heating and electricity generation and is usually found
near a petroleum reserve.



NATURAL GAS OPERATIONAL LOCATIONS
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b ou, Dingxing, Yutian,
Changli, Weixian, Xiahuayuan District, Cheng'an,
Waugiao, Ningjin, Linzhang, Zaogiang, Longyao,
Xingtang, Gucheng, Nangong City, Jize, Xinhe

N = |
New Zone, La ul, DINg

Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region

Hohhot, Wushen Banner, Wushen Banner Pipeline,
Changmeng Pipeline, Baotou, Helingeer, Tuoketuo
County, Tuzuo Banner, Wuchuan, Alashanmeng, Zuo
Banner Tenggeli Industrial Zone, Wuhai, Alashanmeng
Wausitai Industrial Zone, Wulategian Banner

Gansu

Lingtai, Huating, Jingning, Chongxin, Huachi, Heshui
County

Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region
Zhongwei, Guyuan City

Shaanxi
Baoji, Qishan, Yulin, Linyou

Hubei

Yichang, Xiaogan, Hanchuan, Yingcheng, Yunmeng,
Suizhou, Tianmen, Dangyang, Xiaogan Pipeline,
Dangyang Pipeline, Huanggang-Daye pipeline, Wuhan
Qingshan, Wugang Jiangnan, Laohekou, Danjiangkou,
Yuanan, Dawu Country, Yun County, Wuxuetian
Industrial Zone, Shiyan Wudangshan Zone, Fang
County, Wuhan Donghu High-tech Zone, Jianli County

Chonggqing
Dingfa E&P, Yubei, Chongging Changnan Pipeline

Hunan

Yiyang, Zhangjiajie, You County, Yiyang Datonghu,
New Zone of Yiyang City

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region

Yulin, Qinzhou, Liuzhou, Fangchenggang, Laibin,
Baise, Nanning, Nanning ASEAN Development Zone,
Bobai, Chongzuo, Guiping, Beihai, Luchuan, Tiandeng
County, Dahua County, Hechi, Guangxi Provincial
Natural Gas Pipeline

Heilongjiang

Harbin, Jiamusi, Shuangcheng, Mudanjiang, Jiagedadqi,
Huachuan, Tangyuan, Huanan, Suibin, Tongjiang,
Mudanjiang Jiangnan Development Zone,
Nongkenbaoquanling, Raohe County, Qitaihe Jinsha
New Zone, Mulan County, Tieli Chengguan, Fuyu,
Boli, Luobei, Xinging District of Yichun City, Jixi

Liaoning

Fushun, Jinzhou Economic Hi-Tech Development Zone,
Shenyang Sujiatun, Jinzhou Development Zone,
Liaoyang, Gaizhou, Zhuanghe, Liaoyang Economic Zone,
Jinzhou Longxiwan New Zone, Zhuanghe Industrial Park,
Qingyuan, Xinbin, Dashigiao Industrial Zone, Jianping,
Liaoyang Taizi River, Fushun County, Yixian Qilihe,
Liaoyang Pipeline, Pulandian

Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region

Khorgos Economic Development Zone, Ho City
Economic Development Zone

Xinjiang

West Siberia

Tashkent l

®

Qinghai

Tibet

Long Distance Pipeline Project |

Major National Natural Gas Pipelines

West-East Gas Pipeline No. 1
West-East Gas Pipeline No. 2
Shaanxi-Beijing Pipeline No. 2
Zhongwu Pipeline

Sichuan-East Gas Pipeline
China-Russia Natural Gas Pipeline
China-Myanmar Natural Gas Pipeline

(not drawn to scale)

Sichuan
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Dezhou, Qingdao, Leling city, Qufu, Sishui, New Zone

of Qufu, Weifang Binhai Economic Development
one, Liaocheng, Dezhou Tianqu Industrial Zone, Linyi
City, Linyi Economic Zone, Linshu County

Henan

Xinyang, Jiaozuo City, Qinyang City, Wuzhi County,
Xiuwu County, Luohe City 7 Projects, Xiping
County, Jiyuan City, Sanmenxia City, Shan County,
Sanmenxia Industrial Park, Lingbao City, Yanshi
City, Yongcheng City, Yongcheng Industrial Zone,
Xinmi City

Jiangsu

Pizhou, Yangzhong, Nanjing Jiang Bei, Pukou,
Xuzhou Jiawang, Xuzhou Xinyi, Yangzhou, Taixing
East District, Nanjing Jinggiao, Donghai County,
Subei Pipeline, Lianyungang Haizhou Economic

Development Zone, Pei County, Sihong, Si County,
Guannan

Anhui

Wuhu, Huainan, Shou County, Suzhou, Wuhu
County, Nanling, Huoshan, Fengtai, Wuwei,
Xiuning, Qimen, Maoji Development Zone, Huogiu,
Susong Linjiang Industrial Zone, Suzhou Si County,
Suzhou Yonggiao Economic Zone, Wuhe

Zhejiang

Hangzhou Xiaoshan, Taizhou, Jinhua, Hangzhou
Jiangdong Development Zone, Daishan Economic
Development Zone

Jiangxi
Nanchang Wanli District, Xinfeng, Le’an, Wuyuan,
Yihuang County

Fujian
30 city gas concessions, Shaowu City, Sanming
City, Wuping

Guangdong

Maoming, Conghua, Meizhou, Yunfu, Shanwei,
Xinxing, Fengshun, Pingyuan, Dapu, Wuhua,
Huazhou, Luhe

Shanxi

Shuozhou City, Jing-Shuo Pipeline

Jilin

Fusong, Baishan City, Changbaishan International
Resort of Fusong County

Guizhou
Kaili City

Yunnan
Haidong New Zone in Dali




CNG/LNG REFILLING STATIONS BUSINESS

CNG/LNG

Compared with oil-powered vehicles, natural gas-
powered vehicles can not only effectively reduce harmful-
substances in automobile exhaust gas, but also root out
harmful substances to humans such as lead, benzene
and hydrocarbon. Therefore, CNG/LNG vehicles are
known as green and environmental-friendly vehicles.
Developing natural gas vehicles is an effective way to
tackle automobile exhaust pollution in cities. In addition,
it plays a direct and effective role in improving the energy
structure of urban traffic, mitigating tight supply of
refined oil and reducing fuel cost, thereby achieving
remarkable environmental benefits and sound economic
and social effectiveness. According to the statistics from
industry organization, natural gas consumed by vehicles
in China only accounted for 9% of the country’s total
natural gas consumption in 2014, which was far below
the targeted 17% in the Twelfth Five-Year Natural Gas
Development Plan. In other words, the natural gas
industry has a huge prospect for future development.

2014 turned out to be a year of domestic macro-
economic downturn. The Group’s vehicle refilling station
business was confronted with the slumping international
oil prices and narrowing margins of natural gas for
vehicles. Facing these challenges, the Group proactively
adjusted its development strategies. Specifically, through
enhancing project management standards, strengthening
investment risk management and speeding up market

€ CHINACGAS 5 20

development, the Group achieved significant growth in
the number of new stations and CNG/LNG sales volume
under the sluggish economy. To date, the Group
constructed and operated 520 CNG/LNG refilling stations
in over 32 cities across the country, providing natural gas
refilling services for approximately 80,000 buses and
taxis. In addition, the Group made significant progress in
the development of natural gas business for vessels. It
completed the construction of Chongging Maliu LNG
refilling terminal on the Yangtze river , which is the first
LNG refilling terminal for vessels in China. In addition,
the Group attains breakthroughs in terms of project
acceptance, gas supply security, market exploration and
technical improvement on vessels conversion
engineering. All these attained remarkable demonstration
effects and laid a solid foundation for further exploring
the huge domestic vessel gas refilling market and
achieving the market strategy of occupying “Two
Horizontals and One Vertical, Two Networks and
Eighteen Channels” along the waterways in China.
FY2015 also marks the beginning of liquefied natural gas
trading business of the Group. During the vyear, the
Group set up a professional trading company and
created a liquefied natural gas trading system based on
the existing LNG procurement mechanism to satisfy the
gas demand from city gas project as well as CNG/LNG
refilling stations. Such initiatives give shape to a stable
internal and external sales networks and supply chain
logistic systems. In the coming years, we will continue to
fortify the Group’s LNG trading and procurement

Total
CNG/LNG Stations

/S —
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Gas Refilling Stations Development
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Development of natural gas and other clean energy has become an inevitable

choice for low-carbon economy of China.
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CNG/LNG REFILLING STATIONS BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

capability and gradually establish an unique 4G (namely
LNG, CNG, LPG and PNG) energy network with China
Gas characteristics in order to expedite our
transformation from a pure gas supplier to an integrated
energy solutions provider.

Distributed Energy System

Distributed energy system represents an energy
development approach with many advantages, including
energy-saving, emission reduction, safety and flexibility.
It is also a gateway to achieve the goal for energy-saving
and emission reduction, as well as a vital business
segment for transforming the Group into an integrated
energy services provider. Considering the unique
competitiveness of the piped gas business, the
development of distributed energy system is not only
beneficial to improving gas consumption structure,
reducing gas supply costs and creating diversified
product lines, but also conducive in further expanding
the value chain of enterprise and achieving the
optimization of energy allocation. At present, the
development of distributed energy system is at its initial
stage but has an enormous room for development in
China. The “National 12th Five-Year Plan” and “National
Guidance Opinions Regarding the Development of
Natural Gas Distributed Energy System” explicitly state
that, “In order to foster and promote the application of
the distributed energy systems, it is advisable to exert
greater efforts in underpinning the growth of distributed

energy system in terms of market and policies, so as to
boost the development of the distributed energy systems
in an orderly and healthy manner.” As the largest
domestic cross-regional integrated energy services
provider, the Group puts a high priority on the growth of
distributed energy system. In FY2015, Baoji gas refilling
station and the Hilton hotel Project, the Group’s first
distributed energy system project was put into operation,
which marks an unprecedented breakthrough of the
Group's distributed energy system business. In the
future, the Group will continue to expand the distributed
energy system market. At the same time, we will continue
to enhance technology standards, optimize the business
model and enhance the human capital reserves, thus
laying a strong foundation for achieving the Group’s goal
of total installed capacity of 4 million kilowatt by 2022.

Scientific fact: Distributed energy resources refer to the integrated energy
utilization systems which are distributed along end-users. They are new
energy supply models and refer to systems with independent power, heat
(cold) outputs at end-users’ systems or near the sites. The natural gas
distributed energy resources, which use natural gas as fuel, are modern
energy supply methods with energy supply sources installing near to the
load centres through realizing the graded energy utilization by the tri-
generation of cold, heat and power. The integrated energy utilization
efficiency rate of natural gas distributed energy system can reach over
70%, which is therefore an important and highly efficient way of using
natural gas. Compared with the conventional centralized energy supply
model, the distributed energy resources have the advantages of high
efficiency, cleanliness and environmental-friendliness, high safety, high
flexibility and higher economic benefits.

Business Model of Distributed Energy System

Industrial Customers

Residential & Commercial Customers
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Liquefied Petroleum Gas

Liquefied Petroleum Gas (“LPG”) is a by-product from catalytic cracking and thermal cracking of crude oil in refinery,
consisting of flammable hydrocarbons, as propane and butane, obtained as a by-product from the refining of
petroleum. It is mainly used as a domestic fuel and also as an industrial and motor fuel.
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LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS BUSINESS

Liquefied petroleum gas

Liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") is generally recognized
as a green and clean energy. Due to its high calorific
value, dust-free, cinder-free and user-friendliness, LPG
has been widely accepted by households in China. In the
21st century when energy diversification becomes an
increasingly apparent trend, LPG has become a desirable
complement to city piped gas by virtue of its
distinguished advantages on distribution and market
coverage, giving rise to huge demand for this clean
energy, especially in urban outskirts and among urban
industrial and commercial users.

In FY2015, the Group’s LPG business overcame adverse
impact from the free fall of crude oil prices and achieved
sound operational and financial performance. For LPG
procurement and wholesale business sectors, the Group
insisted on enhancing the adoption of contracted
procurement and adhered to the business strategy of
low inventory and high turnover, which largely reduced
risks brought by price fluctuation. For LPG distribution
business in the downstream sector, by riding on the
opportunities of industry consolidation, the Group
continued to develop new retail projects, accelerated the
outward expansion of LPG distribution business, and fully
achieved and exceeded the core operational target of the
Group. In the following years, the Group will continue to
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strengthen the collaboration between wholesale and
retail businesses in upstream and downstream sectors as
well as the interaction and integration with Group’s
natural gas business segment. Besides, the Group will
enhance the information and market-orientated branding
system, and further improve the operational standard
and profitability of LPG business through its strengths in
management and distribution networks.

For the procurement of LPG, the Group continues to
maintain its procurement strategies of dual gas supply
and multiple suppliers through purchasing LPG from
overseas and domestic sources. The Group continuously
expands the cooperation with domestic refineries and
overseas gas suppliers to form a strategic alliance so as
to ensure a stable, diversified and market competitive
gas supply. For the development of downstream
distribution business, the Group will continue to adopt
flexible new project development strategies, such as
contracting, leasing, joint operation,investment and
acquisition; it will also carry out market consolidation
under the brands of “China Gas” and “China Gas
Panva” and the national unified 95007 tele-marketing
system to promote and achieve enormous development
of the Group’s LPG business.

Trivia: Liquefied petroleum gas is a by-product from catalytic cracking and
thermal cracking of crude oil in refinery. Its major components are
propane and butane.
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LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

LPG Sales Volume (tonnes)

2,413,308

1,756,900

889,342

13 14 15

Terminal Storage
Activating quality assets

I Wholesale and Logistics
| Enhancing logistics efficiency

Downstream Retail

Business development strategy
focusing on retail business

Business chain integration strategy of our LPG business flow
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LPG OPERATIONAL LOCATIONS

LPG wholesale
LPG retail

LPG storage facility

CHINA GAS is the

LARGEST LPG
DISTRIBUTOR in china
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Value-Added Services

Taking a wide view of the successful experience of city gas operators in developed countries and regions, the
development of valued-added business is not only an effective way for a gas company to tap the potential of users’
values and strengthen branding and service competitiveness but also a key driver for the organic growth of a gas
company.



VALUE-ADDED SERVICES

At present, the Group has over 18 million customers in
over 25 provinces, municipalities and autonomous
regions across the country and the urban population
covered by its gas business is approximately 100 million.
The corporate brand " EIFAGE e CHINA GAS” also
enjoys high recognition in the society and among users.

In the future, the Group will focus on its core gas
business. Specifically, it will extend the value chain of its
principal business through integrating the brand,
channels and customer resources of China Gas with
other essential resources along the chain. In order to
further develop customer resources, it will, on one hand,
vigorously expand the scope of our value-added services,
which encompass commercial and residential gas
products and services; and on the other hand, promote
its value-added business under the service brand of
“Leading a Wise Life with China Gas” through various
channels, such as customer service centres, service
websites, e-commerce platforms, mobile applications,

meter readers and safety inspectors. On the product
front, the Group will establish a test center for gas
appliances products and launch a series of products,
including gas corrugated pipes and gas alarms under our
own brand as well as various types of gas application
products under “FR¥AE " brand. The Group will spare no
effort to promote the sales of gas-fired boilers and
energy-saving equipment as well as the provision of coal-
to-gas conversion of boilers and energy conservation
modification in boilers while further extending the
coverage of the residential gas insurance business.
Furthermore, the Group will also create an e-commerce
portal, which mainly targets households and
communities, with the aim of providing a more
convenient internet marketing platform for the sales of
gas and value-added products, value-added services and
financial services. Our objective is to build an “Internet +"
for the gas industry. The Group will truly transform from
a simple gas user developer and gas distributer to a
consolidated operations service provider with gas
distributer business as its basis.



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of China
Gas Holdings Limited (“China Gas” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries,

the “Group”), | am pleased to present to the
shareholders the 2015 annual report.

|

RESULTS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2015, the Group
recorded noticeable growth in its performance results.
Turnover HK$31,686,028,000, gross profit
HK$6,457,336,000 and profit attributable to
shareholders HK$3,371,053,000 maintained stable
growth, representing an increase of 30.9% over the
same period last year. Basic earnings per share were
HK67.30 cents, an increase of 25.6% over the same
period last year.

DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors recommended to pay a final
dividend of HK13.95 cents per share on 30 September
2015 to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 27 August 2015
(the record date for determining the entitlement of the
shareholders to receive the proposed final dividend).
Together with the interim dividend of HK2.2 cents per
share paid to the shareholders on 30 January 2015, total
dividend payout for the year 2015 amounted to HK16.15
cents per share (total dividend payout for the year 2014:
HK12.06 cents per share).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

To be eligible to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from 17 August 2015 (Monday) to 19 August 2015
(Wednesday) (both days inclusive), during which period
no transfer of shares in the Company will be registered,
for the purpose of determining the identity of the
shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the 2015
Annual General Meeting. In order to qualify for attending
and voting at the 2015 Annual General Meeting to be
held on 19 August 2015 (Wednesday), all transfers of
shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates
and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712-16, 17 Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 14 August 2015 (Friday).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from 25 August 2015 (Tuesday) to 27 August 2015
(Thursday) (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares in the Company will be registered, for
the purpose of determining the entitlement of the
shareholders to receive the proposed final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2015. Subject to approval of
the shareholders at the 2015 Annual General Meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 27 August 2015 (Thursday).
In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfers of shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712-16, 17 Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 24 August 2015 (Monday).

PROSPECTS

Since 2014, the global economy has been in a period of
deep adjustment after the global financial crisis. The
domestic economy entered a “new normal” era,
epitomized by the slumping real estate market and
slackening economic growth in general. With the
profound changes of global energy pattern and the
accelerated adjustment of energy structure, the
development of clean energy industry tends to be
diversified, clean and low-carbon, posing unprecedented
opportunities and challenges to China’s clean energy
industry. In 2014, NDRC further increased the “non-
residential” existing gas price, realizing the second step
of the "“three steps” in synchronizing the prices of
incremental gas volume and existing gas volume. During
the period, crude oil price fell sharply by 50%, which
affected the economic edges of natural gas and
dampened downstream gas consumption. On 28
February 2015, NDRC announced the synchronization of
the prices of incremental gas volume and existing gas
volume with effect from 1st April 2015, which realized
the “third step” of the price reform policy, and laid
down the foundation for the full marketization of
China’s natural gas prices in the future.

During the past year, the Group has scored remarkable
achievements, which include outlining a clearer plan for
its medium- to long-term development, deepening the
reform of management model, maintaining rapid growth
in piped natural gas supply business, and achieving
outstanding results in the construction of gas stations, In
addition, we also made significant breakthroughs in LPG
business, carried out the activities for the Year of Safety
and Culture with outstanding success, and innovated our
business operation and structure constantly. With such
strenuous efforts, the corporate image, industry position
and social influence of China Gas continue to rise and
rank top in the industry. Furthermore, a sizable platform
and abundant resources have been developed to support
sustainable development and create unique
competitiveness in project investments, organization
structure, talent team, professional techniques and fund
management. Looking forward, for city pipeline gas
business, the Group will continue to optimize the
management and operational standard, redouble its
efforts in developing terminal projects and further
consolidate its leading position in the industry. For LPG
business, while vertically integrating its value chain, the
Group will continue to enhance the synergy between the
market and resources of city pipeline gas business and
strive to enhance the operation level and profitability of
the Group's distribution business. Furthermore, for value-
added business, the Group will make bold steps to
explore and innovate. Leveraging on its extensive
customer resources, remarkable brand strength and
outstanding information technology, the Group will
further develop the value-added business and enhance
service awareness and standard that truly caters to the
customers, thereby creating unique core competitiveness
for the Group. Notwithstanding the competitions and
challenges, as well as the changes in the market, the
Group is confident that it will manage to operate the
three segments of natural gas, LPG and value-added
services successfully in the coming year. With internal
management and talent pool as the foundation and
technological improvements as the leading force, the
Group will continue to enhance its ability to create the
integrated value of economy, society and environment.
At the same time, the Group will optimize its operating
efficiency through reform and expand its business scope
through innovation. As President Xi said in the Asia-
Pacific Economic Cooperation Conference, “Under a new
stage of global growth, only reformers will improve, only
reformers will grow and only reformers will win.”



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

As the largest domestic and cross-regional gas company
in China, our inherent mission is to provide clean energy
and perform social responsibility. Leveraging on the
national preferential policies in speeding up reform and
innovation and development of the clean energy, the
Group will continue to push forward the social
responsibility management, create value for its
shareholders, customers, staff and partners through
various ways and means, and enhance its core corporate
competitiveness and sustainable development capability.
We will make every endeavor to develop the Group into
a global leading city integrated-energy services provider
with green and sustainable development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Introduction to the Group

The Group is a gas operator and service
provider primarily engaged in the

Investment, construction and operation of

city gas pipeline infrastructure facilities,

gas terminals, storage and transportation

facilities, and gas logistics systems,

transmission of natural gas and liquefied

petroleum gas (“LPG”) to residential,
industrial and commercial customers,

construction and operation of compressed

natural gas/liquefied natural gas (“CNG/
LNG") refilling stations as well as
development and application of
technologies relating to natural gas and
LPG in China.

Business Review

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the revenue of the
Group amounted to HK$31,686,028,000 (for the year
ended 31 March 2014: HK$26,007,997,000), increased
by 21.8% over the same period last year. Gross profit
amounted to HK$6,457,336,000 (for the year ended 31
March 2014: HK$5,286,135,000), increased by 22.2%
over the same period last year. Overall gross profit
margin was 20.4% (for the year ended 31 March 2014:
20.3%). Profit for the year amounted to
HK$3,869,686,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2014:
HK$2,979,295,000), increased by 29.9% over the same
period last year. Basic earnings per share amounted to
HK67.30 cents (for the year ended 31 March 2014:
HK53.58 cents), increased by 25.6% over the same
period last year.
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New Projects Expansion

During the financial year, the Group secured 36
additional city piped gas projects. As of 31 March 2015,
the Group has secured a total of 273 piped gas projects
with exclusive concession rights, 13 long-distance natural
gas pipeline projects, 520 CNG/LNG refilling stations for
vehicles, 1 coal bed methane development projects and
98 LPG distribution projects in 25 provinces,
municipalities and autonomous regions in China.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The new projects secured by the Group since 1 April 2014 are located as follows:

Provinces/Autonomous Regions/

Municipalities

Heilongjiang Province

Cities/Districts

Fuyu County, Xinging District of Yichun City, Boli County,
Luobei County, Jixi City

Hebei Province

Dingxing County, Dingzhou City, Laishui County, Yutian County,
Changli County, Weixian County, Xiahuayuan District,

Cheng'an County, Wugiao County, Ningjin County, Linzhang County,
Zaogiang County, Longyao County, Xingtang County,

Gucheng County, Nangong City, Jize County, Xinhe County

Jilin Province

Baishan City, Changbaishan International Resort of Fusong County

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region

Hechi City, Guangxi Provincial Natural Gas Pipeline Network

Jiangsu Province

Lianyungang Haizhou Economic Development Zone, Pei County,
Sihong County, Si County, Guannan County

Fujian Province

Wuping County

Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region

Huocheng Economic Development Zone,
Khorgos Economic Development Zone

Anhui Province

Wuhe County

Hunan Province

New Zone of Yiyang City

As at 31 March 2015, the total connectable urban population covered by the Group’s gas projects has increased to
91,843,911 (approximately 28,439,569 households).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Gas Business Review

The principal business segments of the Group are selling
natural gas and LPG, the customer bases and the
adopted market strategies of which are different from
each other. The performance of each segment for the
year ended 31 March 2015 is discussed below.

Natural Gas Business

As an operator and service provider mainly focusing on
natural gas supply, the Group has, through its efforts in
the past 13 years, established a unique operating and
management system that suits it best in the natural gas
industry in China. With regular optimisation, such system
has proven to contribute positively towards the
management efficiency and operating results of the
Group.

Construction of Piped Gas Networks

City gas pipeline networks are the foundation of the
operation of gas supply corporations. By constructing city
gas trunk and branch pipeline networks, the Group
connects natural gas pipelines with its residential as well
as industrial and commercial customers, from whom
connection fees and gas usage fees are charged.

As at 31 March 2015, of all city piped gas projects
owned by the Group, 190 projects were in the operation
phase by supplying piped natural gas. The Group
completed the construction of gas transmission pipeline
networks of 60,419 kilometers and 269 storage and
distribution stations (city gates). Those storage and
distribution stations are designed to supply 79,290,000
cubic meters of gas per day.

Natural Gas Users

Natural gas customers of the Group are mainly classified
into residential customers, industrial and commercial
customers, and CNG/LNG refilling stations for vehicles.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Residential Customers

With the commercial and residential property markets in
China being in weak condition in 2014, residential
connection business for natural gas companies faced
challenges. However, the social housing, under the
strong support of the government, has developed
rapidly, and thus the overall number of connections for
newly constructed residences has increased compared to
last year. To proactively address the weakening newly
constructed residence market, the Group has developed
marketing and incentive strategies for the connection of
existing residential users in recent years, and achieved
significant results by optimising the strategies. During the
financial year, the number of newly connected existing
residential customers accounted for 30% of the total
number of newly connected residential customers for the
year.
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During the financial year, the Group completed natural
gas connections for 1,920,790 new residential
households, representing an increase of approximately
15.6% over the same period last year (for the year ended
31 March 2014: 1,662,167 households). The average
piped gas connection fee for residential customers during
the financial year remains stable at RMB2,568/household
(for the year ended 31 March 2014: RMB2,562/
household).

As at 31 March 2015, the Group completed gas
connections for 12,590,944 households, representing an
increase of approximately 22.2% over the same period
last year (for the year ended 31 March 2014: 10,306,995
households), accounting for 44.3% of the total number
of connectable residential customers of the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2015
CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

33




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Industrial and Commercial Customers

The Chinese Government has been encouraging high
energy consumption industries to gradually replace
highly-polluting coal and oil with clean energy, such as
natural gas, to strengthen energy conservation and
emission reduction. In September 2013, the State
Council of China promulgated the Action Plan on
Prevention and Control of Air Pollution ( {XR 52548
1TE15HE1) ), according to which China will make efforts
to rectify small coal-fired boilers and accelerate the
construction of gas-fired central heating systems and
“coal-to-gas” conversion projects across the country. By
2017, cities at and above prefecture level will have to
eliminate coal-fired boilers with efficiency of and lower
than 10 tons of steam per hour, and stop building coal-
fired boilers with efficiency lower than 20 tons of steam
per hour. The State Council of China also released
Circular on Several Opinions on Long-term Mechanisms
for Securing Stable Natural Gas Supplies ({{RFE X A R 13
FEHERBES S TERBA)) in April 2014 to
secure the availability of 112 billion cubic meters of
natural gas by 2020 to meet the demand from “coal-to-
gas” conversion projects. In the coming three to five
years, the “coal-to-gas” market will develop quickly, and
capturing this opportunity will substantially facilitate and
enhance the Group’s natural gas sales to industrial users
and for the winter heating consumption.

Industrial and commercial customers have higher
demand for natural gas and lower operating cost for unit
gas sales as compared with residential customers. As
such, in addition to fulfilling the gas demand from
residential customers, the Group stepped up gas
connections for industrial and commercial customers. As
the implementation of the Group’s “hub-satellite cities”
development strategy continues, the Group expects to
secure more piped natural gas projects in industrialised
cities, economic development zones and industrial parks.
These new projects will become one of the Group's
major drivers for natural gas sales growth in the future.

During the financial year, the Group added 954 industrial
customers and 12,328 commercial customers. As at 31

March 2015, the Group had 3,668 industrial customers
and 71,807 commercial customers, representing
increases of approximately 35.2% and 20.7%
respectively as compared with the same period last year.
The average connection fees for industrial customers and
commercial customers during the financial year were
RMB270,000 per household and RMB55,000 per
household respectively.

During the financial year, the Group’s income from gas
connection activities grew by approximately 17.2% over
the same period last year to HK$4,287,285,000,
accounting for approximately 13.5% of the Group's total
revenue for the year.

Compressed Natural Gas Refilling Station/
Liquefied Natural Gas Refilling Stations

On 14 October 2012, the National Development and
Reform Commission of China (the “NDRC") issued the
Natural Gas Utilisation Policy, in which the NDRC
emphasised for the first time the prioritised development
of “oil-to-gas” utilisation projects in the transportation
sectors of vehicles and vessels. Such “oil-to-gas” policy
stimulated the development of gas refilling stations for
vehicles and vessels. The Group made the development
of CNG/LNG refilling stations as one of the important
drivers for its sustainable growth to push forward the
development and construction of CNG/LNG refilling
stations for vehicles and vessels in all aspects. It aims to
build 1,000 natural gas refilling stations by 2017 with a
market development strategy giving priority to the
development of CNG stations. Regarding the gas refilling
business for vessels, the Group owns the patents and
intellectual property rights in LNG vessel engine
modifications and advanced “oil-to-gas” conversion
technology for vessels as well as the experience in
development. With regards to the incentive policies
promulgated by the NDRC and the Ministry of Transport
in relation to the application of natural gas for vessels,
the Group prepared a three-year strategic plan for the
development of its vessel gas refilling projects, which set
“innovative planning, serious analysis, prudent
development” as the implementation approaches to
boost LNG refilling business for vessels.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The Group experienced the fastest growth in terms of
the number of refilling stations in the financial year,
during which 65 new CNG refilling stations and 102 LNG
refilling stations for vehicles were built. As at 31 March
2015, the Group owned a total of 360 CNG refilling
stations and 160 LNG refilling stations for vehicles. The
total number of gas refilling stations increased by 47.3%
to 520 as compared with the same period last year. Sales
volume of CNG/LNG for vehicles made up 11.9% of the
Group’s total natural gas sales volume during the
financial year.

Sale of Natural Gas

During the financial year, the Group sold a total of
8,974,630,000 cubic meters of natural gas, representing
an increase of 11.6% over the same period last year, of
which 6,753,276,000 cubic meters were sold through
city piped gas network, representing an increase of
19.2% over the same period last year, and 2,221,354,000
cubic meters were sold directly through long-distance
natural gas pipelines, representing a decrease of 6.7%
over the same period last year. During the period, the
drop of gas volume sold through long-distance natural
gas pipelines was mainly due to following two factors:
the industrial customer of Changmeng Pipeline took
advantage of the weak production season in summer to
execute its production equipment maintenance, the
temporary pause of its production consumed 310 million
cubic meters less natural gas. Besides, in response to the
requirement of the environment protection department,
production of the industrial users of Wushen Pipeline has
been suspended since October 2014 for the installation
of environmental protection equipment. Due to the
suspension of production, 350 million cubic meters of
natural gas that should have been sold by the Group
through long-distance pipelines was affected during the

reporting period. Following the removal of the above-
mentioned one-off effect factors, the Group believes that
the volume of gas sold through long distance pipeline
projects in operation will grow significantly from the next
financial year. Meanwhile, the newly added large-scale
pipelines of the Group were still under construction or at
the initial stage of operation, such as Liaoyang Pipeline
with an expected annual designed capacity of 1 billion
cubic meters and the Guangxi Provincial Natural Gas
Pipeline with an annual designed capacity of 10 billion
cubic meters, etc. These new long distance pipelines will
contribute significant volume increase to the Group once
construction is completed and the utilisation rate is
gradually enhanced year over year.

During the financial year, the Group sold 1,339,827,000
cubic meters of gas to residential customers,
5,318,183,000 cubic meters to industrial customers,
1,244,609,000 cubic meters to commercial customers
and 1,072,011,000 cubic meters to CNG/LNG vehicle
users, accounting for approximately 14.9%, 59.3%,
13.9% and 11.9% of the Group's total natural gas sales
volume respectively. With a large proportion of industrial
and commercial customers in the customer mix, the
Group enjoys enormous potential in its future gas sales.
In addition, the less stringent control on gas tariffs for
industrial and commercial customers enables the Group
to pass through the fluctuation in upstream natural gas
prices more easily.

During the financial year, the Group’s income from
natural gas sales grew by approximately 14.6% over the
same period last year to HK$11,649,169,000,
representing approximately 36.8% of the Group's total
revenue for the year.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The core business of the Group is piped natural gas
supply. However, for some projects in areas such as
Fushun where piped natural gas is not yet accessible,
piped coal gas or LPG blended with air is sold as a
transitional fuel. A total of 139,726,000 cubic meters
piped coal gas and LPG blended with air were sold
during the financial year. With the availability of
upstream natural gas to such cities, the sale of
transitional fuels by the Group is likely to scale down
gradually.

Selling Price of Natural Gas

During the period, the average selling price (pre-tax) of
the Group'’s natural gas was RMB2.36 per cubic meter
for residential customers, RMB2.82 per cubic meter for
industrial customers, RMB2.98 per cubic meter for
commercial customers, and RMB3.33 per cubic meter for
CNG/LNG vehicle users.

In order to regulate natural gas prices, guarantee natural
gas supply, promote energy saving and emission
reduction, and increase utilisation efficiency of resources,
the NDRC issued the Notice of the NDRC on Adjusting
the Natural Gas Prices (BIZK N ZE AN FHBRARER
#93@A0, the “Notice”) on 28 June 2013. According to
the Notice, natural gas price will be adjusted stage by
stage and great efforts will be made to achieve full
adjustment by the end of 2015 for the purpose of
allowing natural gas price to be completely determined
by market mechanism. The Notice required the
adjustment of natural gas price for non-residential
customers, and categorised natural gas volume into
existing gas and incremental gas. From 10 July 2013,
incremental gas price will be adjusted in one step to
reach reasonable price level comparing with such
alternative energies as fuel oil and liquefied petroleum
gas (with the weight of 60% and 40% respectively).
Under the phased adjustment, existing gas price will be
increased twice each by no more than RMBO.4 per cubic
meter on 10 July 2013 and 1 September 2014. Upon
these two upward price adjustments, the Group
managed to pass through the price changes on a timely
basis and secured a reasonable price difference for its
natural gas sale.

Along with the vertiginous drop in international oil price
in the second half of 2014, the prices of alternative
energy sources such as fuel oil and LPG also followed the
downward trend. Pressure weighed on the promotion of
natural gas utilisation without reasonable price difference
between natural gas and alternative energy sources. In
view of such sudden slump in oil price, the NRDC
announced on 28 February 2015 that existing gas price
at city-gate for non-residential customers would become
in line with the incremental gas price with effect from 1
April 2015, making downward adjustment on
incremental gas price by RMBO0.44 per cubic meter and
upward adjustment on existing gas price by RMB0.04 per
cubic meter, completing the third step for price reform
policy on natural gas. As such, the average natural gas
purchase cost for the Group’s gas projects would decline.
We would communicate with the governmental pricing
management departments at various levels as well as
industrial and commercial customers in the place where
our projects are located, and initiate the price pass-
through mechanism. Under the principle of guaranteeing
a stable price difference, we would lower our natural gas
selling price to stimulate gas demand effectively.

According to the Guiding Opinions on the Establishment
of Proper Natural Gas Tier-pricing System for Residential
Users (KBARNEZZEERAEBREBEBRSIENE
BEZH)) as issued by the NDRC in March 2014,
residential gas will be categorised into three tiers and a
progressive pricing rate is applied to each tier. Residential
gas tier-pricing system shall be established in all cities by
the end of 2015. The implementation of such policy
fosters the gradual rationalisation of the natural gas price
difference imposed by city gas enterprises on their sales
to residential customers. The Group will apply the
residential gas tier-pricing system to all cities with piped
natural gas supply as soon as possible in advocate of
government’s plan actively.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The Group currently owns 8 LPG terminals and 98 LPG
distribution projects.

During the financial year, the Group sold 2,413,308 tons
of LPG, representing an increase of 37.4% over the same
period last year, of which 1,559,678 tons were wholesale
volume, representing an increase of 60.7% over the
same period last year, and 853,630 tons were retail sales
volume, representing an increase of 8.5% over the same
period last year. Revenue for the period amounted to
HK$14,067,030,000, representing an increase of 24.8%
over the same period last year. Gross profit amounted to
HK$1,087,281,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2014:
HK$758,478,000), representing an increase of 43.4%
over the same period last year. Operating profit
amounted to HK$320,898,000 (for the year ended 31
March 2014: profit of HK$167,124,000), representing an
increase of 92.0% over the same period last year. Net
profit amounted to HK$171,048,000 (for the year ended
31 March 2014: loss of HK$5,681,000). The Group
accomplished its target of recording a turnaround in LPG
business during the financial year.

Contractual sales accounted for more than 60% of the
total wholesale LPG volume for the year, enabling the
Group to effectively avoid the negative impacts caused
by the significant decrease in the global LPG price in line
with the decline in oil price and to mitigate the
operational risks associated with the LPG wholesale
business.

With LPG becoming more popular in townships and
villages and its long-term and stable utilisation amongst
industrial and commercial markets, China’s LPG industry
meets a rare development opportunity, especially in the
rapid growth of the petrochemical synthesis and
processing sector where LPG is being used as a raw
material. The Group will fully utilise its LPG terminals,
storage facilities and fleets of vehicles and vessels to
boost overseas and domestic purchases of LPG, and in
turn gradually increase utilisation rate of midstream LPG
wholesale business. In addition, the Group will capitalise
the advantage of its integrated business chain by putting
in place a central procurement system for its downstream

retail business, so as to lay out a proper deployment over
its LPG procurement, storage resources and market
coverage and reach an effective synergy between the
wholesale segment and retail segment, which will
maximise the profit of the whole value chain. The Group
will leverage its extensive urban natural gas network and
resources to expand the LPG distribution business from
the existing 10 provinces in Southern China to provinces,
cities, villages and towns across the country, thereby
significantly raising the volume of LPG sold and realizing
economies of scale.

Value-Added Services for End Users

With the continuous increase in the connection rate of
city gas projects, our customer base has been rapidly
expanding. Currently, the Group provides more than 18
million residential, industrial and commercial customers
with piped natural gas and LPG services. There is an
enormous potential for value-added services in the
customer network. Accordingly, the Group will strive to
increase the percentage of its income from value-added
services in the Group’s overall revenue by enriching its
value-added services and edging up its efforts on
marketing. In this way, the Group is transforming itself
from a mere gas distributor to a provider of
comprehensive energies and customer services so as to
further improve the profitability and overall
competitiveness of the Group’s businesses.

During the financial year, the Group’s project companies
were actively pursuing revenue generation through
value-added advertising and sale of gas appliances. They
also cooperated with domestic reputable insurance
companies to keep developing city gas insurance market.
Furthermore, the Group will make use of its advantages
in piped gas market to develop distributed energy
projects step by step. With its existing market research
and technology innovation, the Group will start
comprehensive utilisation of natural gas with the aims of
providing large scale customers with highly efficient
energy and satisfying their needs for heating, electricity
and cooling.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

During the period, gross profit from value-added
business amounted to HK$165,285,000, representing a
growth of 474.6% over the same period last year. Sales
of gas insurance, alarm system, corrugated pipe and gas
appliances recorded a surge.

Human Resources

A team of excellent employees is vital to the success of a
corporation. Adhering to the management concept of
“people come first”, the Group clings to the philosophy
of “cultivating potential talents within the Group while
recruiting talents from outside” with regard to personnel
training and team construction.

The Group constantly upgrades the professionalism and
competence of its staff at all levels. It also seeks to create
a platform for exchanging knowledge and sharing
experience among its staff and to recruit and retain
capable personnel by enhancing job satisfaction and
providing attractive remuneration packages.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had approximately
38,500 employees in total. More than 99.9% of the
Group’s employees are based in China. Employee
remuneration is determined with reference to the
qualification and experience of individual staff concerned
and the industry practice prevailed in relative operational
areas. Apart from basic salary and pension fund
contribution, selected employees may be rewarded with
discretionary bonuses, merit payments and share options
depending on the Group's financial results and the
performance of such employees.
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On 16 April 2014, the Group granted a total of
250,000,000 share options (the “Options”) to directors,
employees and other eligible persons under the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on 20 August
2013. The exercise price of the Options granted is
HK$12.40 per share and the validity period of the
Options is five years (from 16 April 2014 to 15 April
2019). Conditions for exercising the Options are as
follows:

(1) The audited profit after tax of the Group after
deduction of minority interests for the financial
year ended 31 March 2017 or before shall not be
less than HK$5.5 billion;

(2) If the above condition is not fulfilled, the Options
may be exercised if the audited profit after tax of
the Group after deduction of minority interests for
the financial year ended 31 March 2018 is not less
than HK$6 billion;

(3)  The Options will lapse if the above two conditions
are not satisfied.

Corporate Management and
Corporate Governance

It has been a long-standing tradition of the Group to
adhere to a “systemised, standardised and
institutionalised” management philosophy in enhancing
its level of management and operation. Along with its
growing scale, expanding operational region and
improving staff structure, as well as a maturing gas
industry, the Group keeps improving its management
policies to remain a well-managed corporate enterprise.
During the financial year, the Group continued to
implement the management and control model of “shifting
the operational focus to a lower level and moving the
management platform to the frontend” to promote



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

region-based coordination and management. Regional
coordination and management centres were established
to take over the responsibilities of the respective
functional departments of the headquarters to supervise,
instruct and serve the project companies in each specific
region, and negotiate on behalf of the project companies
with the local authorities regarding gas supply and gas
price. The functional departments of the headquarters
may then focus on the overall management of
budgeting, standardisation, performance targets
assessment and future development strategies, thereby
forming an integrated management system featuring “the
headquarters as the decision-making body, regional
centers as the management platform and project
companies as the implementation entities”. The
implementation of this regional management system is
an important reform of the Group’s management model,
which is essential for the Group to achieve more
standardised, more efficient and safer development, and
effectively improve the efficiency of the Group in making
decisions.

In terms of operation management, the Group actively
refines its operating system, continues to invest in its
information technology system, and actively encourages
innovation. In addition to continuously improving the
standards of operation management, the Group is also
gradually shifting its focus from standardising the
management of the operation system to the application
of information technology in its management system,
thereby strengthening the overall operational standards
of the Group on an ongoing basis. The Group remains
one of the leaders in the industry in terms of gas loss
management, which is an important indicator gauging a
gas company’s overall management standard. This
achievement has significantly reduced our operating
costs and enhanced the safety standard of our
operations, with no major accident happened during the
financial year.

In terms of construction management, the Group has
established a standardised system which emphasises the
categorisation and classification management of
construction and construction tenders to make full use of
the functions of on-site coordination, supervision and
service of the regional management centre. While
speeding up its construction progress, the Group
continuously strengthens its management of construction
investment in compliance with the principle of “setting
strict standards on efficiency to improve investment
returns” to achieve rational control over the size of the
investment in construction projects which are not
essential to production, thereby efficiently utilising its
core assets and maximising the returns.

At the same time as it grows, the Group is also
committed to improving its corporate governance and
internal control on an ongoing basis. Through internal
review and adoption of professional opinions provided
by independent third parties, the Group undertakes to
incorporate effective and sustainable corporate
governance and internal control measures into its
corporate development strategies and risk management
system, with an aim to ensuring higher standard of
corporate governance and internal control.

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the revenue of the
Group amounted to HK$31,686,028,000 (for the year
ended 31 March 2014: HK$26,007,997,000),
representing an increase of 21.8% over the same period
last year. Gross profit amounted to HK$6,457,336,000 (for
the year ended 31 March 2014: HK$5,286,135,000),
representing an increase of 22.2% over the same period
last year. Overall gross profit margin was 20.4% (for the
year ended 31 March 2014: 20.3%). Profit for the year
amounted to HK$3,869,686,000 (for the year ended 31
March 2014: HK$2,979,295,000), representing an
increase of 29.9% over the same period last year.
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Operating expenses (including selling and distribution
costs and administrative expenses) increased by 24.8%
to approximately HK$2,585,533,000 from approximately
HK$2,071,470,000 recorded in the same period last
year. The increase was mainly due to business growth,
especially in LPG business and value-added services, of
the Group during the period.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, finance costs
decreased 9.9% to approximately HK$554,159,000 from
approximately HK$614,967,000 recorded in the same
period last year. The decrease was mainly due to the
continuous adoption of effective management measures
on interest margin and liquidity by the Group during the
period.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, income tax expenses
amounted to approximately HK$940,050,000 (for the
year ended 31 March 2014: HK$741,301,000). The
significant increase in taxation expenses was mainly due
to a corresponding significant increase in assessable
profit as a result of business growth.

The principal business of the Group is featured with a
steadily growing cash flow. Coupled with an effective
and well-established capital management system, the
Group is able to maintain stable and healthy operations
amidst uncertainties in the macro-economy development
and capital market operation.

As at 31 March 2015, the total assets of the Group were
HK$50,624,436,000, representing an increase of
approximately 11.8% as compared with 31 March 2014.
Cash on hand was HK$5,291,981,000 (31 March 2014:
HK$6,704,647,000). The Group had a current ratio of
approximately 1.11 (31 March 2014: 1.13). After
deducting the import letter of credit and trust receipt

loan related to the Group’s LPG business amounting to
HK$1,337,240,000, the Group’'s current ratio was
approximately 1.26. Net gearing ratio was 0.66 (31
March 2014: 0.57), which was calculated on the basis of
the net borrowings of HK$14,106,341,000 (total
borrowings of HK$20,735,562,000 less the acceptance
bills and trust receipts related to the Group’s LPG
business amounting to HK$1,337,240,000 and bank
balance and cash of HK$5,291,981,000) and net assets
of HK$21,435,500,000 as at 31 March 2015.

The Group has always adopted a prudent financial
management policy. Most of the available cash is
deposited with credible banks as demand and time
deposits.

The Group has long-standing relationships with Chinese
(including Hong Kong) and overseas banks. As the
Group's principal cooperating bank, China Development
Bank (CDB) provided the Group with a long-term credit
facility of RMB20 billion under a term of up to 15 years
and a loan facility of US$420 million, giving a strong
financial support to the Group's project investments and
stable operations. In addition, the Group also received
long-term credit support from major domestic and
overseas banks such as Asian Development Bank (ADB),
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, China
Construction Bank, Export Development Canada, The
Netherlands Development Finance Company, Bank of
Taiwan, Australia and New Zealand Banking Group
Limited, Commonwealth Bank of Australia, Malayan
Banking Berhad, Bank of Communications and
Agricultural Bank of China. As at March 2015, over 30
banks had extended syndicated loans and credit facilities
to the Group and most syndicated loans have terms
longer than five years with an average maturity of seven
years. Bank loans are generally used to fund the working
capital requirements and project investments of the
Group.
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As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s portfolio of bank loans and other loans is as follows:

Less than one year

After one year but not more than two years
After two years but not more than five years
After five years

2015 2014
HK$'000 HK$'000
3,918,554 5,760,676
5,242,474 1,740,506
9,509,517 10,957,972
2,065,017 1,493,708

I!EE! 19,952,862

* Of these, the acceptance bills and trust receipts related to the Group's LPG business amounted to HK$1,337,240,000. (2014: HK$2,977,594,000).

As at 31 March 2015, bank loans and other loans of the
Group amounted to HK$20,735,562,000 in aggregate,
representing an increase of 3.9% as compared with last
year, of which HK$1,337,240,000 were the trade
facilities relating to short-term import letters of credit of
the Group’s LPG business.

The operating and capital expenditures of the Group are
financed by operating cash income, indebtedness and
financing of share capital. The Group has sufficient
funding to satisfy its future capital expenditures and
working capital requirements.

Foreign Exchange and Interest Rate

No significant foreign exchange risk is expected as the
Group's cash, borrowings, income and expenses are
settled in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and US dollars.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 March 2015, the Group pledged certain
properties, plants and equipment and prepaid lease
payments with net carrying values of HK$321,475,000 (31
March 2014: HK$262,215,000) and HK$23,508,000 (31
March 2014: HK$16,328,000) respectively, investment

properties with net carrying value of HK$60,600,000 (31
March 2014: HK$58,800,000), inventories with net
carrying value of HK$ Nil (31 March 2014:
HK$155,696,000) and pledged bank deposits of
HK$63,484,000 (31 March 2014: HK$250,748,000) and
certain subsidiaries pledged their equity investments in
other subsidiaries to banks to secure loan facilities.

Capital Commitments

The Group had capital commitments in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and
construction materials contracted but not provided for in
the financial statements as at 31 March 2015 amounting
to HK$172,378,000 (31 March 2014: HK$87,804,000)
and HK$148,358,000 (31 March 2014: HK$170,810,000)
respectively, and such commitments would require the
utilisation of the Group’s cash on hand and external
borrowings. The Group has undertaken to acquire shares
in certain Chinese enterprises and set up Sino-foreign
joint ventures in China.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2015, the Group did not have any
material contingent liabilities (31 March 2014: nil).
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In 2015 financial year, China’s natural gas industry
landed into a strategic juncture which promises ample
opportunities; it is also high time for China Gas to “shift
to a higher gear” and achieve “forward-leaping”
development as well as a critical moment for the Group
to fulfill its commitments to its staff, shareholders,
creditors and consumers. With unwavering commitment
to our corporate mission of “Benefiting the Society
through Establishing a Harmonious Ambience” and the
core value of “Social Respect, Customer Trust, Members’
Well-Being, and Win-Win with Shareholders”, the Group
has made active and solid responses to the government’s
call for "Energy Conservation, Emission Reduction and
Environmental Governance Policies and Thorough
Implementation of the Action Plan of Air Pollution
Prevention”. Through continuously enhancing the
execution capability of our staff members and firmly
seizing the initiative of development, the Group is
dedicated to provide customers with clean and
convenient energy and services, and improve urban
ecological environment, thereby continuously creating
long-term and stable value for shareholders, staff
members, customers and the society.

I. Responsibilities for Employees

To date, China Gas has nearly 38,000 employees in 25
provinces, cities and autonomous regions across the
country. During the course of rapid development, the
Group has nurtured an enthusiastic, dedicated, united,
motivated and professional group of employees. They
are the elites in the industry and also the most valuable
assets of China Gas.

Meanwhile, the Group adheres to its “people-oriented”
operating ideology, which is reflected in our efforts to
attract, cultivate and retain talents of various types and
enhance employees’ sense of belonging by promoting
corporate culture and improving our systems. In order to
build a harmonious labor relationship and prevent labor
disputes, the Group strictly complies with applicable law
and regulations, persists in recruiting staff in a fair
manner, pays wages on time and contributes to social
insurance funds. During this financial year, the Group
carried out comprehensive appraisals and evaluation on

over 500 management members. Besides, we launched
an Anti-Corruption Campaign under the banner of
“promoting the spirit of probity and diligence, rooting
out corruption and malpractice, preserving the purity of
soul and mind, and building a wonderful China Gas”. On
the basis of “nurturing potential talents within the Group
and extensively recruiting talents from outside”, the
Group also pushed ahead the policy of employing
management staff from local communities to recruit and
train special talents. The introduction of the two
measures, namely, “Management Measures on
Promoting Management Staff of China Gas Group” and
“Management Measures on Deploying Management
Staff of China Gas Group”, has injected strong impetus
to our efforts in strictly regulating the supervision of
management staff and deploying management staff
systematically. With respect to remuneration system, we
established our short- , mid- and long-term incentive
systems through measures such as remuneration reform,
three-year options incentive plan and corporate
annuities; our aim is to align individual pursuits of
employees with corporate development objectives and,
in turn, achieve common development of employees and
enterprise.

With the goal of building a learning-oriented and
innovative enterprise, the Group also introduced a series
of effective measures with full involvement of our
employees, including Management Institute, general
manager training camp, professional trainings regarding
safety, engineering, finance and legal affairs, book
recommendations from CEO and sharing sessions of
reading. In this financial year, our E-learning online
learning system provided over 72,536 training hours in
total. E-learning system has become the key channel for
the Group to implement policies, promote corporate
culture, offer distance learning programs and enhance
the skill of our workforce.

Besides, the Group has shown great concern to the
request and complaints of the employees. Since 2008,
the Group has implemented the relevant management
system on complaints and whistle-blowing. In addition, a
platform has also been set up for handling complaints
and whistle-blowing smoothly. For each complaint, the
audit supervision department of the Group will carry out
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relevant investigation and give feedbacks to the
complainant as well as reporting to the higher
management. Once a material complaint is confirmed,
rewards will be provided to the relevant complainant.
This internal audit system has great significance in
safeguarding the legal rights of staff and ensuring
fairness, justice and openness within the Group.

2015 financial year is the “Year of Safety Culture” for
China Gas, in this meaningful year, the Group
continuously strengthened occupational health and
safety management. Besides, each regional management
centre, department and project company has organized
a number of activities, including safety culture forum,
safety knowledge and speech competitions, safety drill,
etc., to strengthen the cultivation of safety culture. On
employees’ occupational health and safety, the Group
also improves the occupational education and on-job
training system, and enhances the awareness and
practices on safety among employees.

In order to give special recognition to outstanding teams
and staff, the Group offers attractive cash awards and
opportunities to study abroad through the “Elite
Billboard” annual review. The Group also put much
emphasis on communication and exchange with staff
and has established a “China Gas House” WeChat
corporate account. Along with our in-house OA forum
and periodicals, the account has become an important
communication tool of the Group. Through timely
release of the Group’s latest news to staff, various staff
caring programs and corporate cultural promotion, we
enable our staff members to gain better understanding
of the strategy and goal of the Company. The Group's
headquarters and project companies also regularly
organize various activities, such as regular medical
checks, hiking, Sports Day, presentation competition, to
enrich the lives of our staff.

Il. Responsibilities for Shareholders
and Creditors

It is only with the support from the shareholders and
creditors that China Gas can develop sustainably and
healthily. With this in mind, China Gas advocates the
core value of “creating a win-win with shareholders”. In
order to achieve this goal, we undertake our

responsibilities to shareholders actively, attach great
importance to transparent operation, disclose operation
information timely at opportune time, improve resource
utilization rate and increase the value of shareholders’
investment. As an enterprise listed in Hong Kong, China
Gas creates a public and transparent communication
system with investors in strict compliance with the
relevant requirements under the laws, regulations and
constitution. The Group has strictly complied with the
requirements in relation to information disclosure by
listed companies and maintained close communication
with investors and shareholders.

In 2015 financial year, besides organizing visits and
teleconference for investors on a regular basis, the Group
participated in 16 large-scale investor conferences
organized by domestic and foreign investment
institutions, held 2 result road shows for global investors,
and continuously deepened the understanding of
shareholders and creditors of the Group through result
presentations, announcements and press releases. In
addition, China Gas continues to standardize various
operation activities through compliance system,
guidelines, normative documents and other measures.
We have established a risk management system and
addressed material risks in a timely manner after
assessing and weighing various risks. The Group has also
prepared the “Risk Management System of China Gas
Group”, formulated mid- to long-term risk management
plans and built up a risk management system within the
Group with a view to establishing a comprehensive and
effective risk management system with well-defined
duties.

The Group has always been well trusted by many
domestic and foreign financial institutions and
maintained sound cooperation with them for years. In
December 2014, the Group entered into a long-term
loan agreement of up to USD 450 million with Asian
Development Bank. The agreement is the third tranche
of loan provided by Asian Development Bank to China
Gas after the second and first tranches in 2006 and
2010, fully demonstrating the enthusiastic support that
Asian Development Bank offered to China Gas's
endeavor to develop clean urban energy. On the other
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hand, the Group’s continuously improving operation
results and rigorous corporate management system also
gained recognition from the capital market and the
media. In September 2014, the Group was again
awarded “Top 50 Asia-Pacific Listed Companies” by
Forbes Asia for 2014; in June 2014, Money Today, one
of the top three financial media in Korea, publicized an
article named “Fast-Growing China Gas: the Vanguard
of China Energy Revolution”, which reports on the
staggering growth and bright prospect of the Group in
China’s natural gas industry, and the increasing influence
of China Gas brand.

lll. Responsibilities for Consumers

Adhering to the principle of “Improving Customer
Service Experience”, in 2015 financial year, China Gas
introduced the concept and methods of customer service
management to its management process, and realized
the automation and standardization of customer service
management. The Group has developed a customer
service mobile phone application and an evaluator to
assess the satisfaction level to the Group’s customer
service. In addition, we actively promoted the integration
and application of customer service payment system,
work sheet system and call centre. In order to improve
the quality of customer service and promote the
development of add-value business, the Group has
quantified the evaluation standard of customer service
quality to enhance supervision, assessment and
application. In 2015 financial year, China Gas conducted
its first customer satisfaction level survey and attained an
excellent grading in the overall satisfaction level of
customers. During the financial year, a number of project
companies were awarded honorary titles in their own
provinces and cities, including “Top 10 Credit Enterprise
Recommended by Citizen”, “Workers' Vanguard” and
“May 1st Labour Medal”. In 2016 financial year, the
Group will launch a series of activities on innovation and
improvement of customer service under the theme of
“Outstanding Service Culture Year”. We will continuously
provide our customers with convenient, effective and
high quality professional services.

With respect to customer services, we require our
employees to pay attention to the safety of life and
property of consumers all the time and to implement the
Group's safety concept throughout the service process in
a persistent manner. In 2015 financial year, the Group
has 179,841 sets of operating devices with an integrity
rate of 99.8% and did not experience any production
safety issue. In 2015 financial year, the project companies
under the Group convened 1,952 safety meetings and
carried out 3,361 safety inspections, 27,081 trainings for
employees and 527 drills. 2015 financial year is the “Year
of Safety Culture” of China Gas; during such period,
China Gas launched a number of safety campaigns under
the theme of introducing safety education into
communities and schools. Our project companies
distributed promotional materials to local residents,
answered inquiries and strenuously promoted urban gas
regulations and all kinds of practical safety knowledge.
Besides, we carried out on-site safety inspections for 4.224
million households, distributed 2,862,720 safety booklets
and provided personalized and convenient services to our
residents. Such initiatives won us accolades and praises
from the relevant government leaders and residents, and
a number of project companies were awarded the honor
of “Advanced Unit in Safety Management” by the local
government. After a year of efforts, professional regional
emergency repair centers have been set up by 12
regional management centers and Fujian Anran
Company. Our project companies carried out up to 130
times of safety and emergency drills which significantly
enhanced their emergency rescue capabilities.
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IV. Responsibilities for Social
Welfare

China Gas never forgets its mission of “Benefiting the
Society through Establishing a Harmonious Ambience”.
With a grateful heart, the Group gives back to the
society through practical actions. For example, China Gas
established the “China Gas Public Welfare Foundation”
with a startup fund of HK$100 million, which was jointly
contributed by China Gas and its shareholders, namely,
Beijing Enterprises Holdings, Fortune Qil, SK Group of
Korea and Ms. Xu Xiu Lan. Ms. LI Ching assumes the role
of chairman of the Board while Ms. CHEN Yanyan serves
as the General Secretary of the Board. The foundation
upholds “the historical mission of China Gas to serve and
pay back to the society and the principles of promoting
welfare activities and establishing a welfare platform
with high credibility and transparency”. Since its
establishment on 28 April 2014, the fund has organized
a variety of social welfare activities over more than a
year, which include staff assistance, education support
and poverty alleviation. In specific, we offered assistance
to seriously ill employees of Fengshun China Gas (B
#X) and Changshu China Gas (B#AH#A) and their
families. Besides, we sponsored the establishment of a
maternal and child recreational centre in Youjiang
District, Baise City, Guangxi Province, and supported the
sponsorship projects of the Overseas Friendship
Association of Guangxi. We also organized “Care for the
Elderly Tea Gathering” in Hong Kong to share joyous
time with 120 elders and held a “making dreams come
true” activity titled “Ignite Hope and Share Love” which
arranged visits to the Cathy City for children from the
foster families of Hong Kong Family Welfare Society. In
addition, our staff and their family members participated
in the 46th fundraising event “Walks for Millions”,
raising approximately HK$50,000 for The Community
Chest of Hong Kong. As a gesture of our support to
cultural exchange, the Group sponsored the “1st
Calligraphy Exhibition of Chinese and Korean Civil
Servants” in order to promote the excellent calligraphic
traditions of the two countries and the cultural exchange
between China and Korean.

Furthermore, the Group’s headquarters and project
companies have actively launched different public
welfare activities: in August 2014, the Group's
headquarters and Shenzhen blood center jointly held a
voluntary blood donation activity named “passing caring
and love to people”. A number of project companies
have also launched activities for the causes of forest
plantation and caring for disabled children with a view to
actively bearing social responsibility, supporting social
charity and spreading the caring and corporate spirit of
China Gas to others.

V. Responsibilities for the
Environment and Resources

Due to the blind pursuit of profits and over development,
the domestic eco-environment and living environment
have been seriously damaged. As a responsible corporate
citizen, China Gas had already waged an enduring battle
against the hazy weather long before the growing public
concern and discussion about this environmental
problem. Since its establishment, China Gas has been
committed to promoting the wide application of natural
gas to optimize urban energy structure. It has also played
an important role in improving the living environment
and air quality for approximately 300 cities across the
country. In addition, China Gas has responded with
concrete actions to the national call for conserving
energy, reducing emission and establishing a low-carbon
society.

Offering environmental-friendly and energy-saving
solutions to industrial users and speeding up industrial
transformation and upgrade represent another important
mission of China Gas. China has been strenuously
promoting “coal-to-gas” conversion projects, which is to
replace coal-fired boilers with gas-fired boilers, and this
transformation is set to reduce pollutant emissions
significantly. In view of this, China Gas had actively
responded to the policy of “coal-to-gas”, offered
assistance to local governments and enthusiastically
carried forward the implementation of this green and
environmental-friendly project.
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“Qil-to-gas” represents an effective, environmental-
friendly and economical solution to automobile exhaust
gas. At present, China Gas has several vehicle fleets for
carriage of dangerous goods and over 500 natural gas
refilling stations across the country; it has commenced
cooperation with major domestic vehicles and equipment
manufacturers. Looking ahead, the Group will construct
1,000 refilling stations by 2017 and give full support to
eco-environment conservation.

In terms of energy saving, the Group has promoted the
idea of low-carbon offices, encouraged staff to switch to
paperless work, equipped offices with a complete set of
video conference system, adopted E-learning online
learning and training system and reduced business travel
(thereby reducing the emission of carbon dioxide) over
the years, which put environmental protection into
practice in all aspects of employees’ work and life. In
daily operation, though the contribution of each
members of China Gas looks trifling comparing with the
ever-changing development of the Company, the
combined efforts of nearly 40,000 employees have done
much to attain the unprecedented achievements of the
Group in natural gas promotion, household development,
pipeline laying, first-time connection and flawless delivery
of gas, and vehicle and vessel gas.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT

Board Members

Mr. ZHOU Si, aged 58, is currently the Chairman of the
Board of the Company. Mr. ZHOU was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company in August 2013. He is
the Vice Chairman, Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited,
a company listed in Hong Kong (Stock Code: 392). Mr.
ZHOU is also Vice Chairman of Beijing Enterprises Group
Company Limited. Mr. ZHOU received a Bachelor’s
degree in Science (Physics) from Capital Normal
University in 1982, a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from School of Economics and
Management, Tsinghua University in 1998 and possesses
the title of Senior Economist. From 1984 to 2003, Mr.
ZHOU worked with Comprehensive Planning Department
of Urban Management Commission of Beijing
Municipality as Chief Officer, Deputy Director and
Director; and later worked as Deputy Director of Urban
Management Commission of Beijing Municipality. He has
extensive experience in urban management, economics,
finance and corporate management.

Mr. LIU Ming Hui, aged 52, is currently the Executive
Chairman, Managing Director and President of the
Company. Mr. LIU was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 17 August 2012 and has
been elected as an Executive Director of the Company in
September 2012. Mr. LIU was a Non-executive Director
of the Company from April 2002 to July 2002, an
Executive Director of the Company from July 2002 to
April 2011 and the Managing Director of the Company
from July 2002 to January 2011. He is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. LIU graduated
from Hebei Normal University in the Faculty of
Mathematics, and has substantial experience in the
infrastructure and energy industry in China. Mr. LIU is
the founder of the Company. He is the elder brother of
Mr. LIU Mingxing.

Mr. HUANG Yong, aged 52, is the Executive President
of the Company since joining the Company in 2002. Mr.
HUANG was appointed as an Executive Director in June
2013. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. HUANG
worked at Shenzhen Nanyou (Holdings) Ltd. (&3 = H
£E) and Asia Environmental Development Company
Limited (5 M3RIBES R B R A 7)), etc. He graduated from
Wuhan University with a Master’s degree in Law, and
has extensive experience in legal affairs and corporate
management.

Mr. LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric, aged 54, was
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in
December 2010 and resigned on 1 July 2014. Mr. LEUNG
joined the Company in early 2005 after a 13-year career
in investment banking, during which he helped
numerous companies in Greater China raise debt and
equity capital, especially for energy and infrastructure
projects. Investment banks he has served include Lehman
Brothers, Barclays Capital and Prudential Securities. His
last position before he joined the Company was
Managing Director and Head of Corporate Finance of
UFJ Securities. Mr. LEUNG is a lawyer by training, and is
qualified to practise law in Hong Kong, England & Wales
and Australia and he holds Bachelor’s degrees from The
University of Hong Kong and University of London, and a
Master’'s degree from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong.

Mr. ZHU Weiwei, aged 42, is currently a Vice President
of the Company. Mr. ZHU was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company in September 2002. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. ZHU
received a Master’s degree in Finance from Zhong-nan
University of Finance and Economic, the PRC. Mr. ZHU
has substantial experience in financing and project
management.
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Mr. MA lJinlong, aged 48, is currently a Vice President
of the Company. Mr. MA was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company in September 2002. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. MA
received a Bachelor’s degree in Economics from Hebei
University and Executive Master’s degree in Business
Administration from University of International Business
and Economics. He has substantial experience in financial
and business operation management.

Mr. CHEN Xinguo, aged 47, is currently a Vice President
of the Company. Mr. CHEN was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company in April 2013 and
resigned on 24 June 2015. Mr. CHEN is a Senior
Economist. He holds a Doctorate degree in Economics
from Renmin University of China. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. CHEN was a Deputy General Manager of
Beijing Gas Holdings Limited and Beijing Gas Group Co.,
Ltd from 2009 to 2013 and a deputy manager and a
manager of strategic development department of Beijing
Enterprises Group Company Limited from 2005 to 2009.
He was an Officer and a Deputy Commissioner of Beijing
Planning Committee (Development and Planning
Committee) from 1994 to 2003.

Ms. LI Ching, aged 57, is currently a Director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. LI was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company in January 2014 and
she has been an Executive Director of Fortune Qil Limited
(formerly known as Fortune Oil PLC and was listed on
the London Stock Exchange) since 1998. She has been
working in Fortune Oil Limited for more than 15 years.
Prior to joining Fortune Oil Limited, Ms. LI worked in
China North Industries Corporation for 15 years. She was
in charge of finance and audit departments. She received
a Bachelor’s degree from the School of Public Finance of
Central University of Finance and Economics in 1982.
Ms. LI has extensive experience in finance and corporate
management.

Mr. YU Jeong Joon, aged 52, is currently the Vice
Chairman of the Company. Mr. YU was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company in April 2013.
He is currently the representative director of SK E&S Co.,
Ltd, a subsidiary of SK Group, Korea. He holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from Korea
University and a Master’s degree in Accounting from the
University of lllinois at Urbana-Champaign. Mr. YU joined
SK Group since 1998 and he has substantial experience
in international financial management. Mr. YU is a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA).

Mr. KIM Yong Joong (alternate to Mr. Yu Jeong Joon),
aged 53, is currently the Vice President of the Company.
Mr. KIM was appointed as the alternate Director to Mr.
YU Jeong Joon in April 2013. He graduated from Korea
University with a Bachelor’s degree in Laws in 1984. He
joined SK Group, Korea since 1987. He is currently the
Vice President, China business Unit of SK E&S Co., Ltd.

Mr. Rajeev MATHUR, aged 54, was appointed as a
Non-executive Director in November 2013 and resigned
on 26 November 2014. Mr. MATHUR is an Engineer by
profession, having a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration with specialization in marketing
management and has put in 28 years of broad
experience in the natural gas & petrochemical industry.
Mr. MATHUR started his stint with GAIL (India) Limited
("GAIL") since its inception. He was Executive Director
(Marketing). His assignments include overseeing the
marketing function in GAIL namely natural gas trading,
gas transmission and marketing other allied products
within India & abroad; as an in-charge of regulatory
affairs department ensuring adherence to regulatory
framework; as a promoter nominee on the board of
Indraprastha Gas Ltd (a city gas distribution company)
ensuring corporate governance in terms of financial
prudence, formulating strategic business plans to
enhance shareholders value.
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Mr. LIU Mingxing, aged 42, was appointed as a Non-
executive Director in July 2014. Mr. LIU is the Vice
Director-General and a professor of Economics of China
Institute for Educational Finance Research, Peking
University. He was an associate professor of Economics
of China Institute for Educational Finance Research,
Peking University from January 2008 to July 2013, and
an instructor of Economics and an associate professor of
Economics of the School of Government, Peking
University from September 2003 to December 2007. He
graduated from the Department of Investment
Economics, Zhongnan University of Finance and
Economics with a Bachelor’'s degree in Economics in
1994 and he was awarded a Master's degree in
Economics in 1997. In 2001, he was awarded his
Doctorate degree in Economics at China Center for
Economic Research, Peking University. From 2001 to
2003, he did postdoctoral research at The National
Bureau of Economic Research in the United States. Mr.
LIU acted as a consultant and provided policy advisory
services to the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of
Education of China, the World Bank, the OECD, the
United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural
Organization and Department for International
Development of the United Kingdom on various
occasions. Mr. LIU published a large number of academic
papers and books in respect of economics and finance in
China and worldwide. Mr. LIU is the younger brother of
Mr. LIU Ming Hui.

Mr. Arun Kumar MANCHANDA, aged 57, was
appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company
in November 2014. Mr. MANCHANDA is currently the
Executive Director of Marketing with GAIL. Prior to this,
Mr. MANCHANDA was heading GAIL's Liquid
Hydrocarbon division and also responsible for marketing
of natural gas and Polymers from 2012 to 2014. Mr.
MANCHANDA is a Chemical Engineer from Punjab
University with Management Degree in Sales and
Marketing Management and has over 35-year of
experience in the marketing of natural gas,
petrochemicals and petroleum products.

Mr. JIANG Xinhao, aged 50, was appointed as a Non-
executive Director of the Company in June 2015. Mr.
JIANG graduated from Fudan University in 1987 with a
Bachelor’s degree in Law, then he devoted in policy
analysis in the State Commission of Restructuring
Economic System from 1987 to 1989. In 1992, he was
granted a Master's degree in Law by Fudan University.
Mr. JIANG taught at Peking University between 1992
and 1994. From 1995 to 1997, Mr. JIANG was a Deputy
General Manager of Jingtai Finance Company in Hong
Kong, and subsequently a Director and Vice President of
BHL Industrial Investment Company. From 1997 to
February 2005, Mr. JIANG was a Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of Tramford International Limited, a
public company listed on Nasdag. Mr. JIJANG was a
Manager of the investment development department of
Beijing Holdings Limited and a General Manager of
Beijing BHL Investment Center between May 2000 and
February 2005. Mr. JIANG has extensive experience in
economics, finance and corporate management. Mr.
JIANG is currently the Executive Director and Vice
President of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the *“Stock
Exchange”) Stock Code: 392). Mr. JIANG also serves as
Vice General Manager of Beijing Enterprises Group
Company Limited, an Executive Director of Beijing
Enterprises Water Group Limited (Stock Exchange Stock
Code: 371) and Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited (Stock
Exchange Stock Code: 925).

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, aged 48, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
November 2002. Mr. ZHAO graduated from Institute of
International Economy, Nankai University and holds a
Master’s degree in Economics. He joined J&A Securities
Company in 1993, engaging in corporate financing and
advisory business.
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Dr. MAO Erwan, aged 52, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
January 2003. Dr. MAO graduated from Mathematics
and System Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences and
holds a Doctorate Degree. He was the Chief Economist
of Da Cheng Fund Management Co. Ltd. He is currently
a deputy professor of School of International Business,
Beijing Foreign Studies University, a committee member
of China Institute of Finance, Financial Engineering,
deputy director of Financial and Securities Institute of
BFSU and deputy director of Financial Quantity Analysis
and Computation Committee.

Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia, aged 63, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in October 2003, having taken up the position
as Chairperson of the Non-executive Chairperson of the
Board from March 2011 to August 2013. Ms. WONG
holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration from
the University of East Asia in Macau. Ms. WONG retired
in February 2015 from the position of Deputy General
Manager of China Merchants Holdings (International)
Company Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 144), a
position she has held since November 2003. Prior to that,
she held various senior positions at reputable
international investment banks including Societe
Generale, Deutsche Morgan Grenfell, Samuel Montague
and Bear Stearns Asia for over 15 years during which
period she had advised more than 50 companies in
Greater China and Asia in their equity, equity finance or
equity-related activities.

Mr. HO Yeung, aged 60, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
December 2012. Mr. HO has been a senior executive at a
leading high-tech software company in China since 1999
and has been an executive director of a renowned real
estate company in China for over the past ten years.
Since 1994, Mr. HO has been a member of the board of
the council at the China Association for the Promotion of
Investment.

Ms. CHEN Yanyan, aged 52, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
December 2012. Ms. CHEN is currently an economist,
senior political engineer, and an expert in Logistics and
Supply Chain Management Specialty of Expert Database
of Science and Technology Expert Committee of
Shenzhen Municipal Government. Ms. CHEN is also a
research fellow of the Chinese Logistics Society and a
representative of the 11th Women’s Congress of
Guangdong Province. Ms. CHEN is currently an
independent director of JRYITZRERF RN BIRAF]
and three public companies listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, (“SZSE") i.e. Shenzhen Woer Heat-Shrinkable
Material Co., Ltd. (SZSE Stock Code: 2130), Shenzhen
Wenke Landscape Co., Ltd. (SZSE Stock Code: 2775),
and Shenzhen Comix Group Co., Ltd. (SZSE Stock Code:
2301). Ms. CHEN received “Second Prize of Technological
Progress by the China Federation of Logistic and
Purchasing” in 2008 and 2009.

Senior Management

Mr. FAN lJinsheng, aged 67, is currently the Vice
President of the Company, the member of China Gas
Association and a professor-level senior engineer. Mr.
FAN joined the Company in June 2006. Prior to that, Mr.
FAN was the general manager of Harbin Coal Chemical
Company Limited (MEBERILIARARF) and the
manager of Harbin Gas Transmission Company (W5E/E
MR A ).

Mr. DENG Yaobo, aged 43, is currently Vice President
of the Company. He is responsible for the Company’s
investment development and executive management.
Mr. DENG joined the Company in 2002 with abundant
experience in project investment and corporate
management. Mr. DENG obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Zhongnan University of Finance and
Economics, and holds the Registered Qualification
Certificate for Cost Engineer of the PRC and the
Registered Qualification Certificate for Certified Public
Valuer of the PRC.
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The Company is committed to maintaining high standard
of corporate governance. The Board believes that good
corporate governance is essential for sustainable
development and growth of the Company and
enhancement of shareholders’ value and is therefore in
the long-term interests of the Company and the
shareholders.

The Company has adopted all code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) and, where applicable, the recommended
best practices of the Corporate Governance Code, as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2015, the
Company complied with all the Code Provisions except
for the deviation from the Code Provision A.4.1, details
of which are set out in the paragraph headed
“Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors”
below.

The Board

The Company is headed by the Board, which assumes
responsibility for leadership and control of the Group.
The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting
the success of the Group by directing and supervising its
affairs in an effective manner. The Board is responsible
for all major aspects of the Group’s affairs, including
setting overall strategies and priorities for the Group,
approving annual budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, monitoring the performance of
the management and other significant financial and
operational matters. All operational decisions are
delegated to the Executive Committee, which comprises
all the executive Directors. Details of the committee are
set out in the paragraph headed “Executive Committee”
below. All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis
of major development of the Group’s businesses.

The Board meets regularly at least four times each year.
The Company schedules regular Board meetings in
advance to give Directors the opportunity to participate
actively.

Directors receive written notices of the regular Board
meetings at least 14 days in advance and an agenda with
supporting Board papers no less than three days prior to
the meeting. All Directors are consulted for matters to be
included in the agenda for regular Board meetings. For
non-regular Board meetings, reasonable notices were
given. Special Board meetings are convened as and when
needed. Minutes of the Board, Board committees and
general meetings are kept by the Company Secretary
and are made available and circulated to all Directors
periodically. Directors have full and timely access to all
relevant information as well as the advice and services of
the Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring that
Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. Management has an obligation to supply
to the Board and its Committees adequate, complete
and reliable information in a timely manner to enable
them to make informed decisions. Each Director also has
separate and independent access to management.

Except for those circumstances permitted by the Bye-
laws of the Company and the Listing Rules, a Director
who has material interest in any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward
to the Board for consideration abstains from voting on
the relevant resolution and such Director is not counted
in the quorum. If a substantial shareholder or a Director
has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be
material, the matter will be dealt with in accordance with
applicable rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an
independent board committee will be set up to deal with
the matter.
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Attendance of members at regular Board meetings for the year ended 31 March 2015 is set out below:

Number of regular Board meetings
Name of Director attended/held

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHOU Si 4/4
Mr. LIU Ming Hui 4/4
Mr. HUANG Yong 4/4
Mr. LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric (note 1) 11
Mr. ZHU Weiwei 4/4
Mr. MA Jinlong 4/4
Mr. CHEN Xinguo (note 2) 3/4
Ms. LI Ching 4/4

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YU Jeong Joon 2/4
Mr. KIM Yong Joong (alternate to Mr. YU Jeong Joon) 4/4
Mr. Rajeev MATHUR (note 3) 2/3
Mr. LIU Mingxing (note 4) 3/3
Mr. Arun Kumar MANCHANDA (note 5) IVAl
Mr. JIJANG Xinhao (note 6) N/A

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 4/4
Dr. MAO Erwan 4/4
Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia 4/4
Mr. HO Yeung 2/4
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 4/4
Notes:

Mr. LEUNG resigned on 1 July 2014.

Mr. CHEN resigned on 24 June 2015.

Mr. MATHUR resigned on 26 November 2014.

Mr. LIU was appointed on 1 July 2014.

Mr. MANCHANDA was appointed on 26 November 2014.
Mr. JIJANG was appointed on 24 June 2015.

o Uk WwN =

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance cover to indemnify Directors
against claims and liabilities arising out of the Group’s business and activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on
an annual basis. During the year, no claim was made against the Directors.
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As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board
comprises 15 Directors, including six executive Directors,
four non-executive Directors (one of whom has
appointed an alternate Director) and five independent
non-executive Directors. The names and biographical
details of the Directors are set out on pages 47 to 50.
The list of Directors and their roles and function is also
disclosed on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Group's business. The diverse backgrounds of the Board
members ensure that they can fully represent the
interests of all shareholders of the Company and to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board and corporate
governance. The Company believes that the active
involvement of the non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors in the management
and decision making of the Board and its committees
strengthens the objectivity and independence of the
Board. Further details relating to the diversity of the
Board are set out in the paragraph headed “Nomination
Committee” below.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management”, there is no financial,
business, family and other material/relevant relationships
among members of the Board.

The Company has received annual confirmations from all
of the independent non-executive Directors
acknowledging full compliance with the relevant
requirements in respect of their independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is
therefore of the view that all of the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.

The roles of the Chairman as well as the Managing
Director and President of the Company played by Mr.
ZHOU Si and Mr. LIU Ming Hui respectively.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and
ensures that the Board works effectively in discharging
its responsibilities, and that all key issues are discussed
and addressed to in a timely manner. The Managing
Director and President develops strategic operation plans
to implement the Company'’s set strategies and priorities
and leads the day-to-day management of the Group’s
business.

The clear division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and Managing Director and President ensures
a balance of power and authority, as well as efficient
management and operation of the Company.

The procedures and processes of appointment, re-
election and removal of Directors are laid down in the
Bye-laws of the Company. The Board, with the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee, is
responsible for developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of Directors,
monitoring the appointment and succession of Directors
and assessing the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors.

Under Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term and be subject to
re-election. None of the existing non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors is appointed
for a specific term. This constitutes a deviation from the
Code Provision A.4.1. However, according to Bye-law 87
of the Company’s Bye-laws, one-third of the Directors
for the time being must retire from the office by rotation
at each annual general meeting. The Company has
observed the need for good corporate governance
practices. All non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors have retired from the office by
rotation and have been re-elected in the past three years.
The Company considers that sufficient measures have
been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than those in
the relevant Code Provision.
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Pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, Mr. JIANG Xinhao will retire, and being
eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87(1) and the Code Provision A.4.2
of the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules, Mr. HUANG Yong, Mr. YU Jeong
Joon, Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, Mr. HO Yeung and Ms. CHEN
Yanyan will retire by rotation, and being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Board Committees

The Board has set up five standing committees, namely
the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and
the Corporate Governance and Risk Control Committee,
to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
Sufficient resources, including advice of the external
Auditor and independent professional advisers, are
provided to the Board committees to enable them to
discharge their duties.

The Board has delegated the power, authorities and
discretions for the management of the Group’'s
operations and activities to a formally established
Executive Committee, which comprises six executive
Directors and a vice president of the Company, namely
Mr. LIU Ming Hui (Chairman), Mr. HUANG Yong, Mr.
ZHU Weiwei, Mr. MA lJinlong, Mr. CHEN Xinguo, Ms. LI
Ching and Mr. KIM Yong Joong.

The major responsibilities and authorities of the Executive
Committee are:

o advising the Board in formulating policies and
strategies in relation to the management and
business operation of the Company and supervising
the management in implementing such policies
and strategies;

o supervising and directing the management on the
conduct of the business operations of the
Company;

° preparing monthly management reports and
annual business plans and budgets of the
Company;

° formulating and implementing remuneration
policies for the staff of the Group below the level
of vice-president;

o approving the appointment of directors of the
Group's subsidiaries and joint venture companies;
and

o approving debt financing in the amount of not
exceeding US$100 million.

Certain matters including matters which are subject to
disclosure and/or shareholders’ approval requirements,
and funding raising above certain predetermined
thresholds are specifically reserved for approval by the
Board.

In respect of the decision making process, management,
pursuant to the levels of authority formally approved by
the Executive Committee, submits written proposals with
detailed analysis (on financial and commercial aspects)
and recommendations to the Executive Committee for
consideration and approval. Where the subject matter
exceeds the authority of the Executive Committee or
relates to any matters specifically reserved to the Board
as aforesaid, it would be submitted to the Board for
approval.
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The Remuneration Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors and one executive
Director, namely Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia
(Chairperson), Mr. LIU Ming Hui, Mr. ZHAO Yuhua and
Dr. MAO Erwan.

The Remuneration Committee is delegated with the
authority of determining and reviewing remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management with
a view to attracting, retaining and motivating Directors
and senior management of the quality required to run
the Company successfully. The major responsibilities and
authorities of the Remuneration Committee are set out
in its revised written terms of reference which are posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The objective of the Company’s remuneration policy for
the Directors and senior management is to attract,
motivate and retain talented employees to achieve the
Group'’s long-term corporate goals and objectives. The
remuneration of the Directors and senior management is
determined with reference to the performance and
responsibilities of the individuals, the performance of the
Company, prevailing market conditions and remuneration
benchmarks from comparable companies. No individual
Director or senior management of the Company is
permitted to determine his/her own remuneration.
Details of the remuneration, as well as the share option
benefits of Directors, for the year ended 31 March 2015
are set out on in notes 14 and 44 of the Financial Report
2015.

Attendance of members at Remuneration Committee meetings for the year ended 31 March 2015 is set out below:

Name of member

Number of meetings attended/held

Ms. WONG Sin Yue Cynthia (Chairperson)
Mr. LIU Ming Hui

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua

Dr. MAO Erwan

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the principal
work performed by the Remuneration Committee
included:

o review and approval of the Company’s
remuneration policy;

o review and recommendation of the Directors’
remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2015
subject to approval at the annual general meeting;

2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2

J review and approval of the service contracts of
newly appointed Directors;

. discussion, review and determination of payment
of bonus to executive Directors and employees
ranking vice-president and above; and

° discussion, review and recommendation of
payment of bonus to all non-executive and
independent non-executive directors.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015, the annual remuneration of the senior management who are not Directors was

within the following band:

Number of senior management

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors and two executive Directors,
namely Dr. MAO Erwan (Chairman), Mr. LIU Ming Hui,
Mr. MA Jinlong, Mr. ZHAO Yuhua and Ms. WONG Sin
Yue, Cynthia.

In reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board and making recommendations on any proposed
changes, the Nomination Committee is mindful of the
principle of achieving a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements
of the Company’s business. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are posted on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. In 2013,
the Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy upon the

2

recommendation of the Nomination Committee to set
out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board
members. When recommending nominations to the
Board for approval, the Nomination Committee will
consider the merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board, having due regard for
a range of diversity perspectives (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service) as set out in the Board
Diversity Policy.

The composition, structure and size of the Board are
reviewed annually by the Nomination Committee to
ensure that it has a balance of appropriate skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives to meet the
business needs of the Group. Members of the Board
have a diverse range of business, financial and
professional expertise. Brief biographical details of the
Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management”.

An analysis of the current Board composition is set out in the following chart:

Directorship with

Number of Skills/industry the Company
Directors Gender Designation Ethnicity Age group  experience (number of years)
15 Female Executive Non-Chinese  41-50 Industry experience 1-5 years
14
13 Chinese
12 Male
1
10 51-60
9 Non-executive
8 Accounting & Financial
7 Management
6 Over 10 years
5 Independent
Non-executive
4 Business Administration
3
| _
1 Over 60
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Attendance of members at Nomination Committee meetings for the year ended 31 March 2015 is set out below:

Name of member

Number of meetings attended/held

Dr. MAO Erwan (Chairman)
Mr. LIU Ming Hui

Mr. MA Jinlong

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua

Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the principal
work performed by the Nomination Committee included:

. review of the structure, size and composition of
the Board taking into account of a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural background, educational background,
skills, knowledge, professional experience and/or
length of service;

o review of the Board Diversity Policy and the
measurable objectives for implementing diversity
on the Board;

o recommendation to the Board on the appointment
of Directors of the Board and senior management;

o assessment of independence of the independent
non- executive Directors;

o review of the Company’s policy on nomination of
Directors; and

3/3
3/3
2/3
3/3
2/3

o determination of the rotation and re-election of
the Directors for the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises five independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. ZHAO Yuhua (Chairman),
Dr. MAO Erwan, Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia, Mr. HO
Yeung and Ms. CHEN Yanyan.

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and
assists the Board to oversee the Company's financial
reporting process and internal control and risk
management systems and to review the Group's interim
and annual consolidated financial statements. The role
and function of the Audit Committee are set out in its
revised written terms of reference which are posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Attendance of members at Audit Committee meetings for the year ended 31 March 2015 is set out below:

Name of member

Number of meetings attended/held

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua (Chairman)
Dr. MAO Erwan

Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia
Mr. HO Yeung

Ms. CHEN Yanyan

2/2
2/2
2/2
172
2/2
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, the principal e
work performed by the Audit Committee included:

o review of the Company’s annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2015, and
make recommendation to the Board for approval; °

o recommendation to the Board to re-appoint
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as external auditors of e
the Company for the financial year 2015 subject to
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual
general meeting; .

o review of the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity;

o approval of the remuneration and terms of e
engagement of the external auditors;

o approval of the annual audit fee;
o review of the Company's interim financial e

statements for the six months ended 30 September
2014, and make recommendation to the Board;

review of the report and the management letter
submitted by the external auditors for the matters
arising from their audit on the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2015;

review and examination of the Group's internal
control system;

review of annual and interim reports of the
Group's internal audit and the internal audit plan;

review of the Group’s financial information,
financial reporting procedures, internal control
system, risk management, and financial and
accounting policies and practices;

review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting functions and related issues;
and

meeting with the external auditors in the absence
of executive Directors and management.

A summary of remuneration paid and payable in connection with the services provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
the Company’s auditors, for the year ended 31 March 2015, is as follows:

Audit services Amount HK$
Final results for the year ended 31 March 2015 (to be agreed) 9,000,000
Final results for the year ended 31 March 2014 9,000,000
Non-audit services Amount HK$
Agreed-upon procedures on preliminary announcement of results 20,000
Other services NIL
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Corporate Governance and Risk Control
Committee

The Corporate Governance and Risk Control Committee
(the “CGRC Committee”) is accountable to the Board
and assists the Board to strengthen the corporate
governance and risk control on business operations and
financial management of the Group. The role and
function of the CGRC Committee are set out in its terms
of reference which are posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The CGRC Committee comprises one executive Director
and all the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. ZHOU Si (Chairman),
Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia (Vice Chairperson), Mr. YU
Jeong Joon, Mr. LIU Mingxing, Mr. Arun Kumar
MANCHANDA, Mr. JIANG Xinhao, Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, Dr.
MAO Erwan, Mr. HO Yeung and Ms. CHEN Yanyan.

Attendance of members at CGRC Committee meetings for the year ended 31 March 2015 is set out below:

Name of member

Number of meetings attended/held

Mr. ZHOU Si (Chairman)

Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia (Vice Chairperson)
Mr. YU Jeong Joon

Mr. KIM Yong Joong (alternate to Mr. Yu Jeong Joon)
Mr. Rajeev MATHUR (note 1)

Mr. LIU Mingxing (note 2)

Mr. Arun Kumar MANCHANDA (note 3)

Mr. JIANG Xinhao (note 4)

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua

Dr. MAO Erwan

Mr. HO Yeung

Ms. CHEN Yanyan

Notes:

1 Mr. MATHUR resigned on 26 November 2014.

2. Mr. LIU was appointed on 1 July 2014.

3. Mr. MANCHANDA was appointed on 26 November 2014.
4 Mr. JIANG was appointed on 24 June 2015.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the principal
work performed by the CGRC Committee included:

o review of the performance target assessment
guidelines and reporting hierarchy for evaluation of
the performance of directors and senior
management; and

o review of and advising on general corporate
governance and risk control procedures of the
Group.

2/2
2/2
0/2
2/2
172
11
N/A
N/A
2/2
2/2
172
2/2

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary of the Company provides
support to the Board by ensuring good information flow
within the Board and Board policy and procedures are
followed. The Company Secretary is also responsible for
advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the
Executive Committee on governance matters and should
facilitate induction and professional development of
Directors.

The Company Secretary had complied with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules during the year under review.
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Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Every Director must always know his responsibilities as a
director of a listed company and its conduct, business
activities and development. Each newly appointed
Director receives a comprehensive induction on the first
occasion of his/her appointment so as to ensure that he/
she has a proper understanding of the Group's
operations and business and his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant

regulatory requirements. In addition, all Directors are
advised to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills.

The Company also continues its effort in providing
updates on the changes in the relevant regulatory
requirements applicable to the Group from time to time
and recommending and organizing relevant seminars
and trainings to the Directors as and when appropriate.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company organized an in-house seminar for the Directors. Details of
trainings received by each Director for the year ended 31 March 2015 is set out as follows:

Attending
seminars/
Name of Director Reading materials conference
Executive Directors
Mr. ZHOU Si v
Mr. LIU Ming Hui v
Mr. HUANG Yong v
Mr. LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric v
Mr. ZHU Weiwei 4
Mr. MA Jinlong v
Mr. CHEN Xinguo v
Ms. LI Ching v
Non-executive Directors
Mr. YU Jeong Joon 4
Mr. KIM Yong Joong (alternate to Mr. YU Jeong Joon) 4 v
Mr. Rajeev MATHUR v
Mr. LIU Mingxing v
Mr. Arun Kumar MANCHANDA v
Mr. JIANG Xinhao (note 1) N/A N/A
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua v v
Dr. MAO Erwan v
Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia v
Mr. HO Yeung 4
Ms. CHEN Yanyan v v

Note:

1. Mr. JIANG was appointed on 24 June 2015

The Directors acknowledge the need for continuous professional development, and the Company provides support
whenever relevant and necessary. All Directors are required to provide the Company with the records of the training

they received annually.

00
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The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for presenting
a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment in
respect of annual and interim reports, announcements of
inside information and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. The
Directors also acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for
each financial period.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

Following the specific enquiries by the Company, all
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the financial year ended 31
March 2015.

Formal notifications have sent by the Company to all
Directors and relevant employees reminding them that
they should not deal in the securities of the Company
during the black-out periods specified in the Model
Code.

The Board is committed to implementing effective and
sound internal control system to safeguard the interest
of shareholders and the Group’s assets. The internal
control system includes a well-defined management
structure with limits of authority, clear and written
policies, standard operation procedures, and risk control
self-assessment conducted for all major operating units

of the Group. The system is designed to provide
reasonable assurance of no material misstatement or loss
and to manage risks failure in operational systems and
achievement of the Group’s objectives.

Internal audit function provides independent assurance
to the Board and executive management as to the
adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls for the
Group on an ongoing basis. The internal audit function is
carried out by the Company’s Audit and Supervisory
Department. During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
Audit and Supervisory Department performed operational
and financial reviews with objectives to ensure that all
material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions are
in place and functioning effectively. The team
summarised audit findings and control weaknesses and
reported directly to the Audit Committee on a biannually
basis.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the
Audit and Supervisory Department was not aware of any
significant internal control issues that would have been
an adverse impact on the financial position or operations
of the Group. The Board, through the review of the
Audit Committee, considered the internal control system
of the Group effective and adequate.

The Board places considerable importance on
communication with shareholders and recognises the
significance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which enables shareholders and
investors to make the most informed investment
decisions.

Information in relation to the Group is disseminated to
shareholders in a timely manner through a number of
formal channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars published in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Such published
documents, together with the latest corporate
information and news, are also available on the
Company'’s website.
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Investors Relations Department conducted about 235 meetings with
analysts and investors including meetings in Hong Kong and Shenzhen offices, 2 analyst briefings, 17 international
investors conferences and 10 overseas road shows.

The annual general meeting of the Company also provides a valuable forum for the Board to communicate directly
with the shareholders each year. The Chairman of the Board chairs the annual general meeting to answer any
questions from the shareholders. In addition, the chairpersons of the various Board committees, or in their absence,
other members of the relevant committees and the Company’s external auditor are available to answer questions at
the meeting.

Attendance of Directors at general meetings of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2015 is set out below:

Number of general meetings

attended/held
Name of Director (Note 1)
Executive Directors
Mr. ZHOU Si 1/2
Mr. LIU Ming Hui 2/2
Mr. HUANG Yong 2/2
Mr. LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric (note 2) N/A
Mr. ZHU Weiwei 2/2
Mr. MA Jinlong 0/2
Mr. CHEN Xinguo (note 3) 0/2
Ms. LI Ching 2/2
Non-executive Directors
Mr. YU Jeong Joon 0/2
Mr. KIM Yong Joong (alternate to Mr. YU Jeong Joon) 2/2
Mr. Rajeev MATHUR (note 4) on
Mr. LIU Mingxing (note 5) iVAl
Mr. Arun Kumar MANCHANDA (note 6) iVAl
Mr. JIANG Xinhao (note 7) N/A
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 0/2
Dr. MAO Erwan 172
Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia 2/2
Mr. HO Yeung 0/2
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 2/2
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Notes:

1. The annual general meeting of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2014 was held on 26 August 2014 and a special
general meeting was held on 17 March 2015.

Mr. LEUNG resigned on 1 July 2014.

Mr. CHEN resigned on 24 June 2015.

Mr. MATHUR resigned on 26 November 2014.

Mr. LIU Mingxing was appointed on 1 July 2014.

Mr. MANCHANDA was appointed on 26 November 2014.

Mr. JIJANG was appointed on 24 June 2015.

N o v~ W

Shareholders’ Rights

The Board and management shall ensure that all
shareholders are treated equitably and fairly. Pursuant to
the Bye-laws of the Company, any shareholder entitled
to attend and vote at a general meeting of the company
is entitled to appoint another person as his/her proxy to
attend and vote instead of him/her. Shareholders holding
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall have the right, by written
requisition to the Board, to require a special general
meetings to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. In addition,
Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights or not less than 100 Shareholders may
submit a written request to the Company stating the
resolution intended to be proceeded at the annual
general meeting.

Any vote of the Shareholders at a general meeting must
be taken by poll (other than procedural matters). Voting
results are posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange on the day of the general meeting.
Since August 2009, there were no changes to the
memorandum of association of the Company and Bye-
laws. The updated versions of the memorandum of
association of the Company and Bye-laws are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Detailed procedures for the Shareholders to convene a
special general meeting, putting forward proposals at a
general meeting and proposing a person for election as a
Director are also available on the website of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors (the “Directors”) of the Company present this annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2015 (the “Financial Report 2015").

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding of its subsidiaries. These subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the investment, construction and management of city gas pipeline infrastructure, distribution of natural
gas and liquefied petroleum gas to residential, industrial and commercial users, construction and operation of oil
stations and gas stations, and development and application of natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas related
technologies. Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates as at 31 March 2015 are set
out in notes 46, 22 and 21 respectively to the financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the Financial Report 2015.

The interim dividend of HK2.2 cents per share for the six months ended 30 September 2014 (2013: HK2.2 cents) was
paid on 30 January 2015.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK13.95 cents per share for the year ended 31 March
2015 (HK9.86 cents for 31 March 2014) to the holders of ordinary shares of the Company whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 27 August 2015 amounting to approximately HK$697,756,479 subject

to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The final dividend, if approved by the shareholders, is expected to be payable on or about 30 September 2015.

Bank and Other Borrowings

Details of the bank and other borrowings of the Group are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements
of the Financial Report 2015.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out on
page 191 of the Financial Report 2015.
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Investment Properties and Property, Plant and Equipment

The Group revalued all of its investment properties at the year end date. The net increase in fair value of investment
properties in the amount of HK$7,296,000 has been credited to statement of comprehensive income.

Details of movements during the year in investment properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements of the Financial Report 2015 respectively.

Major Properties

Details of the major properties of the Group as at 31 March 2015 are set out on page 192 of the Financial Report
2015.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Financial Report 2015.

Reserves

The Company’s reserve, comprising the accumulated profits, available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March
2015 amounted to approximately HK$1,249,821,000.

Movement during the year in the reserves of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 7 of the Financial Report 2015.

Directors
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHOU Si

Mr. LIU Ming Hui

Mr. HUANG Yong

Mr. LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric (resigned on 1 July 2014)
Mr. ZHU Weiwei

Mr. MA Jinlong

Mr. CHEN Xinguo (resigned on 24 June 2015)

Ms. LI Ching
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Mr. YU Jeong Joon

Mr. KIM Yong Joong (alternate to Mr. YU Jeong Joon)

Mr. LIU Mingxing (appointed on 1 July 2014)

Mr. Rajeev MATHUR (resigned on 26 November 2014)

Mr. Arun Kumar MANCHANDA (appointed on 26 November 2014)
Mr. JIANG Xinhao (appointed on 24 June 2015)

Mr. ZHAO Yuhua

Dr. MAO Erwan

Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia
Mr. HO Yeung

Ms. CHEN Yanyan

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws of the Company, Mr. JIANG Xinhao will retire, and being eligible, will offer
himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87(1) and the Code Provision A.4.2 of the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules, Mr. HUANG Yong, Mr. YU Jeong Joon, Mr. ZHAO Yuhua, Mr. HO Yeung and Ms. CHEN Yanyan will
retire by rotation, and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has any service contract
with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

Save as disclosed below, there is no change in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed in this annual
report pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules:

Mr. ZHOU Si He waived the monthly salary, the annual allowance, the director’s fee and discretionary bonus.

Mr. LIU Ming Hui On 23 June 2015, the Remuneration Committee resolved that Mr. LIU's monthly salary will be
increased to HK$600,000 with effect from 1 July 2015.

Mr. HUANG Yong  On 23 June 2015, the Remuneration Committee resolved that Mr. HUANG’s monthly salary will
be increased to HK$550,000 with effect from 1 July 2015.

Mr. ZHU Weiwei On 23 June 2015, the Remuneration Committee resolved that Mr. ZHU’s monthly salary will be
increased to HK$250,000 with effect from 1 July 2015.

Mr. HO Yeung Mr. HO received a bonus of HK$75,000 for the year ended 31 March 2014. In addition to
director’s fee, Mr. HO is entitled to discretionary bonus as may be approved by the Board with
reference to his roles and responsibilities and the prevailing market conditions.
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Ms. CHEN Yanyan ~ Ms. CHEN received a bonus of HK$75,000 for the year ended 31 March 2014. In addition to
director’s fee, Ms. CHEN is entitled to discretionary bonus as may be approved by the Board
with reference to her roles and responsibilities and the prevailing market conditions.

On 23 June 2015, the Remuneration Committee of the Company has (1) approved (a) payment of bonus equivalent
to 12 months’ salary to be made to Mr. ZHOU Si, Mr. LIU Ming Hui and Mr. HUANG Yong; (b) payment of bonus
equivalent to 9 months’ salary to be made to Mr. ZHU Weiwei and Mr. MA Jinlong; (c) payment of bonus equivalent
to 8 months’ salary to be made to Mr. CHEN Xinguo and Ms. LI Ching; (2) resolved to make recommendation to the
board of Directors of the Company payment of bonus equivalent to 8 months’ salary to be made to Mr. KIM Yong
Joong and payment of bonus equivalent to 4 months’ salary to be made to Mr. YU Jeong Joon, Mr. LIU Mingxing and
Mr. Arun Kumar MANCHANDA and all Independent Non-executive Directors for the year ended 31 March 2015.

On 24 June 2015, the board of Directors of the Company has confirmed and approved the above bonus payment.

Retirement Benefits Schemes

Details of the Group's retirement benefits schemes are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements set
out in the Financial Report 2015.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in Shares

As at 31 March 2015, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO")) which were required (a) to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

(@) Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company (the “Shares”)

Approximate
percentage of total

Number of Shares share capital of the
Name of Director Nature of interest held (long position*) Company (%) (Note 1)
Mr. LIU Ming Hui Personal and corporate 1,035,300,000 20.70
(Note 2)
Mr. HUANG Yong Personal 117,278,000 2.34
(Note 3)
Mr. ZHU Weiwei Personal 7,000,000 0.14
Mr. MA Jinlong Personal 1,216,000 0.02
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua Personal 1,400,000 0.03
Dr. MAO Erwan Personal 2,400,000 0.05
Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia Personal 3,400,000 0.07
* long position in Shares (other than pursuant to equity derivatives such as share options, warrants to subscribe or convertible bonds)
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Approximate
percentage of total

Number of  Nature of Number of share capital of the
Name of Director options interest underlying Shares Company (%) (Note 1)
Mr. ZHOU Si 4,000,000 Beneficial 4,000,000 0.08
Mr. ZHU Weiwei 2,000,000 Beneficial 2,000,000 0.04
Mr. MA Jinlong 2,000,000 Beneficial 2,000,000 0.04
Mr. CHEN Xinguo 2,000,000 Beneficial 2,000,000 0.04
Ms. LI Ching 2,000,000 Beneficial 2,000,000 0.04
Mr. YU Jeong Joon 4,000,000  Beneficial 4,000,000 0.08
Mr. KIM Yong Joong 2,000,000 Beneficial 2,000,000 0.04
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 1,000,000 Beneficial 1,000,000 0.02
Dr. MAO Erwan 1,000,000 Beneficial 1,000,000 0.02
Ms. WONG Sin Yue, Cynthia 1,000,000 Beneficial 1,000,000 0.02
Mr. HO Yeung 1,000,000 Beneficial 1,000,000 0.02
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 1,000,000 Beneficial 1,000,000 0.02
Notes:
1. The percentage was calculated on the basis of 5,001,838,561 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2015.
2. Mr. LIU was deemed to be interested in a total of 1,035,300,000 Shares, comprising:

(i) 284,698,000 Shares beneficially owned by him; and

(ii) 750,602,000 Shares beneficially owned by China Gas Group Limited, which was owned as to 50% by Joint Coast Alliance
Market Development Limited, which, in turn, is wholly-owned by Mr. LIU.

3. The number of shares held included the 770,000 Shares held by Ms. ZHAO Xiaoyu, the spouse of Mr. HUANG Yong.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the directors nor the chief executives of the Company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Share Options

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) and details of movements in the
share options under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2015 are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Financial Report 2015 and summarized as below:

Number of Number of Number of
options options options  Number of
Number of granted  exercised lapsed options
options  during the during the during the outstanding
Exercise outstanding year ended year ended year ended as at
Name or category price as at 1 April 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
of grantee Date of grant Exercise period HK$ 2014 2015 2015 2015 2015
Directors
Mr. ZHOU Si 16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 4,000,000 — — 4,000,000
Mr. LEUNG Wing 16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 2,000,000 — 2,000,000 —
Cheong, Eric
(Note 1)
Mr. ZHU Weiwei 3 August 2009 3 August 2011 to 2 August 2014 2.10 4,000,000 — 4,000,000 —_ —
16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
Mr. MA Jinlong 16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
Mr. CHEN Xinguo 16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
Ms. LI Ching 16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
Mr. YU Jeong Joon 16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 4,000,000 — — 4,000,000
Mr. KIM Yong Joong 16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000
Mr. ZHAO Yuhua 3 August 2009 3 August 2011 to 2 August 2014 2.10 3,000,000 — 3,000,000 — —
16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000
Dr. MAO Erwan 16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 1,000,000 — — 1,000.000
Ms. WONG Sin Yue, 3 August 2009 3 August 2011 to 2 August 2014 2.10 3,000,000 — 3,000,000 — —
Cynthia 16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 e 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000
Mr. HO Yeung 16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000
Ms. CHEN Yanyan 16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000
Sub-total 10,000,000 25,000,000 10,000,000 2,000,000 23,000,000
Other employees 6 October 2004 20 March 2005 to 5 October 2014 0.71 33,600,000 — — 33,600,000 —
20 October 2005 20 October 2010 to 19 October 2015 1.50 104,800,000 — 10,000,000 — 94,800,000
3 August 2009 3 August 2012 to 2 August 2014 2.10 6,440,000 — 5,360,000 1,080,000 —
17 September 2009 17 September 2012 to 2.60 400,000 — 400,000 — —
16 September 2014
16 April 2014 16 April 2017 to 15 April 2019 12.40 — 225,000,000 — — 225,000,000
Sub-total 145,240,000 225,000,000 15,760,000 34,680,000 319,800,000
Total 155,240,000 250,000,000 25,760,000 36,680,000 342,800,000
Note:
1. Mr. LEUNG resigned on 1 July 2014.
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Interests of Substantial Shareholders and Other Persons in Shares and

Underlying Shares of the Company

As at 31 March 2015, so far as was known to the Directors and chief executive of the Company, the interests or short
positions of substantial shareholders and other persons of the Company (other than a Director or chief executive of
the Company), in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company, were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company:

Approximate
percentage of

total share

capital of the

Number of Company (%)

Name Capacity Shares held (Note 6)

Beijing Enterprises Group Company Interest of controlled corporation 1,126,840,132 22.53
Limited (“BE Group”) (Note 1)

Beijing Enterprises Group (BVI) Company  Interest of controlled corporation 1,126,840,132 22.53
Limited (“BE Group BVI") (Note 1)

Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 1,126,840,132 22.53
(“Beijing Enterprises”) (Note 1)

Hong Mao Developments Limited Beneficial owner 1,054,088,132 21.07
(“Hong Mao") (Note 1)

Mr. LIU Ming Hui (“Mr. LIU") Beneficial owner and interest of 1,035,300,000 20.70
controlled corporation (Notes 2 and 3)

Joint Coast Alliance Market Development  Interest of controlled corporation 750,602,000 15.01
Limited (“Joint Coast"”) (Notes 2 and 3)

China Gas Group Limited ("CGGL") Beneficial owner 750,602,000 15.01
(Notes 2 and 3)

Mr. CHIU Tat Jung Daniel (“Mr. CHIU") Interest of controlled corporation 947,973,463 18.95
(Note 4)
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Approximate
percentage of

total share
capital of the

Number of Company (%)
Name Capacity Shares held (Note 6)
First Level Holdings Limited (“First Level”)  Interest of controlled corporation 947,973,463 18.95
(Note 4)
Fortune Oil Limited Interest of controlled corporation 947,973,463 18.95
(Formerly known as Fortune Qil PLC) (Note 4)
("Fortune Oil")
Mr. CHEY Taewon (“Mr. CHEY") Interest of controlled corporation 778,042,500 15.56
(Note 5)
SK C&C Co., Ltd. ("SK C&C") Interest of controlled corporation 778,042,500 15.56
(Note 5)
SK Holdings Co., Ltd. (“SK Holdings") Interest of controlled corporation 778,042,500 15.56
(Note 5)
SK E&S Co., Ltd. ("SK E&S") Beneficial owner and interest of 778,042,500 15.56
controlled corporation (Note 5)
Notes:
1. Each of BE Group, BE Group BVI and Beijing Enterprises is deemed to be interested in 1,126,840,132 Shares, 72,750,000 of which were directly

and beneficially owned by Beijing Enterprises and 1,054,088,132 Shares were directly and beneficially owned by Hong Mao. Hong Mao was

wholly-owned by Beijing Enterprises which was deemed to be owned as to 60.76% by BE Group BVI. BE Group BVI was wholly-owned by BE

Group.

Mr. LIU was deemed to be interested in a total of 1,035,300,000 Shares, comprising:

(i) 284,698,000 Shares beneficially owned by him; and

(ii) 750,602,000 Shares beneficially owned by CGGL. CGGL was owned as to 50% by Joint Coast which, in turn, is wholly-owned by Mr.
LIU.

Joint Coast was deemed to be interested in 750,602,000 Shares beneficially owned by CGGL. CGGL is owned as to 50% by Joint Coast which,

in turn, is wholly-owned by Mr. LIU.

Each of Mr. CHIU, First Level and Fortune Oil was deemed to be interested in a total of 947,973,463 Shares, comprising:

(i) 750,602,000 Shares beneficially owned by CGGL. CGGL was owned as to 50% by Fortune Oil PRC Holdings Limited (“Fortune Oil
PRC");

(if) 156,501,544 Shares beneficially owned by Fortune Oil PRC which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune Qil. Fortune Oil is owned as to
51.2% by First Level which, in turn, is owned as to 99% by Mr. CHIU; and

(iii) 27,617,919 Shares beneficially owned by First Marvel Investment Limited which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune QOil.

(iv) 13,252,000 Shares beneficially owned by Fortune Oil Holdings Limited which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune Oil.

Each of Mr. CHEY, SK C&C, SK Holdings and SK E&S was deemed to be interested in a total of 778,042,500 Shares, comprising:

(a) 705,034,500,000 Shares beneficially owned by SK E&S. SK E&S is owned as to 94.13% by SK Holdings. SK Holdings is owned as to
41.77% by SK C&C which, in turn, is owned as to 37.40% by Mr. CHEY; and

(b) 73,008,000 Shares beneficially owned by Pusan City Gas Co., Ltd. which is owned as to 74.04% by SK E&S.

The percentage was calculated on the basis of 5,001,838,561 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2015.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, there was no other person (other than directors or chief executive of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Connected Transaction

During the year, the Group entered into the following non-exempt connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Details of the Transactions required to be disclosed are set out as follows:

On 26 November 2014, the Company, Fresh Goal Limited (the purchaser and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), Beijing Gas Group (BVI) Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Gas Group BVI") (the seller), and Beijing Enterprises (the
guarantor entered into a share purchase agreement (subsequently amended and supplemented by three side
agreements dated 7 January 2015, 3 March 2015 and 24 June 2015 respectively regarding the audit logistics and
postponement of the date of fulfillment of conditions precedent) (the “SPA"). Beijing Gas Group BVI is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Beijing Enterprises, which in turn is a substantial shareholder of the Company. Pursuant to the
SPA, Fresh Goal Limited has conditionally agreed to acquire from Beijing Gas Group BVI the entire issued share capital
of Beijing Gas Development Limited for a consideration of RMB1,632,795,828 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,063,851,945), subject to adjustments the exact amount of which shall be ascertained prior to the allotment and
issue of the consideration shares of 149,122,250 new shares of the Company.

The Directors believe that proposed acquisition under the SPA will expand the urban population coverage of the
Group's projects, increase the number of gas users and boost the natural gas sales, therefore generating new
momentum for the continuing growth of the Group’s business. The acquisition was approved by the shareholders at
the special general meeting held 17 March 2015 and has not been completed as at the date of this annual report. For
further details, please refer to the announcements of the Company in relation to the transaction dated 26 November
2014 and 24 June 2015 published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 March 2015 or during the year, none of the Directors had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

During the year, none of the Directors or their respective associates had any interest in any business apart from the
Company’s business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was less than 30% (being the Listing Rule disclosure threshold) of total turnover of the Group and the
aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers was less 30% (being the Listing Rule
disclosure threshold) of the total purchases of the Group.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

During the year, the Company repurchased a total of 19,210,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate
consideration of HK$232,381,438.40. Details of the repurchases are as follows:

Total number

of Shares Price per Share Aggregate

Month repurchased Highest Lowest consideration
HK$ HK$ HK$

December 2014 6,610,000 12.40 11.94 80,746,958.20
January 2015 11,734,000 12.56 11.74 141,268,460.20
February 2015 866,000 11.98 11.94 10,366,020.00
19,210,000 232,381,438.40

Up to the date of this annual report, all of the above repurchased Shares were cancelled.

The repurchases were made for the purpose of enhancing the net asset value per Share and earnings per Share and
was pursuant to the general mandate granted to the Board at the 2014 annual general meeting of the Company to
repurchase the Shares.

Emolument Policy

The Company’s emolument policy is to maintain fair and competitive packages with reference to industry standards
and prevailing market conditions. The Board is mindful that levels of remuneration must be sufficient to attract and
retain Directors and senior management to run the Company successfully, but at the same time, the Company should
avoid setting remunerations which are in excess of those necessary for this purpose.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and employees ranking vice-president or above are decided by the
Remuneration Committee while the remuneration of the non-executive Directors and other senior management are
determined by the Board, having regard to the Company’s results, individual performance and prevailing market
conditions.

The Company has adopted two share option schemes, on 6 February 2003 and 20 August 2013 respectively, as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the two schemes are set out in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Financial Report 2015.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which oblige the
Company to offer new shares to the existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.
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Donations

During the year, donations made by the Group were approximately HK$28,127,616.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considered all of them to be independent.
Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company maintained sufficient amount of public float under the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.
Post Balance Sheet Events

No significant event occurred after the date of the balance sheet.

Auditors

A resolution will be proposed in the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
ZHOU Si
Chairman

24 June 2015
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Deloitte.
=)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Gas
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 4 to 190, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at March
31, 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of Group as at March 31, 2015, and
of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

June 24, 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

LEEmE K EMEEBARR

For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z2 T —HAF=A=+—HILFE

Notes
k=2
Revenue WA 7
Cost of sales 8 6 B AR
Gross profit E 7
Other income Hl A 9
Other gains and losses H b 25 2 B3 48 10
Selling and distribution costs HE RO HKA
Administrative expenses TR
Finance costs W5 E A "
Share of results of associates FEMLEE & N A) 2 8
Share of results of joint ventures ~ fE{E & & A Al 2 ¥4
Profit before taxation B A5 A s A
Taxation I 12
Profit for the year &F = A i3
Other comprehensive income Hip 2w A
Item that will be reclassified HiegsamoEs
subsequently to profit or BmoER
loss:
Increase in fair value on AEHE ZRE
available-for-sale N F AN
investments
Item that will not be HerTgEmsize
reclassified subsequently il
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising MEEL Y
on translation I Z= 5
Other comprehensive income for £ & H fh 2 W A
the year
Total comprehensive income for 4 & 42 2 [ Yt A
the year
Profit for the year attributable to:  4F [ 4 71 53 /8
Owners of the Company ZiN/NESTE SN
Non-controlling interests FE P2 AR =
Total comprehensive income ETEHBARESRS
attributable to:
Owners of the Company FiNUNCIEZ Z =N
Non-controlling interests =R
Earnings per share iz 2 7 17
Basic BN
Diluted #a

O 4 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIERERA A

2015
—E-0F
HK$°000
THERT
31,686,028
(25,228,692)

6,457,336
674,352
50,554
(1,149,980)
(1,435,553)
(554,159)
309,057
458,129

4,809,736
(940,050)

3,869,686

30,228

3,899,914

3,371,053
498,633

3,869,686

3,398,309
501,605

3,899,914

HK67.30 cents &1l

HK65.48 cents &1l




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBIRRE

AtMarch 31,2015 A —ZE—HF=A=+—H

V
¥

2015
—E—FEF
Notes HK$'000
B 5 FET
Non-current assets ERBE E
Investment properties SRR ES 18 262,364
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB KRG 19 21,115,635
Prepaid lease payments TR E B 20 1,373,881
Investments in associates REtE NF 2 &E& 21 3,684,098
Investments in joint ventures REBRAIZEE 22 4,873,719
Available-for-sale investments AHREEZRE 23 236,469
Goodwill Ba 24 2,505,688
Other intangible assets HihmE A E 25 3,064,500
Deposits for acquisition of property, WEME - BE R
plant and equipment HEEe 275,809
Deposits for acquisition of subsidiaries, Y BE T & A &) -
joint ventures and associates BEANR R E
AT ise 104,120
Amount due from an associate i NCI P O 26 35,658
Deferred tax assets REFRIEE E 37 124,489
37,656,430
Current assets mENE E
Inventories T8 27 1,198,879
Amounts due from customers for BUWEFEZEH
contract work TEzE 28 797,749
Trade and other receivables 25 EWBRR R HAM
JFE Y AR 18 29 5,327,853
Amounts due from associates NI P O 26 26,276
Amounts due from joint ventures FEWEE AR RIE 22 271,980
Prepaid lease payments TR & RIE 20 42,323
Held-for-trading investments BHIEBEEKE 30 10,965
Pledged bank deposits B IRIRITE R 31 63,484
Bank balances and cash BITEFLEES 31 5,228,497
12,968,006
Current liabilities mEBAaRE
Trade and other payables ESRNERREAM
FETARIE 32 6,924,326
Amounts due to customers for ENEEZEHA
contract work TiExmmE 28 427,659
Taxation T 18 365,526
Amount due to a non-controlling FER BB A F
interest of a subsidiary FE 128 AR 4 25 5K 1B 33 1,077
Bank and other borrowings — RITREMEE —
due within one year B —F R 5 E 34 3,918,554
11,637,142
Net current assets BB EFRE 1,330,864
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTIDEE

38,987,294

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015

—E—-hF

2014
—T—MmF
HK$'000
F&T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ENANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e P BRI R &)

AtMarch 31,2015 R-ZE—FRE=A=+—H

2015

—E—FE

Notes HK$'000
M 5E FHExT

Equity
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings —
due after one year
Deferred taxation

R
&N
ffé 78

BEARBHEEALZ

s
JEfR AR R 25

FRBEE
RITREMEE—
R—FREH
i FE TR

35 50,019
18,346,298

18,396,317
3,039,183

21,435,500

34 16,817,008
37 734,786

17,551,794

38,987,294

2014
—T-mF
HK$'000
FHET

The consolidated financial statements on pages 4 to 190 were HFA4E10B 2HEEMBHREREN T —
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on June A /N A =+ H & E F =t fF I BT

24,2015 and are signed on its behalf by: ZEoOWHNUATATREREE:
ZHOU Si LIU Ming Hui

AR 285 12

Director Director

EE EE

06 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

GERREBER

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE T —AF=A=+—HILFE

9
¥
Y

’
Y
4

Attributable to owners of the Company

At April 1, 2013 RZE-=%NA—-A
Other comprehensive income for the year 4 [t 2 E A
Profit for the year FEERN
Total comprehensive income for the year  E 2 EIl A 28
Acquisition of additional interest of WERM A REMER
subsidiaries (note 38(8)) (H3388))
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39(C) ~ WEKEAT
(H=£390)
Issue of shares EG10)
Exercise of share options TERRE
Capital contribution from non-controlling i/ 2 &1 3k £ ki 25
interests of subsidiaries &
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to WEBA AR ERRE
non-controlling interests #5ZRE
Dividends paid BRRE
Transfer 1
At March 31,2014 R=F-N%F
ZA=t-8

SRAAAEEA
Employee
share-based Investment  Properties Non-
Share Share  compensation  Translation revaluation revaluation  Special  Capital  Statutory Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reseve  reseve  reserve funds profits Total interests Total
EEBRH BE nE 5 X AR Zit EZae

BA  BRHEE AMGEE EXRG EREE EHEE 1) 1) 2 petil @i 323 it
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FHT FEL FHT FhEL FHT TEr FEx TR  TEx FHT FAEL FHET FHT

(note36)  (note 36) (notei) (notefi)
(36)  (KeE3e) (R3i) (i)

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 O 7
—E-hFHBERE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
hEEREERE

For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

Capital Non-
Capital redemption Statutory Accumulated controlling
reserve reserve funds profits Total interests Total
-2 % EE FER
R WERHE £8 EHptl] E5 [ $: &t
HK$'000 HKS'00  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TER Tén TEz TER TiEn T#n TER
(noteii)
(Wizii)

(78,692) 628194 6,172,128

3,371,053

3,371,053

- (605,538)
202,989 (202,989)

(74174)

LERLE] 8,735,417

15,783,489

27,256
3,371,083

3,398,309

4518

48,29
(232,757)

(605,538)

18,396,317

2,373,523

2912
498,633

501,605

(16,928)

313,546

122,058

(254,621)

3,039,183

18,157,012

30228
3,869,686

3,899,914

(12410)

313,546
48,29
(232,757)

122,058

21,435,500

BEADARAA
Employee
share-based Investment  Properties
Share Share ion  Translation luati [uati Special
capital pl’EI’"iUITI reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve
EERH RE nE 3
Bx  RfEE BHER EXRFE ERERE  ERER [
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
Tin TiEn T#n TiEn TiEn TEn Tz
(note36)  (note36) (notei)
(Wt36)  (M&36) (&)
AtApril 1, 2014 R=Z-BF
MA-R 49953 8,189,749 794,098 1,602
Other comprehensive income FRANZE
for the year KA (1,979 29,235
Profit for the year FRER = =
Total comprehensive income for ~ FE2H
the year kagE (1,979)
Acquisition of additional interest I I & 2 7 @ 5h
of subsidaries (note 33(4) i (HiE38A)
Acquisttion of subsidiaries WENBAR
(note 39) (Hf3£39) — =
Exercise of share options g 63451 (15,413)
Repurchase of shares mERR (192)  (232,565) -
Transfer to accumulated profits SR BB RiE K E
upon forfeiture of share options & 257
Capital contribution from il PEEA
non-controling interests of B HE
subsidiaries
Dividends paid by subsidiariesto BB 2 FIE
non-controling interests FERER
bdi3:)
Dividends paid BRRE
Transfer [
At March 31, 2015 R-B-1%
=A=1+-H 50,019 8,020,635 1,368 792,119 36,355 1,601 1,602
Notes: B EE -
(i) The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the (i)
nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the
group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares in 1995.
(ii) In accordance with statutory requirements in the People’s Republic of China, (i)

08

other than Hong Kong (the “PRC"), subsidiaries registered in the PRC are
required to transfer a certain percentage of the annual net income from
accumulated profits to the statutory funds, until the statutory funds is
accumulated up to 50% of its registered capital. Under normal circumstances,
the statutory funds is not allowed to be distributed to the subsidiary’s
shareholders as dividends. The statutory funds shall only be used for making
good losses, capitalisation into paid-in capital and expansion of its
productions and operations.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A

AR 2 B R o e AN A RIFTUR AR B B A R 2 AR 17
EEERRFRMN—NNTF EmASEE =AM
ETRBAETARRIROEEL ZH °

RETEARLNE ( [HE] - TEEEE) 00X
SEFRE + B B AP B A BB RAHa M H
ERBAETESLBEEEES  ERAEESE
HEEMEARS0% B - E—RERT EEES
PEDIRTZMBRARBRIEDRE < EEESER
RIERAmER  EMEBAEARBEREERS
iE o



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

=] IE!%/)“JE% )

For the year ended March 31,2015 &= - —FHF =

2015
—E—-1F
HK$'000
TR

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

Change in fair value of investment

properties

Allowance for trade receivables
Allowance for amount due from an

associate

Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment

Release of prepaid lease payments
Amortisation of intangible assets
Change in fair value of held-for-trading

investments

Loss on disposal of property, plant and

equipment

Loss on deemed disposal of an

associate

Gain on deemed disposal of joint

ventures
Interest expense

Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures

Interest income

Operating cash flows before movements

in working capital
Decrease in inventories

Increase in amounts due from customers

for contract work

Increase in trade and other receivables

Decrease (increase) in amounts due from

associates

Increase in trade and other payables

Increase (decrease) in amounts due to
customers for contract work

Decrease in amounts due to non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries

Cash from operations

PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid

NET CASH GENERATED FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

REXK
B % A 4t A
RELA T 2
KEWMERZ A FE
.ﬁ.ﬁij)
B 5 R R R B
JRE L Bt & X A R K
& fm

mE - BEEREZ
e
BEBANHERR
BREEHE
RIEEEREZ
NP EEE
HEME  BER
RigZE1E
BIELEBZE AT
ZE1E
BIELHERZ
NCIPAL &

M EFX
R R NI 31
ﬁE'f AM/‘\ %ga
%'JEJ%U\

%ﬁiﬁfﬂlb

FEERD
EREPFP 26K TER
TE 3 0

B 5 W R 3k & H e
W BR TR 42 N

JE g B & N \) BROIE R A
(3% 1n)

B S ENERRRHME
< BR TH 12 N
EREFZAHNIER
I8 18 hn Ot 4)

FE ST B A | JEE AR B
7 SR IR R

REXBELRS
ENPECEMREHR

REXBMBRLFE

4,809,736
(7,296)
57,072
145,646
811,874
47,976
71,544
(2,387)

14,643

(205,562)
554,159
(309,057)
(458,129)

(94,604)

5,435,615
9,160

(268,384)

(591,922)

91,627
611,805
290,848

(15,622)

5,563,127
(910,349)

4,652,778

Y

AS+—ALFE ¥

L4

(|
2014
—E-mF
HK$'000
FET
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
HERERERE

For the year ended March 31,2015 #ZE T —HAF=A=+—HILFE sg
¥
2015 2014
—E-RF —E-ImF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 5 TERT FHETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZES
Interest received B U F B 94,604
Repayment from associates BEE N AIER 66,439
Advance to associates MEEE A REL 2 B =
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, W - W E & &
plant and equipment Effize (275,809)
Deposits for acquisition of subsidiaries,  WEKE AR - &2 A 7
joint ventures and associates REE N RIS (60,163)
Placement of pledged bank deposits EERRITERTFA =
Withdrawal of pledge bank deposits R ERRITERK 187,264
Addition of property, plant and REWME Bz REHE
equipment (3,617,366)
Addition of prepaid lease payments ANERNEERE (270,128)
Addition of available-for-sale investments 7 & A] ft i & 1% & (44,632)
Addition of other intangible assets NEHMERLEE (93,236)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-  H & 7] ff H & 7 1% &
sale investments Fr 1S 3k 18 382
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant H &Y - E N R E N
and equipment and prepaid lease BNEEREMBR
payments 18 33,705
Proceeds from disposal of held-for- LEREEBREMSE
trading investments A 235
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash and W 2% - MK FIEIR &
cash equivalents acquired FIE&EEER 39 (720,843)
Addition of investments in associates NERBEARIZERSE (69,117)
Addition of investments in joint ventures REBER AL QA F 2 RE (506,700)
Repayment from non-controlling interests 7 K & A & 3k #2° A% 4 25
of subsidiaries BN 5,287
Advance to non-controlling interests of  [& i B 2~ 7] FE 4% A% # %
subsidiaries e 2 B3R
Repayment from (advance to) joint BEERAER(MEE
ventures A AEH B9 E %) 95,952
Capital injection into an associate Mg QA EEE (12,657)
Dividend paid by an associate AN E BT E =
Dividend paid by joint ventures EERAIEMNKRE 16,595
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RE EB T AR £ 28 (5,170,188)

1 O CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
GERTRERE

—RFE=ZA=+—BLHFE

For the year ended March 31, 2015 &= - %

9

4
gﬂ
¥

Note
Fff 5

FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEH
Interest paid EEREESS
Repurchase of shares 5] B iz 1
Proceed of exercise of share options TR EERTIS 2078
Dividends paid 2T &
New bank and other borrowings raised ~ #T &S #HET R EMEE
Repayments of bank and other BEBTREMEER

borrowings
Advance from non-controlling interests B /& /A &) 3F 12 A% 7 25

of a subsidiary EL b
Repayment to non-controlling interests  [A) Fff /& & &) 3F 22 B% # 2%

of subsidiaries B
(Repayment to) advance from associates  ([m] B & /A 7] % 70)

NI N

(Repayment to) advance from joint (A& & RAER)

ventures & ERAIRK
Acquisition of additional interests in U BE B BB A R BB SN 25

subsidiaries 38

Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries

Dividend paid by subsidiaries to non-
controlling interests

NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF THE YEAR

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash

BB B IR B M 25
HE

B 8 2 Bk 5 FE R A
s 2 BB

METE(FRA)RER
& FH

RERBEEEEEAZ
(R &) 8 n 3 8

FAZHRERBEEHE
HHE

EXEH o8

FRZBERBREEE
HE

RERASEERESE
B A
RITERREE

2015
—E—-1F
HK$'000
TR

(554,159)
(232,757)
48,296
(605,538)
7,237,327
(6,469,184)
37,019

(24,481)

(12,410)

122,058

(254,621)

(708,450)

(1,225,860)

6,453,899

5,228,497

5,228,497

—_ZT—

H

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

nvJj»\

BB HRRMEE

For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE

12

General

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of its registered office and
principal place of business are disclosed in the section headed
“Corporate Information” of the Group’s annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out note 46.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries is Renminbi (“RMB”). As the
Company is listed entity in Hong Kong, the directors of the
Company consider that it is appropriate to present the
consolidated financial statements in HK$.

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs")

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
and a new Interpretation issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the
current year.

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKFRS 27

Investment entities

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities

Novation of agriculture and
continuation of hedge
accounting

Levies

Amendments to HKAS 39

HK(IFRIC)-Int 21

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs and a new
Interpretation in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 11
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 16

and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 27

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Financial instruments'

Revenue from contracts with
customers?

Accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint operations®

Disclosure initiative®

Clarification of acceptable
methods of depreciation and
amortisation®

Agriculture: Bearer plants*

Defined benefit plans: Employee
contributions®

Equity method in separate
financial statements®

Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its
associate or joint venture®

Investment entities: Applying the
consolidation exception®

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 cycle®

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2011-2013 cycle?

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 cycle*

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
e MR MR (&)

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e P BHRERNE &

For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 - —HAF A =+—HIFE

&

¥ 1
\"

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014.

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments”

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 was
subsequently amended in 2010 to include requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition, and further amended in 2013 to include the new
requirements for general hedge accounting. Another revised
version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 mainly to include a)
impairment requirements for financial assets and b) limited
amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through other
comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI”) measurement category for
certain simple debt instruments.

'I 4 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
i _

e R R ME (8)

For the year ended March 31,2015 HE T —AF=-A=+—RALFE
2. Application of New and Revised Hong 2. EHA
Kong Financial Reporting Standards %
(“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued) o

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” are subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business
model whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and
that have contractual terms of the financial asset give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured at their
fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In
addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in the fair value
of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in
other comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

BRI ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z2 T —HAF=A=+—HILFE

2. Application of New and Revised Hong 2.
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued) &8

IR EEREIR TR
(

16 =

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9
requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in the
financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire
amount of the change in the fair value of the financial
liability designated as fair value through profit or loss was
presented in profit or loss.

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for
expected credit losses and changes in those expected
credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no
longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred
before credit losses are recognised.

The new general hedge accounting requirements retain
the three types of hedge accounting. However, greater
flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions
eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the
types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments
and the types of risk components of non-financial items
that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the
effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with
the principle of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective
assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer
required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an
entity’s risk management activities have also been
introduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
HKFRS 9 in the future will have impact on the classification and
measurement in respect of the Group’s available-for-sale
investments but not on the Group’s other financial assets and
financial liabilities. It is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of that effect until a detailed review has been
completed.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with
customers”

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and
the related Interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies

a performance obligation

For the year ended March 31, 2015 &= - %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e PR R R M R ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z2 T —HAF=A=+—HILFE

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with
customers” (Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
HKFRS 15 in the future may have an impact on the amounts
reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until the Group
performs a detailed review.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
the other new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the Group's financial performance and positions and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Significant Accounting Policies

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment properties and
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value for the purposes of measuring inventories in
HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

B PR R AR A R ()

For the year ended March 31, 2015 = - %

20 =

—hFE=A=+t—BILHFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

3 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted (the
carrying amount of the net assets attributable to non-controlling
interests) and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 =T —RAF=A=+—HIEFE

22

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits” respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
“Share-based payment” at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets held
for sale and discontinued operations” are measured in
accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made
on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another HKFRS.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), and
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised as of that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see
the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the CGUs (or groups of CGUs) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the CGU is
less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in subsequent periods.
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For the year ended March 31,2015 B ZE T —RAF=-A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of
profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’'s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
“Impairment of assets” as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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For the year ended March 31,2015 B ZE T —RAF=-A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture, or when the investment (or a portion thereof) is
classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in
the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is
a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition in accordance with HKAS 39. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued,
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
when the equity method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associates
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be classified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group (such as a sale or contribution of assets),
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue from sales of natural gas, liquefied petroleum gas
(“LPG"), coke and gas appliances are recognised when the gas
or goods are delivered and title has passed.

Deposits received by the Group prior to meeting the above for
revenue recognition criteria are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position under current liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

G RS SRR T (A

For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE |—| ]

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Connection revenue from gas pipeline construction is recognised
when the outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably and
the stage of completion at the end of the reporting period can
be measured reliably. Revenue from gas connection contracts is
recognised on the percentage of completion method, measured
by reference to the proportion of contract cost incurred for
work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract
costs. When the outcome of a gas connection contract cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent
of contract cost incurred that it is probable to be recoverable.

The Group’s policy for the recognition of revenue from
construction services is described in the accounting policy for
construction contracts below.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant leases.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income
from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land (classified as
finance leases) and buildings held for use in the production or
supply of goods and services, or for administrative purposes,
(other than construction in progress and described below) are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than construction in progress less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Building under development for future owner-
occupied purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for production
or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of prepaid lease
payments provided during the construction period is included as
part of costs of buildings under construction. Buildings under
construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment
losses. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and
condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation. Investment properties include land held for
undetermined future use, which is regarded as held for capital
appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following
have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research

and development expenditure (Continued)

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition
criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
asset is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis that
are acquired separately.

Other intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Other intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, measured based on the proportion that
contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to
the estimated total contract costs, except where this would not
be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in
contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to
the extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its
receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent
of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.
Contract costs are recognised as expense in the period in which
they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is
shown as amounts due from customers for contract work. For
contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the
surplus is shown as amounts due to customers for contract
work. Amounts received before the related work is performed
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position,
as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work
performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under trade and
other receivables.

Inventories

Inventories, including construction materials, gas appliances and
gas for sales, LPG, coke, consumables and spare parts, are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of
inventories are determined on a weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating lease is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance or
an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis, except for those that
are classified and accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements, the
entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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For the year ended March 31,2015 B ZE T —RAF=-A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

o exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings;

o exchange differences on transactions entered into in order
to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see the accounting
policies below); and

3 exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.

34 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

ERERAF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

-

T
EXREEHX (&)

5h s
ERESENEEEROM B RE
B AZEBNNEEBAINER
ONEFBZRZEXZ A BT
PERHER - WS AR AN EEE
ZEBHEBEARZAZAITEREN
BME - MAFEDRIASNE R BRI
EXFHERBEATEERBITER
EM]E - &FEW$I§M%%#
BERFERREE AN TENRE

ERBAELEREEEEANEM
ERmER A TERPISN

e HERAREEMEZEEMEAMN
SNEIERELZRE  WREAZE
SMEEBER S AR AR A
AZEEEMMRA

o REHMETIHEERRMILRS
(RATEBR)WENLZH
IS4

e RBUREEMNENEBKERIEE
MEEGEETTAARESEE
(AmMBEREBIINEBREFE—
BB RIHEXZBENENHE
fEEBRAER IREEES
HERBRBEHROBEERS -



For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 =T —RAF=A=+—HIEFE

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollar) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributable to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation before
January 1, 2005 is treated as non-monetary foreign currency
items of the acquirer and reported using the historical cost
prevailing at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after January 1, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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36

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation’ as reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for
a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z2 T —HAF=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction on production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL"), loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial assets. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as
FVTPL, of which interest income included in net gains or losses.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of the Group
comprise held for trading financial assets.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near future; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of an identified portfolio
of financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets and is
included in the “other gains and losses” line item. Fair value is
determined in the manner described in note 6.
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For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z2 T —HAF=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
including trade and other receivables, amounts due from
associates and joint ventures, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as (a) loan and receivable, (b)
held to maturity investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as available-for-sale and are traded in an active market are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale monetary
financial assets relating to interest income calculated using the
effective interest method and dividends on available-for-sale
equity investments are recognised in profit or loss. Other
changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale financial
assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation
reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on
financial assets below).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends
is established.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be
settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the
end of each reporting period (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as default and delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio
of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments and observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial assets’ original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in
the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the
date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, impairment
losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to
an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation
reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premium or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is
recognised on an effective interest basis.
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For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z2 T —HAF=A=+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVTPL represent financial liabilities held for
trading, which comprise derivatives that are not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

At the end of the reporting period subsequent to initial
recognition, financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair
value, with changes in fair value arising on remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amount due to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary and
bank and other borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligation are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Equity settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received is
determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (employee share-based compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to employee share-based
compensation reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the
fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately
to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in employee
share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as a
deduction from the carrying amount of the relevant asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

For the year ended March 31, 2015 & %= —
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Government grants (Continued)

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite
useful life to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above) (continued)
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the following are the key assumptions
concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount which is the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and value in use of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate present value. When the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at March 31, 2015, the carrying
amount of goodwill was HK$2,505,688,000 (2014:
HK$2,337,439,000) with no impairment loss recognised. Details
of the recoverable amount calculation disclosed in note 24.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account
the estimated residual value. The Group assesses annually the
residual value and the useful life of the property, plant and
equipment and if the expectation differs from the original
estimates, such differences from the original estimates will
impact the depreciation charges in the year in which the
estimates change.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

B PR R AR A R ()

For the year ended March 31, 2015 = - %

48 &

—HEF=ZA=+—-BLHFE

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

Deferred taxation

As at March 31, 2015, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$4,264,561,000 (2014: HK$3,718,070,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset in relation to
these unused tax losses approximately to HK$4,175,099,000
(2014: HK$3,635,208,000) has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In cases where
there are future profits generated to utilise the tax losses, a
material deferred tax assets may arise, which would be
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the period in which the
estimated future profits are expected.

Revenue recognition of gas connection contract
Construction revenue from gas connection contracts is
recognised on the percentage of completion method, measured
by reference to the proportion of the contract costs incurred for
the work performed to date over the estimated total contract
costs. Accordingly, any changes to the estimated total contract
cost may have material impact on the contract revenue
recognised in each accounting period over the contract term.

Equity settled share-based payment transactions

As described in note 3, at the end of the reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to employee share-based
compensation reserve. Therefore, the directors of the Company
are required to exercise judgment in the estimation of the
number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. After
the assessment, as at March 31, 2015, the directors of the
Company consider that the option being granted during the
year ended March 31, 2015 will not vest as the condition for
exercising those share options is not probable to meet. For the
year ended March 31, 2015, no share-based payment expense
is recognised (2014 nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
i a B R AR Y ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged throughout the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include the amount due to a non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary and bank and other borrowings disclosed in notes 33
and 34 respectively, and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital disclosed in note 35,
reserves and accumulated profits as disclosed in consolidated
statements of changes in equity.

The management reviews the capital structure by considering
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

Financial Instruments

Categories of financial instruments

EXEREE

AR EEELAA SRR AEE R
TERETEENSEEEEEE
% R E BB E S R AT 6
ABRER FR - AEEZ EER
B 5 T o

AEEZEAEBEREEE (KRR
2 B M 5533 %34 BB 2 FE (MY B
DNRGEERER Z REARRITRE
tiEE) RARREES AREGEZ (A
RH 35 EBEZEETRAUARES
EnBEREBEFEBE LR AAMNE
%) °

EEEREFREANES R EZHF
EXERZEARRBSERNERE - ER
EEEzEZ  AREKERRNK
B BUTHBRERBETHEXELRA
BERFOHEBERERE -

ERTA

Financial assets TRLEE
Available-for-sale investments ARBERE
Held-for-trading investments RIEEERE

Loans and receivables (including cash

and cash equivalents) RekReEMBEIER)
Financial liabilities Eal =R
Amortised cost B SH AR

ERREYRE (B

SRTEER
2015 2014
—E—REF —E—E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TH&T
236,469 162,984
10,965 8,813
8,429,408 10,165,554
25,567,709 23,966,821
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-
sale investments, held-for-trading investments, amounts due
from/to associates/joint ventures, trade and other receivables,
trade and other payables, amount due to a non-controlling
interests of a subsidiary, bank and other borrowings, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risks

Currency risk

The Group collects most of its revenue in RMB and most of the
expenditures as well as capital expenditures are also
denominated in RMB. However, the Group has certain bank
balances, amount due to a non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary and bank and other borrowings that are not
denominated in functional currency of the respective group
entities. The appreciation or devaluation of RMB against foreign
currencies may have positive or negative impact on the results
of operations of the Group.
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(CONTINUED)
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Financial Instruments (Continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy but the directors monitor foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise. As at end of the reporting period, the
carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in foreign currency are as follows:

TR T A (&)
B EKREE R SR BK (E)

177_1*5/—5/@2?(?'F

B R (&)
AEBERYENEHIREK BE
FREERINERAR WAFE K
SEREUMEANINERR - NREH
R AKEUINEFEZ2EREER
BEZEEEDT :

Assets Liabilities
BE =R

2015 2014 2015 2014
—F-I1f ¥ 0NF —FT-HF ZFHMEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F& T FHET FAET
United States Dollars (“USD") 7t ([FET]) 561,911 995,204 (5 vilirkl 13,727,926
HK$ BT 32,986 208,654 — =
Japanese Yen (“JPY") El (re&ln — — 540,500 590,493
Euro Dollar (“EURO") BT (TB T ]) — — 26,056 37,408

The carrying amounts of inter-company balances of certain
group entities which were denominated in foreign currency are
as follows:

Nt EZE TEBEER 2 QA A
RERRREELT

Liabilities
a1&
2015 2014
—E-HF —ET—@EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FAT

usb ETT

443,096 64,408
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group'’s sensitivity to a 5% (2014:
5%) increase and decrease in RMB against respective foreign
currencies. 5% (2014: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currencies
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period for a 5% (2014: 5%) change in
foreign currencies rates. A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profit where RMB strengthen 5% (2014: 5%)
against the relevant currencies. For a 5% (2014: 5%) weakening
of RMB against the relevant currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the result for the year and the balance
below would be negative.

6.

SR T A (&)
BB EREEBERBEGE)

5 B (1)

B g ()

BREE D
TRAMANEBEZGARE X SINEF
BEEREES%(ZZE—HF :5%) 28K
RRE 5% (ZF —WHF :5%) BMA=E
DEBABRNB2RINERBRTA Z
BRERELE WRKREEERINEE
REBEAIRE B BT 2T - BRRE
DMEBRBETEINZIINEFEE
BIEE WHINEER Z75% (=T —
PU4F :5%) B EHR ks B ARFAELR
Ho TRMRZIEEEHMARER
EHEEFAES%(ZFT —MF :5%)
B BRERENEEFRMEA -WMAR
B AR R ES R (T — MF
5%)F BEHFEXEEBKNARER
MZEE BTiEBRGEEEH -

Increase (decrease)
in post-tax profit
for the year

F B BR B 1 55 78 0 ORL )

USD impact ETRE
HK$ impact BT E
JPY impact HExZZ
EURO impact BT &

2015 2014
—E-HF _—ZT-WOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THET
600,411 477,477
(1,237) (7,825)
20,269 22,144

977 1,403

620,420 493,199

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group manages its interest rate exposure based on interest
rate level as well as potential impact on the Group’s financial
position arising from volatility. Interest rate swap is the hedging
instrument most commonly used by the Group to manage
interest rate exposure.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
amounts due from associates, amount due to a non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary and fixed-rate bank and other
borrowings issued by the Group (see notes 26, 33 and 34 for
details of these borrowings respectively).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances and floating-rate bank
and other borrowings (see notes 31 and 34 for details of bank
balances and these borrowings respectively). It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rate risk for both floating-rate bank and
other borrowings, together with the interest capitalised to
construction in progress at the end of the reporting period.
Floating-rate bank balances have not been included in the
sensitivity analysis as the management considers that the
interest rate would not fluctuate significantly in the near future
and therefore the financial impact to the group is not
significant. A change of 100 basis points (2014: 100 basis
points) was applied to the yield curves and interest rate on both
floating-rate bank and other borrowings, together with the
interest capitalised to construction in progress. The applied
change is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
If the interest rate of variable rate bank and other borrowings,
together with the interest capitalised to construction in progress
had been 100 basis points (2014: 100 basis points) higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax
profit for the year, after taking amount of interest capitalised,
would decrease/increase by HK$148,903,000 (2014:
HK$130,530,000).

For the year ended March 31, 2015 &= - %

6.
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

Equity price risk

The Group's available-for-sale investments and held-for-trading
investments are measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity
price risk. The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk
profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks of listed equity instrument at the
reporting date. A 10% (2014: 10%) change is used when
reporting equity price risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in equity price.

For the year ended March 31, 2015, if the market bid prices of
the listed investments had been 10% (2014: 10%) higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax
profit for the year would increase/decrease by HK$916,000 (2014:
HK$736,000) and the Group’s investment revaluation reserve
will increase/decrease by HK$4,163,000 (2014: HK$1,239,000)
respectively. This is mainly attributable to the changes in fair
values of the listed held-for-trading investments and available-
for-sale investments respectively.

Credit risk

As at March 31, 2015, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties or debtors
provided by the Group is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt at each half-reporting end date and
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial
instruments is limited because the counterparties are reputable
banks in the PRC and banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

At the end of the reporting period, other than concentration of
credit risk on amounts due from a single associate of
HK$35,658,000 (2014: HK$247,743,000). The associate
operates in the business of sales of piped natural gas and gas
pipeline construction in the PRC and no default payment history
was noted. In order to minimise the credit risk on amount due
from an associate, the directors of the Company closely
monitors the subsequent settlement and does not grant long
credit period to the counterparty. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significant
reduced. The Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk on trade receivables, with exposure
spread over a number of sub-contractors, commercial and
household customers.
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(CONTINUED)
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For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE |—| ]

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The policy of allowances for doubtful debts of the Group is
based on the evaluation of collectability and aging analysis of
accounts and on management’s estimate. In determining
whether impairment is required, the Group takes into
consideration of aging status and likelihood of collection.
Specific allowance is only made for receivables that are unlikely
to be collected and is recognised on the difference between the
estimated future cash flows expected to receive discounted
using the original effective interest rate and the carrying value.
If the financial conditions of customers of the Group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowance may be required.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. In addition to
issuance of new shares, the Group also relies on bank and other
borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. The management
monitors the utilisation of bank and other borrowings. As at
March 31, 2015, the Group had available unutilised long-term
bank loans facilities of HK$51,069,973,000 (2014:
HK$45,658,724,000). Details of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings at March 31, 2015 are set out in note 34.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay.

The tables include both interest and principal gross cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. ©ET A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and BiEREREBERBER (8)
policies (Continued)
Market risks (Continued) 5 E B ()
Liquidity tables REE T X
Weighted Carrying
average amount
contractual ~ Payable Between  Between Total  at the end
interest on Lessthan 1to3  3months  Between Over undiscounted of reporting
rate demand 1month  months  to1year 1to5years Syears  cash flows period
mEYHE ZEER SR —-fEB =f8A RER REEHR
R bk 8 -8 Z=MA Z-F -521f IENLE RERLE 2RER
%  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TEr Thrn TiEx TEL TEL TAT TET TET
At March 31, 2015 R-Z-RF=A=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3 £74 £ B & &
Trade and bill payables Z2HRNERRERZE 924,718 455128 1,433,787 404,342 3217975 3,217,975
Other payables and accrued charges £ fi f& (1 BR 18 2 fE =t B — 1078445 251,260 112,066 - 141,771 1,441,771
Amounts due to non-controlling ERHBA A R R E R
interests of subsidiaries 2B 171,324 171,324 171,324
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE
— fived rate —E8 - 367,893 2,376,359 416,228 3,160,480 2,812,752
— floating rate —%8 155,605 3,562,350 14,169,693 2,339,787 20,227,435 17,922,810
Amount due toanon-controlling ~ JEff — KB A A
interest of a subsidiary FERIER 2 A
172,401 2,158,768 706,388 5,476,096 16,950,394 2,756,015 28,220,062 25,567,709
At March 31, 2014 R-Z-ME=A=+-H

Trade and bill payables BHRARFREMNZR

Other payables and accrued charges £ ftt B (48R 18 |2 JE =t B
Amounts due to non-controlling EATH B A R R R 4 5
interests of subsidiaries 258
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE
— fixed rate —ER
— floating rate —ER
Amount due toanon-controling ~ FEN —RIKB A 7
interest of a subsidiary FERER KB

fidh 7% Y ) & ) B B B Rl Y 5 B R

The amounts included above for variable rate bank borrowings
are subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ
to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

B 0 £ 5 FIE - BIM £ 50T 8RS
EEHEHSERE RS -
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6.

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments
This note provides information about how the Group determines
fair values of various financial assets.

(i)

58

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined.

Financial assets

TRMEE

Held-for-trading
investments

RIEEERE

Available-for-sale
investments

AHHERE

Available-for-sale
investments

AHHERE

Fair value
AFE
2015 2014
—E—1F —ZF—

Listed equity securities in

Hong Kong — HK$10,965,000
BB EHRAEES

— 10,965,000 % JT

Listed equity securities in
Hong Kong — HK$41,627,000

EBLTRAES
—41,627,0003% 7T

Club debentures in

Hong Kong — HK$723,000
EEEMES

—723,0005& T

There were no transfer between instruments in Level 1

and 2 in both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
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Q For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

Financial Instruments (Continued) 6.

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on
a recurring basis
The fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cashflow
analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
carried at amortised cost approximate their respective fair
values.

Revenue 7.

Revenue mainly represents the net amounts received and
receivable for sales of piped gas, LPG, coke and gas appliances
and construction contract revenue from gas connection
contracts by the Group for the year and is analysed as follows:

TR T A (&)
SRMEEDQTENEE)
(i) REFEELELFZENF(E

HEZSBMAERSMAR
AFE
HeMmEERERABAFE
DRBEAR . EEBEAIZIRR
TREDIMERE

ARREFRRREHKRAT R
ZEMEMEERSBRABZER
HESEESEFZAFERS -

A

WATZEFALAEEHEEEBRAR
RoBIEAHR - MERRERE A
RREMREBRAENZIREAOEA
Z B R EWGRIEFRE AT

2015 2014
—E-RF —T-IEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Sales of piped gas BEBRARHEE

Gas connection income R B A

Sales of LPG BAEE RRHEE
Sales of coke and gas appliances ME R REREHEE

12,929,203 10,884,700
4,658,842 3,837,397
14,078,066 11,276,912
19,917 8,988

31,686,028 26,007,997
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8. Segment Information

Information reported to the Group's chief operating decision
maker (“CODM"), being the managing director of the Group,
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance focuses on types of goods or services
rendered which is also consistent with the basis of organisation
of the Group

The Group had acquired 100% equity interest of Fortune Gas
Investment Holdings Limited (“Fortune Gas”) during the year
ended March 31, 2014. The CODM reviewed the results of

Fortune Gas being consolidated by the Group and Fortune Gas
is a single operating segment.

The CODM reviewed the results of Zhongyu Gas Holdings
Limited (“Zhongyu Gas”), an associate of the Group, being
shared by the Group under equity accounting and Zhongyu Gas
is a single operating segment.

The Group's reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

() Sales of piped gas;

(i)  Gas connection;

(i) ~ Sales of LPG;

(iv)  Sales of coke and gas appliances;
(v)  Fortune Gas; and

(vi)  Zhongyu Gas

Information regarding the above segments is presented below.

CH|NA GAS HOLD|NGS |_||\/||TED
ZERAERA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

TEEH

AASBITEZERRE(ZTRLEE
REED(AIAEBEFRKLIE) 2R
NEETERDERDBRRFMEZ
ERETPRAREHEMIRE 2
B HREAREE 2 ABERE 2

BE-_ZT-OF=A=1T—BL#F
F AEBEERBEHRRAREERSE
ARI([EHMR]) 2 100% I #E - =
LERREBRHUGEAREZEAKE
Wzam%ﬁ%ﬁ AEMMRAE

L R
REDER -

TELERAREENKEREGGE

SAEAEEEEANEEEE QB FH

MWTkE@ A(TRHRMR) 2%
CBEFRRRRAE—RKEDE -

]

RESENBRSLEIFR  AEE
ZRRREEHHBMT

() BEERARHEE:
(i) MRBEREA

(i) BAEBAMRIHE
(iv) MERREREBHE
v BHHRR R

(vi) AR

BRLEDMZEHMRTXZY -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Segment Information (Continued) 8. Z7HEHRE
Segment revenues and results DEWMARESE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results $‘§ B2 EEEN A D 2 WA
by reportable and operating segment. REEDHTMAT -
For the year ended March 31, 2015 BE-—ZFE—a"AF=-HFA=1+—H1I
FE
Sales of
coke
Sales of Gas Salesof andgas Fortune Zhongyu Segment
piped gas connection LPG appliances Gas Gas Total
EE RERR

RARR MR RIEBH B&RE Eit ¥ il
HE BB RHE HE MR MR BE
HKS$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FER TR THERT THERT FTER TR THERT

Segment revenue from REINAREZ
external customers 2 EBURA 11,649,169 4,287,285 14,067,030 19,917 1,662,627 — 31,686,028

Segment profit 2 B A 1,648,360 2,207,505 320,898 703,762 142,890 5,023,592

Change in fair value of REMELNFE

investment properties e 7,296
Interest and other gains B R EH A Y% 94,961
Allowance for amount due  fi& Ut B 4 1\ 7] BR

from an associate A (145,646)
Unallocated corporate AOBARFY

expenses (222,266)
Finance costs g R (550,341)
Share of results of unlisted F§1E JEETEEE

associates NEIZEE 164,165
Share of results of joint BHEEARZ

ventures E 437,975
Profit before taxation R % A1 V4 4,809,736
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) (CONTINUED)
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8. Segment Information (Continued) 8. AEEHR (&)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEBR AR EE (88)
For the year ended March 31, 2014 BE_ZE-—-MFE=/F=+—HI
FE
Sales of
coke
Sales of Gas Sales of and gas Fortune  Zhongyu  Segment
piped gas  connection LPG  appliances Gas Gas Total

BERA MR BIEAH RERE Eit R Pax: !
RIHE BB REE HE it R ok
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THET THET TET TET THET TET TET

Segment revenue from REINRBEZ
external customers 2 EBUA

Segment profit (loss) 8 A (1)

Change in fair value of REMENTE

investment properties #g)

Interest and other gains FB I H At Yo 22

Unallocated corporate F N NG5S
expenses

Finance costs M%ER

Loss on deemed disposal of 18 & 1 & & & A
an associate AzER

Gain on deemed disposal of 18 &H &4 & D
joint ventures Az W

Share of results of unlisted &1} 3E I B &
associates RElZEE

Share of results of joint BEEEARZ
ventures E

Profit before taxation B B AT A1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Segment Information (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

All of the segment revenue reported above is from external
customers and no inter-segment sales are noted for current and
prior years.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Except
for segment profit of Fortune Gas and Zhongyu Gas, segment
profit (loss) for remaining reportable segments represents the
profit earned by or loss from each segment without allocation
of bank interest income and other gains, central administration
cost, change in fair value of investment properties, allowance
for on amount due from an associate, loss on deemed disposal
of an associate, gain on deemed disposal of joint ventures,
share of results of unlisted associates other than amount
attributable to Fortune Gas's associates, share of results of joint
ventures other than amount attributable to Fortune Gas's joint
ventures and finance costs. The segment profit of Fortune Gas
represents the profit before tax of Fortune Gas. The segment
profit of Zhongyu Gas represents share of results of Zhongyu
Gas. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

8.

(CONTINUED)
e B ISR R MR ()
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DEPRA K XE ()
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] 88 6 ©
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BWARE WS P RITHAK
K-BREWERAFEEE B
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Segment Information (Continued) 8.
Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s segment assets and
segment liabilities that are regularly reviewed by the CODM:

At March 31, 2015

R-ZFE-BF=ZA=1+—H

Sales of
coke
Sales of Gas Salesof andgas Fortune Zhongyu Segment
piped gas connection LPG appliances Gas Gas Total
EiE ik RER
XAR AR RERB
HE MEER HE HE EHRE THRRE IBLE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TERT TERT THERT TERT TERT
Assets EE
Segment assets DEEE 24,384,384 2,805,823 4,739,078 157,091 4,136,972 1,361,847 37,585,195
Investment properties REME 262,364
Property, plant and Mm% BER
equipment R (A7)
(for corporate) 67,675
Prepaid lease payments BNRERE
(for corporate) NG 35,356
Investments in unlisted RIELTHEAF
associates ZHRE 2,294,649
Investments in joint ventures R& & D al ZRE 4,771,364
Amounts due from JEUBE &N A 2
associates E QL] 61,934
Amounts due from joint ~ EA B A RIFIE
ventures 135,784
Available-for-sale AHHERE
investments 235,584
Deferred tax assets BREFEEE 124,489
Held-for-trading investments 5 {EE B & 10,965
Other receivables H e U FRIR
(for corporate) (R a) 290,211
Pledged bank deposits BHEARITER 63,484
Bank balances and cash RITERRRE 4,685,382
Consolidated total assets A B EEH 50,624,436
Liabilities a8
Segment liabilities HEERE 1,714,373 3,398,282 878,594 124,488 865,008 — 6,980,745
Other payables H o e AR IE
(for corporate) (A ") 685,965
Taxation A 299,465
Bank and other borrowings $E77 & E {5 E 20,626,698
Amount due to a R BAR
non-controlling interest JEIE R 2R R A
of a subsidiary 1,077
Deferred taxation EERIE 594,986
Consolidated total liabilities 434 & G4 % 29,188,936

o4
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b NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
e MR e ()

—hEZA=t—HLFE

8. Segment Information (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
At March 31, 2014

Sales of Gas
piped gas  connection
EiE
RAAR
HE  MREXK
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHT
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE
Investment properties BEME
Property, plant and M- BER
equipment (for FE(2A)
corporate)
Prepaid lease payments BABERIE
(for corporate) (2 7))
Investments in unlisted M IE ETEE = A A
associates ZHE
Investments in joint ventures A& & A 7] 2 K&
Amounts due from JE W B & A )
associates FIE
Amounts due from joint WA B D B FIE
ventures
Available-for-sale AHHERE
investments
Deferred tax assets BEREEE
Held-for-sale trading BEEERE
investment
Other receivables H i g U R IB
(for corporate) (A7)

Pledged bank deposits BIEARITER
Bank balances and cash BITEBRER S

Consolidated total assets 434 BE &%

Liabilities 8&

Segment liabilities HBEE

Other payables (for H it JE AR IR
corporate) (A7)

Taxation Fi1E

Bank and other borrowings 847 % E 1‘% g

Amount due to a FERT B A
non-controlling interest 3§ *‘Em%’\lﬁi\
of a subsidiary

Deferred taxation RIET IR

Consolidated total liabilities 434 & &4 %8

8.

Sales of
LPG
&k
=gk
HE
HK$'000
FHT

Sales of
coke
and gas Fortune
appliances gas
RERE
HE BHMR
HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET

FHRRR
HK$'000
THT

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
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For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z2 T —HAF=A=+—HILFE |—| ]

N\

8. Segment Information (Continued) 8. P EEHR (&)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PHEEREE(E)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and %ﬂ.ﬁg—;szﬁ-@ﬁ} ERELENDERSEER
allocating resources between segments: ms

06

All assets are allocated to operating segments, except for
the assets attributable to Fortune Gas, the investments in
associates other than Zhongyu Gas and associates held by
Fortune Gas, investments in joint ventures other than
amount attributable to Fortune Gas, amounts due from
associates and joint ventures, available-for-sale
investments, property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments for corporate use, deferred tax assets,
held-for-trading investments, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances and cash of the Group, and corporate
assets of the Group.

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than the liabilities attributable to Fortune Gas, taxation
other than amount attributable to Fortune Gas, bank and
other borrowings other than amount attributable to
Fortune Gas, amount due to a non-controlling interest of
a subsidiary and deferred taxation of the Group other
than amount attributable to Fortune Gas, and corporate
liabilities of the Group.

CHINA GAS  HOLDINGS LIMITED
R SRIZRBIR D F]

REMMREBHEEE RBEEQ
A (TEEFRMR) KT RIRR
FIREERRzRE AER
AREBE(TEEEHRRAELS
%%%Wﬁ%@T&AM a

RE AHEERE QAR
2%% BEk&REREAEMNEE

RE EEHBAEE HEES
BRE BERABRTERRBITE
BEAEERSURKTEEBRF
BEIN FMEBEEEUNEREE

%
DHE

REMREGARE  BHEACT
BREMMREGEZHE)  RIT
REMEE(TEES R ARE
HER)  BAIHE QA IEZER
25 KR M AN 5 BUE E B IR (1
BREEMMAEMEE ALK
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8. Z7HEEFR (&)
Hft o BE

8. Segment Information (Continued)

Other segment information

Sales of
coke
Sales of Gas  Salesof andgas  Fortune Zhongyu Segment
piped gas  connection LPG appliances Gas Gas total Unallocated Consolidated
BB Rt  RER
KRR BhR RERE

HE RAER HE HE EHRR FHER 2848 AR &8
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000
TEr TRz TExr  TET  TAz  TET AR TAL TAL

Amounts included in the measure of BEEHEABERY
segment profit or loss or segment AREENSR:
assets:
2015 “E-1%
Additions of prepaid lease payments ENHERERE 223,105 20,350 26,673 270,128 270,128
Additions to goodwill BERE 168,249 - - 168,249 168,249

Additions to property, plant and equipment  #)% « BERRERE
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HENE BERREN
equipment B8 6,322 1,387 6,810 14,579 14,643
Amortisation of intangible assets BNEERH 32,131 - 39413 71,544 71,544
Release of prepaid lease payments RFERAHENE 22,400 23,520 2,056 47,976 47,976
Depreciation of property, plant and nE- BRREAERE
equipment 666,234 94,366 37,823 798,423 ¥ 811,874

3,591,335 122,534 279,037

3,992,906 4,002,591

Allowance for trade receivables BHENETEE 57,072 - 57,072 57,072
Allowance for amount due from an JEUCEE & A R SR B

associate - - - 145,646 145,646
Share of results of associates EEBERREE 2,002 142,890 144,892 164,165 309,057
Share of results of joint ventures EEAERAIEE 20253 — 20283 437,876 458,129
2014 ZE-mE
Additions of prepaid lease payments BENRERERE
Additions to goodwill BERE

Additions to property, plant and equipment

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets

Release of prepaid lease payments

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Allowance for trade receivables

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

nF HERRERE

HEME HERREN
ER

EVEERH

RERNBEENE

n% BERRENE

BHRMERB R
EEBENRRE
EEAERRER

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A = =]
REM BRI (E
For the year ended March 31,2015 #ZE T —HAF=A=+—HILFE gg
“’
8. Segment Information (Continued) 8. NEER(E
Geographical information ih & & Bl
The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC. AEENEBEEZMRFEA -
All of the Group’s revenue contributed by the external AEBE2HWEREFRHMIARER
customers in the PRC. B o
None of the customers contributed over 10% of total revenue MERPEAREEBAKAI0%IA L -
of the Group.
The following is the information about non-current assets other UTAEREEMEMES SHNIERSE
than financial instruments and deferred tax assets by the EGERITEREEHRIEEERIN D
geographical area in which the assets are located: B
2015 2014
ZE-HF Z—ZT-OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Hong Kong a5 167,454 155,962
PRC =a 37,092,360 30,712,786

37,259,814 30,868,748

68 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

e B HRRMNE R

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

Other Income

9. HWA

2015 2014
—E-RF —T-WIEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Interest income 2 WA 56,810
Subsidies from PRC governmental B TR 2 Bl
authorities:
— compensation for loss incurred —EREFSIBMEEN
in coal gas operation (note a) 8 (fysEa) 19,938 15,479
— subsidy for replacement of pipelines ~ — B# X AR EE &
for natural gas supply (note b) 2 88 (it sEDb) 63,021 67,678
— tax refund (note ¢ — BB (FfaEc) 60,628 18,987

Repair and maintenance services fee EENREREGE 24,602 22,524

Other services income b AR T UL A 193,452 58,960

Income from gas storage containers i R WA 43,910 40,602

Income from leasing of equipment oA R s A 27,253 28,362

Others H 146,944 95,953

.!!H 405,355

Notes: B &

(@) Pursuant to notice of compensation dated August 28, 2007 issued by the (a) BETFEEABNBBER T LF/\A
relevant government authority in the PRC, #EIEFIAHFERBRA “HN\BRBELENEERANE  AARMNE
7] (“HEIEFR L"), a subsidiary of the Company, received compensations NAEIEFR R TR AR A A ([HE)EF
from the government authority to subsidise for the increase in cost of sales K1) 7B R 5% P 8 5 2 1 BURT # B 15 B
of natural gas by reference to monthly purchase volume by#EJE jkfor B AMBRAREEXKAE N(2ER
both years. IBEh Rz S AEESR) -

(b)  During the year ended March 31, 2015, certain subsidiaries received b #BHE-Z—RAF=A=t—HLEFE' &
subsidies for (1) the cost incurred for connection contracts relating to TFHB A A E B AT EHEEERHAS : (1)4
pipeline network for customers in new urban areas and replacement of old HAEmHITESFEERERZERE
pipeline network of the natural gas users in the relevant cities; (2) the HRRAARBPFNEEERERELENK
additional costs incurred in certain gas connection contracts in which the K:QETEERAGN(ERNERE
connection fee is fixed by the relevant government authority in the PRC; TDHEPEEARNEEAETE)MEEL 2
and (3) the cost incurred in removing the coal gas pipelines and the coal IR RQ)BBREREEREEZESR
gas storage and replace with the newly build natural gas pipelines. All the FREEAE Z AN - WA R R AR & 8 B
required work has been completed by the relevant subsidiaries. All the ReERMBAREZRKMAERELR °
costs incurred were recognised as cost of sales in profit or loss during the FIBECEAZRAERAFE 2BmP
year. RBAHEKA -

(©) The PRC government authorities have granted a tax incentive to certain (c) FERFEECRE —BREERTET

subsidiaries in the PRC by way of tax refund for natural gas business
operated in the PRC.

HEEAR BMREEFELERAR
EBZHE-

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
R R ()
For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE s’g
N
10. Other Gains and Losses 10. Hth = R B8
2015 2014
—ZET-HF ZT—WF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Other gains and losses comprise: Emlh=skEBEEE:

Loss on deemed disposals of an associate 48 F i & Bt & A 7] 89 5 18

(note 39) (F5E39)

Gain on deemed disposal of joint ventures 18 £ & & & A 7 8 W 5 205,562
(note 39) (P 5E39)

Allowance for amount due from an JE LS Bk & A R BR SR (T3 26) (145,646)
associate (note 26)

Change in fair value of investment REMEN AT EED 7,296
properties

Change in fair value of held-for-trading #H{EEER BN A FEEZH 2,387
investments

Allowance for trade receivables (note 29) & 5 & U BR 2 38 455 (Bf 5£29) (57,072)

Exchange gain B 5 I a5 38,027

7 O CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIERERA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e SRR M ()

ﬂ For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE T —AF=A=+—HILFE

11. Finance Costs 1. BKEAR
2015 2014
—ZE-HF ZT—WF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Interest on: ATIEE 2 F B
Bank loans and other borrowings ARAEA Z_—E%( BEZ
wholly repayable within five years RITERRHEMEE 635,816
Bank loans and other borrowings not BENRAFAEHEEZ
wholly repayable within five years RITERREMEER 152,292
788,108
Interest capitalised to construction in BEEERTIRERNZHE
progress (233,949)
554,159
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the general AEERNEBRERNCEHEEXNARNDE
borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation EE—REEEHAS Eﬁ% REER
rate of 5.29% (2014: 7.12%) per annum to expenditure on BEEMME 2529% — PO & -
qualifying assets. 7.12%)E’J$E§$ﬂ§$d‘§ o

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 7 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
— A = ?—7_
e SRR EE ()
For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 - —HAF A =+—HIFE s’g
“’
12. Taxation 12. 18
2015 2014
—E—FRF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FH& T
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R ERTE R 970,271 765,080
Deferred taxation (note 37) IEEFIA (MF7E37) (30,221) (23,779)

940,050 741,301

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group had no
assessable profit derived in Hong Kong for both years.

The tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% except for the tax
relief explained below.

Certain PRC group entities are entitled to the preferential tax
rate pursuant to the relevant regulations applicable to
enterprises situated in the western regions of the PRC. The
applicable tax rates of those PRC group entities is 15% for the
year ended March 31, 2015 (2014: 15%).

7 2 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
REVBRRNE@E |

4
ﬂ For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE T —AF=A=+—HILFE sg
~

12. Taxation (Continued) 12. BiE (&)
The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit FEHRBHGSERZEEZEMKARSE
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss FrRBRELAT (B518) & Al 2 HERIA T -

and other comprehensive income as follows:

Hong Kong PRC Total
B3 il 3t
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

—B-1f —F-WF -F-1F “T-NF -“¥-If “T-QOF
HK$000 HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000
TEx  TAR  TER  TERL  TER  TERX

(Loss) profit before taxation BELRT (B18) % M (351,533) 5,161,269 4,809,736
Tax at the domestic income BT BB R 5
tax rate BEyME (58,003) 1,290,317 1,232,314
Tax effect of share of results of BEBEARERZ
associates HETE (77,264) (77.264)
Tax effect of share of result of joint A B AR £E 2
ventures BBExE (114,532) (114,532)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible 5t % 8 i & 7~ 7] 31
for tax purpose MY ZHENE 19,165 19,165
Tax effect of income not taxable RREMSBERM
for tax purpose WAZHIEE 2 (5,236) (92,144) (97,380)
Tax effect of estimated tax losses W & FER 2 fh 5 BLIE
not recognised BRZHEYE 63,239 39,156 102,395
Tax effect of income tax at REBEHRXFERS
concessionary rate BeHEE (124,648) (124,648)
Taxation HE 940,050 940,050
Note: The applicable tax rate for Hong Kong and PRC are 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) e : BERPBEZEARED B A165% (=
and 25% (2014: 25%) respectively. T — P4 :16.5%) %25% (= F — P4 :
25%) °

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 7 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
e M Rk et ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z2 T —HAF=A=+—HILFE

13. Profit for the Year

]
N
13. FEHER
2015 2014
—F-H% —TWF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiE T T T

Profit for the year has been arrived at after
charging (crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Release of prepaid lease payments

Amortisation of intangible assets included
in cost of sales

Minimum lease payments for operating
leases in respect of:
— rented premises
— equipment

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Share of tax of associates (included in
share of results of associates)

Share of tax of joint ventures (included in
share of results of joint ventures)

Staff costs:
Directors’ emoluments (note 14)
Salaries and allowances of other staff
Contributions to retirement benefit

scheme contributions of other staff
Less: Amount capitalised in construction
in progress

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses
in respect of:

Sales of piped gas

Sales of LPG

Contract costs recognised as expense
in respect of gas connection construction
contracts

Sales of coke and gas appliances

Rental income from investment properties
less outgoings of HK$3,823,000 (2014:
HK$4,417,000)

FEEMEHE G A) T

&I

Z 2R B £
ME - BEMRBZITE

9,000

811,874

HEENHEERE 47,976

BREEHENAANZEFEE
5N

BRANLTEE ZEEMRY Y

71,544

=EMREE : -
— ey 113,985 |
— R 38,694 |
152,679
THEME BMEESEZEE
14,643
FE(R BN R FLIE (B IEFE
FEhEEE DRI EEN) 126,887
EREERRFIE(BEE
EEEERREENRN) 137,140
ETRA: .
BEHS (K514 40,734 |
Hih B T 25 M &2, 1,234,523 |
AHAME T mRIK

1% A 5 B 3R
B BRERTIREAZ
o

293,320

(86,990)|
1,481,587

RATHEEHERA/FIZ
FEMRA :

BERARME 10,300,435 |
AL B MRS 12,442,290 |
MARERTIEENERA
A HE LA
1,396,988
MERFEBREHE 14,402 |
24,154,115
HEMEEEZ2HS KA

SRl 5% $4°3,823,0005% 7T
(ZZ— P4 : 4,417,000
7 TT)

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIERERA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e SRR M ()

ﬂ For the year ended March 31,2015 HE T —AF=-A=+—RALFE

14. Directors’ and Executive Chairman’s MVEERHTEIEMNS
Emoluments
Directors g%
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 15 (2014: 19) EMNSEMNESI5E(ZE —HF:
directors and the chief executive were as follow: BEERTBITHAE Z@H%ZZDT
2015
—E—5EF

Contributions

Salariesand  to retirement
Directors’ other benefits Total
fees benefits scheme  emoluments

B ek BHREF
we HEEA T Bl 3 Wemam

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Zhou Si (Chairman) BBEE(ERE)
Mr. Liu Ming Hui (Executive Chairman Z\EEE
and Managing Director) (BITERR
ESHLE)
Mr. Leung Wing Cheong, Eric RXELE
(Deputy Managing Director) (Note i) (BEZHKRE)
i)
Mr. Huang Yong BELE
Mr. Zhu Wei Wei KEEREE
Mr. Ma Jin Long SeELE
Mr. Chen Xin Guo (Note i) BRAN B 2L A (BT i)
Ms. Li Ching FHEEL
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Yu Jeong Joon (Vice Chairman) AADELE (BIERE)
Mr. Kim Yong Joong (Note iii) & A5 A& (I aEiil)
Mr. Rajeev Mathur (Note iv) Rajeev Mathur %2 &
(i sEiv)
Mr. Liu Ming Xing (Note v) B8 EE A (B av)
Mr. Arun Kumar Manchanda (Note vi) Arun Kumar
Manchanda 7%t £
(Pt 2 vi)
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Ms. Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia HEMLL
Mr. Zhao Yu Hua HEELE
Dr. Mao Er Wan E_ERET
Mr. Ho Yeung ¥ R4
Ms. Chen Yan Yan RERLT

3,919 36,760

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 7 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
e E T E G

p
For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z—Z—HF=A=+—HILFE §§
¥
14. Directors’ and Executive Chairman’s MVEERFHTEEFENE (E)
Emoluments (Continued)
Directors (Continued) 55 (&)
Notes: B ET -
(i) Resigned on July 1, 2014 (i) R-ZE—WFLA—BEE
(ii) Resigned on June 24, 2015 (i) REZT—RAFNA=-THBEHT
(i) Reappointed as alternate to Mr. Yu Jeong Joon on August 26, 2014 (i) RZZE-—NENA-_+BEBEFZEIA
MILEEEZEFES
(iv) Resigned on November 26, 2014 (iv) REZZT—NWE+—A=Z+HEE
(v) Appointed on July 1, 2014 (v) R=-ZT—NFELA—BEZE
(vi) Appointed on November 26, 2014 (vi) R-E—NE+—F -+ BEZT

7 6 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A



giv NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
D (CONTINUED)
- GAMBREWE@ |, o
I ﬂ For the year ended March 31,2015 BE-E—HEF=A=+—RAILFE \' §‘
T N N7
14. Directors’ and Executive Chairman’s M EERFTEENE (BE)

Emoluments (Continued)

Directors (Continued)
2014
—E—mF

=55 (&)

Salaries and ~ Contributions to
Directors’ other retirement Total
fees benefits  benefits scheme emoluments
EE Hek RRAE A
e H fth 1 7 AR e ms

Executive directors
Mr. Zhou Si (Chairman) (Note i)

Mr. Liu Ming Hui (Executive Chairman

and Managing Director) (Note ii)

Mr. Huang Yong (Note iii)

Mr. Leung Wing Cheong, Eric
(Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. Pang Ying Xue (Note iv)

Mr. Zhu Wei Wei

Mr. Ma Jin Long

Mr. Chen Xin Guo (Note v)

Ms. Li Ching (Note vi)

Non-executive directors
Mr. Yu Jeong Joon (Vice Chairman)
(Note v)
Mr. Kim Yong Joong (Note vii)
Mr. Rajeev Mathur (Note viii)

Mr. Feng Zhuo Zhi (Note ix)
Mr. Premesh Kumar Jain (Note x)

Mr. Jo Yamagata (Note xi)
Mr. Moon Duk Kyu (Note xi)

Independent non-executive directors
Ms. Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia
Mr. Zhao Yu Hua
Dr. Mao Er Wan
Mr. Ho Yeung
Ms. Chen Yan Yan

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TEL TEL THEL
9ES
AREL(ER)
(M aEi)
BB (1T
IRRES

i yE) (W EEi)
=B R4 (W)
RKELE

(BlEEALHE)
FEEEL A (M)
KEREE
BEELE
R & A (B 5Ev)
&4+ (Mt Evi)

FRITES

AVAE S5 A (B ETE)
GEW)

& A5k A (i R vii)
Rajeev Mathur %5 4
(Bt = viii)
BEFEE (M)
Premesh Kumar Jain % &
(FF&Ex)

8% 7% 5% A (BT aExi)
X8 E A (i eExi)

BUFHTES
BEMLL
HEZELAE
E-ERL
¥ £
BREKLZL

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 7 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
e M Rk et ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 - —HAF A =+—HIFE

(]
¥
\"

14. Directors’ and Executive Chairman’s
Emoluments (Continued)

Directors (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Appointed on August 23, 2013

(ii) Appointed as a non-executive director on August 17, 2012, became an
executive director on September 10, 2012 and appointed as Executive
Chairman on April 18, 2013

(iii) Appointed on June 26, 2013

(iv) Resigned on January 10, 2014

(v) Appointed on April 18, 2013

(vi) Appointed on January 10, 2014

(vii)  Resigned on April 18, 2013 as alternative to Mr. Mon Duk Kuyu and
appointed as alternate to Mr. Yu Jeong Joon on April 18, 2013

(vii)  Appointed on November 26, 2013

(ix) Not re-elected at the Annual General Meeting of the Company on August
20,2013

(x) Resigned on November 26, 2013

(xi) Resigned on April 18, 2013

Mr. Liu Ming Hui is also the Chief Executive of the Company
and his emoluments disclosed above included those for services
rendered by him as the Chief Executive.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
e B RS EHR AR M EE ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

15.

16.

Emoluments of Employees

During the year ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, of the five
individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, all of
them were directors which included the Executive Chairman of
the Company whose emoluments are included in note 14.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the chief executive
or the directors as an inducement to join the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office for both years.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments during both years.

15. EEM <

REBEE_Z-—AFR_FT-—MF=A
ZS+t-BLEE AKEKRHFZE
HFEAZHBAEZ(BREARANT
IR B ESNME14-

RZMEFEAEEHERNEETR
ABREEXNEMMESIESMAR
SE RS KEMBEE-

TETHRABREMEETMERNZWN
EFEAREEMAHE -

Dividends 16. iR B
2015 2014
ZE-HF ZE-WOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Final dividend paid in respect of year ENBEZZT—NF
ended March 31, 2014 of HK$0.0986 ZA=+t—BLEFE
(2014: HK$0.0628 in respect of year FH%0.0986 B L (ZF — MM F :
ended March 31, 2013) per share HE_ZT—=6=-A=+—H
L FEHAR0.0628E L) 2
NEIBE 2 495,075 300,981
Interim dividend paid in respect of BEff#EzE—_Z—mWFHLA=1+AH
financial six months ended September LE B S (8 A & 3% 0.022 %8 7T
30, 2014 of HK$0.022 (2014: HK$0.022 (—ZE—ME& HE T — =4
in respect of six months ended NWA=+HIEAREA
September 30, 2013) per share f%0.0227%8 L) 2 F HIRR B 110,463 109,813

605,538 410,794

A final dividend of HK$0.1395 in respect of the year ended
March 31, 2015 (2014: final dividend of HK$0.0986 in respect
of the year ended March 31, 2014) per share has been
proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming and general meeting.

BEERFREHE_T—HE=ZAZ=
+—HIEFEERK01355F L (=T —
NFE:HE=E-_T—NF=F=+—H
IEFEE0.09867E T2 RAEME) 2
RERRE  HEECKRRERERRREX
EHEFAEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

) (CONTINUED)
§$ e IR R R MR ()
\’ For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z—Z—HF=A=+—HILFE sg
X
17. Earnings Per Share 17. 8RB F
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share KRR BEEAEHEREARARBER
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the DR ENTIE- 87 F A
following data:
2015 2014
—E-HE ZT—WNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Earnings for the purposes of basic and FTEERERAREFRN 2
diluted earnings per share, being profit ~ Z | (Bl AR B #E A A JE(L

for the year attributable to owners of NE E )
the Company 3,371,053
2015 2014
—EZ-8F ZZT—HmF
‘000 ‘000

FTR-TH TFTR/TH

Weighted average number of ordinary STESREARTZ EBR
shares for the purpose of basic earnings il #& S 9 £¢
per share 5,009,233
Adjustment for effect of dilutive potential ZBR% B E#E 2 L £ E
ordinary shares:
Share options B8 A A 138,902

Weighted average number of ordinary 5+ & &% 8 E & F| 2 @A
shares for the purpose of diluted i
earnings per share 5,148,135
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FEIRRIZERGRA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e B RS EHR AR M EE ()

Q For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

18. Investment Properties 18. REW %
HK$'000
FHET
At April 1, 2013 R—ZZE—=F1A—H 244,967
Exchange adjustments & 38 & 1,144
Change in fair value NEEEY 8,957
At March 31, 2014 R-ZE—MN&F=A=+—H 255,068
Change in fair value NEBEEH 7,296
At March 31, 2015 RZZE—HRF=R=+—H 262,364
The Group's investment properties are analysed as follows: REEBZREMEINUOT :
2015 2014
—E-RF  ZT-WmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Properties held under medium term leases: % ERFE 4035 H 2 W % -
— in Hong Kong — LR EB 127,400 120,800
— in the PRC — IR E 134,964 134,268
255,068
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties in Hong REFBVREBZIHEMENR _T—
Kong at March 31, 2015 has been arrived at on the basis of a EE=A=+—HzZzAFEEJIEEHRE
valuation carried out as on the respective dates by LCH (Asia- AREBVEBENB IS ERBEG
Pacific) Surveyors Limited, independent qualified professional BEENFI LT R SMAR AR RNZ B #
valuers not connected to the Group. The resulting surplus of TZIEESBE - Bt E S 26,600,000
HK$6,600,000 (2014: HK$1,800,000) was credited to in BT A% (=ZZ — U4 : 1,800,000
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other T)EIAGZEEBHELEM 2T KA
comprehensive income. The valuation was arrived at by MR HEIREZEUYERE UM
reference to comparable market transactions available in the BUNERIEETNZHBATEIESA
relevant markets for similar properties in the similar locations AEAEBTERXZMED -

and conditions, where approximate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NTINUED)

e PR R R M R ()

For the year ended March 31, 2015 & %= —

18.

82

T-RFZA=+T—RHLFE

Investment Properties (Continued)

The fair value of the Group'’s investment properties in the PRC
at March 31, 2015 has been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out at these dates by Crowe Horwath (HK)
Consulting & Valuation Limited, independent qualified
professional valuers not connected to the Group. The resulting
surplus of HK$696,000 (2014: HK$7,157,000) was credited to
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. The valuation was arrived at by
reference to comparable market transactions available in the
relevant markets for similar properties in the similar locations
and conditions, where approximate.

All of the Group's property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as March 31, 2015 and 2014 are
as follows:

-

-

18. REWZ (&)

RZE-—HEF=A=+—H ' r&H
NRPBZEENEZAFEDRE

HAEBEMERECBISEREE
HEMITEESE (BB EANEAE
RARIRNZERPETZHEESSE -
It E 4 2 696,0008 T AR (=T —
PU4F : 7,157,000 70) B 5 A 4R & 18 25
RHEMEZEBARRE -HEDSEHE
M%%F%wm@ﬁﬁ&M#TZﬁ
MR ESHNAELEMBERSM
‘-

AEFBZHRRBLEHOFTE ARR
HERIERERNBEZMERTTIA
RFERAYERERY ARIER

Commercial property units located: EAMEEMMR
— in Hong Kong — &8
— in the PRC —

AEBEHE-_ZT—FHAFER_T—NF
“A=T—"HOKREVERBHBEQT
BEEREROFBRT
Fair value Level 3
AFEE—E=H
2015 2014
—ZE2—FEF —E—pF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
127,400 120,800
134,964 134,268

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the management of the
Group works closely with the independent qualified external
valuer to establish and determine the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements.
Where there is a material change in the fair value of the assets,
the causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the directors
of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
i _

B IR R R M ()
18. Investment Properties (Continued)

For the year ended March 31,2015 HE T —AF=-A=+—RALFE

18. REWZ (&)

Information about fair value measurements EHEERTELATEHER A
using key unobservable inputs (Level 3) B2 ArFTEFE(FE=ZR)2E
2}

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the
determination of fair values for investment properties and the

TRBTHWREVMEEERFERAR
REETERGEERLMBEEDTH

key unobservable inputs used in the valuation models.

Fair value as
at March Valuation

BEm AR -

Range of

Relationship of
unobservable

Description 31,2015 techniques Unobservable inputs unobservable inputs  inputs to fair value
R-Z—-1F
=A=t-H TAEERA IR X PN ¢
BER ZAVE R“ERE TABERE AYE HEHEE HATVEZERE
HK$'000
THET
Commercial units 127,400 Comparison Adjusted transaction price to  HK$19,300-HK$37,100 The higher the adjusted

per square feet

KA ZERARBEL 19,3007 T E37,100

located in approach reflect market value of
Hong Kong similar on substitute
properties
IR & A7
R HERMENTE

Offices located in 134,964  Comparison

Adjusted transaction price to

the PRC approach reflect direction and
height
RIS B A b BE RABZH BRI
WA= BT R EE

BT/ B8FHR

RMB8,838-RMB47,337

per square meter

transaction price the
higher the fair value

RBRZZERED
NFEHD

The higher the
adjusted transaction
price the higher the
fair value

262,364

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred
taxation on investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
Accordingly, deferred taxation in relation to the Group’s
investment properties has been measured based on the tax
consequences of recovering the carrying amounts entirely
through use.

AR#8838TLE RRAEXFERYES
ANR#473377T,/ AFEHS

FEHK

A ENBATERAEFENEREY

XEENELHRE ARAEFER
AAKBENRENFEASG  BEwmaN
SEEIRE YR TR IE A RS B [ M 3k
BBEEHRREVEMBENRX
MORENZERBERNEFEAF
BeRAit R EAKEREDMEN
BEEBIRE KRR EZEE MNA
“$@EWHEWEEW¥M$EE
EBHEZHRLDNRERD KHE
B-RAit FREAKERENENOE
ERBEERBEEBERZHEEET
BHRBERRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e P BHRERNE &

For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 - —HAF A =+—HIFE sg
¥
19. Property, Plant and Equipment 19. ¥ -BERRXHE
Leasehold Machinery  Furniture
land and Construction and and Motor
buildings ~ Pipelines  inprogress equipment fixtures  vehicles  Vessels Total
HELHR BER BHR

g7 BE  HERIE R BEEXRE RE W it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THET  TRR TEr  TET  TER TER TET  TEx

CosT ;%

At April 1, 2013 RZE-=£MA—H 1812392 8602084 279729 2175685 248966 404,527 210270 16,251,220
Exchange adjustments 5 R 18,047 108,661 36,493 28,827 3,137 5035 3001 203,201

Additions RE 50,875 102422 2713845 139647 42176 133283 — 3,182,248
Acquired on acquisitions businesses WEEBHRE 158543 485,622 320,144 223532 16,542 78,028 — 1282411

Disposal for the year FRLE (8,540)  (22,654) — (21,581) 2463 (12.219) — (67,457
Reclassification Eibo ] 47698 1,412,076 (1515331) 55,557 = = = =
At March 31, 2014 RZE-ME=ZA=1—H 2,079,015 10,688211 4352447 2601667 308358 608654 213271 20851623

Additions RE 84721 16175 3394548 268562 36544 50279 6,185 4,002,591

Acquired on acquisitions businesses WEEERE 4710 33778 36,214 20,938 60 3,835 — 119,595
Disposal for the year FALE (442) (5,475) - (19,598) (8203)  (34679) (18467)  (86,364)
Reclassification BNHE 256,171 1,640,557 (2,172,255 275,527 — — — -
At March 31,2015 R-E-n&=ZfA=1+-H 2444235 12518823 5610954 314709 336759 628,089 200989 24,886,945

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT i ERFE

At April 1, 2013 R-E-=fmA-H 265,117 1,180,285 — 601790 97537 188628 21660 2,355,017
Exchange adjustments ERA% 2,755 15,008 — 7418 1223 2,329 274 29,007
Provided for the year ENER 56,630 324,820 — 161260 46977 47543 15859 653,089
Eliminated on disposals HEE R 2,239 (305) - (8,385) (1,723) (7,459) —  (0111)
At March 31, 2014 RZE-WME=A=1+-A 322263 1,519,808 — 762083 144014 231,041 37,793 3,017,002
Provided for the year ERNER 70247 361,568 — 3448 21235 7307 27,089 811,874
Eliminated on disposals HEEMR (138) (4,956) - (4,115) (4471)  (27556) (16330)  (57,566)
At March 31,2015 R=Z-8F=fA=1-H 392372 1,876,420 —  1,08239% 160778 210792 48552 3,771310
CARRYING VALUES REE

At March 31, 2015 R-E-R%E=A=1+-H 2051863 10642403 5610954  2,064700 175981 417,297 152437 21,115,635
At March 31, 2014 RZE-WE=A=1-H 1756752 9168403 4352447 1839584 164,344 377613 175478 17,834,621
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Q For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

19. Property, Plant and Equipment
(Continued)

The carrying value of land and buildings of the Group shown
above is situated on land with the following lease terms:

19. 9% BEKRE (&

EXFRAEBURES THAHZ
T T REFCEEEREBRA
BT

2015 2014
—E-RF —T-IEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET

In Hong Kong REB
Long lease R HEIME A

In PRC i
Long lease R HEME A
Medium term lease H ERAR 49

33,348 26,854

504,629 432,474
1,513,886 1,297,424

2,051,863 1,756,752

The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis
at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of the remaining
terms of the leases or 50 years

Pipelines Over the shorter of 30 years or
the operation period of the
relevant company

Machinery and equipment 5%-10%

Furniture and fixtures 15%-50%
Motor vehicles 25%
Vessels 7% (new vessels acquired from

suppliers) or 34% (acquired
from second hand market)

REE T EERAFE -

tamE - -BERRERR(TEEE
BITR)NREGEATNIEXRFTE:

HETHRET BEHORTFHK

S50F 2 REHE

i 30FKEBARZ
R EH
BRE

2SR 5%-10%

REREEEE 15%-50%

RE 25%

aRils 7% (R EREEA
ZFTHAR) 234%
(=F W5
BA)
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For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 - —HAF A =+—HIFE

(]
¥
“’

19.

20.

86

Property, Plant and Equipment
(Continued)

During the year ended March 31, 2015, interest capitalised in
construction in progress amounted to HK$233,949,000 (2014:
HK$203,803,000).

During the year ended March 31, 2015, the Group is in the
process of obtaining title deeds from relevant government
authorities for its land and buildings in the PRC amounting to
HK$19,686,000 (2014: HK$54,897,000). In the opinion of the
directors, the Group is not required to incur additional cost in
obtaining the title deeds for its land and buildings in the PRC.

At March 31, 2015, the directors of the Company considered
that the leasehold land and buildings with elements in respect
of certain properties located in the PRC carrying value of
HK$74,039,000 (2014: HK$80,055,000) cannot be separately
identified.

Prepaid Lease Payments

19. 9%  BEKRE (&)

nEE-_ZT—HAF=ZA=Z+—8
tFE BAaEEgIREAZHE
£$233,949,000/%8 L( = T — I 4 :
203,803,000 7T) °

RBEEZE-_ZT—RAF=-A=+—BLLHF
B A& EIE R E(EE19,686,000%8
7t (=& — PO 4 : 54,897,000 7T) iz 7
Mz i R A A R R T A A R
MAEERN -BEERAE AEEHE
BERERTR L MNEFZHAER
#91 EE AE BB INBE AN o

R-—_E—HF=A=+—H ' A2
AEERAEETHNRFEZYWHEEE
M 74,039,000/ ;t (= & — M 4 :
80,055,000/% 7T) 2 10 & & #f & 1E F &
D EEDFER -

20. AN HEEKE

2015 2014
—E2-1F —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERx FET

The Group’s prepaid lease payments REBE BN HEAERIE
comprise: BIE

Leasehold land in the PRC KAz HE i
Long lease RHEIME A
Medium term lease HR HAFE 4Y

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Non-current portion
Current portion

SERNEIER o
BN R R

FLERER B A Z DA

435,072 485,343
981,132 719,261
1,416,204 1,204,604
1,373,881 1,171,179
42,323 33,425

- 416,204 1,204,604
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For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

20. Prepaid Lease Payments (Continued)

The leasehold land and land use rights are charged to
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of
the leases.

During the year, the Group is in the process of obtaining title
deeds from relevant government authorities for its prepaid lease
payments in the PRC amounting to HK$19,755,000 (2014:
HK$27,000,000). In the opinion of the directors, the Group is
not required to incur additional cost in obtaining the title deeds
for its prepaid lease payments in the PRC.

21. Investments in Associates

20. A HEERE (&)

ME TR+ EREAERERE
EFHMamRARa REMEE KA R
=R

F A AN& B IE g HEEE19,755,000
770 (ZZ— P04 : 27,000,000 7T) fiz
RAEBEZBEMNHEERBENYE BT
BERMEERN -EERA A&
EHARERTRNBNEEREZHR
B RERZL M EEFBINKA o

21. RBERTFZRE

Cost of investments in associates:

Listed in Hong Kong REE L™
Unlisted LT
Share of pre-acquisition dividend 10 W B AT AR B

Share of post-acquisition profit and
other comprehensive income (net of
dividend received)

Discount on acquisition of associates

Fair value of listed investments, based on & & 2 A F (&
quoted market price (MM ETE)

BRERBERBZKA

1R BB 1R s A e E At
AR B WA G BR BT IR )

WEBE QAR ZTE

2015 2014
—E-RF —T-WIEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
881,765 881,765
1,549,085 848,697
(1,296) (1,296)
1,021,574 723,903
232,970 232,970
3,684,098 2,686,039
2,246,107
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e WIS ERAR M (& ’

For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z—Z—HF=A=+—HILFE §§
¥
b

21. Investments in Associates (Continued) 21. A& AR Z2RE (&)

The Group had interests in the following significant associates: AREBRIATEKRBEES AR EEE

Ny

fm -

Proportion of

Place of Principal nominal value of registered/
Form of business registration/  place of Class of issued capital held
Name of entity structure incorporation  operations  capital by the Group Principal activities
L TE AEEFEZMS
BEHERB EBEBER AR E EEME  RAER ERTRAEALSH TEEH
2015 2014
—E-RfF Z—ZFT—QNF
% %
EEMIRRRIEEHRGRAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered Gas pipeline construction
joint venture
FONEBRE FE F ot it MRAEERER
EESRBERMNARAT Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered Exploration, collection
joint venture transportation,
purification and sales
of natural gas
FINEBRE FE F il iR &k &%
FLREERAR
EEMALREARAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered Sales of natural gas
BRAR joint venture
FINE BB E B B Al AARHEE
BRETEMRRAREEAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered Sales of nature gas and
("MAEERE") joint venture gas pipeline
construction
IR ERE HE i Al ARRHER
MREEER
BRAESIEERILERAR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered Refining process, storage
company of LPG
EREEDR HE Y at i ALk R R R
MIEE - B
MILEEREEAFERAR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered Sales of natural gas and
BRAR company gas pipeline
construction
EREEDRA FE A at it AARHE R
MABERER
BN HREERRE] Limited liability ~ PRC PRC Registered Sales of LPG
("BMAHR") company
BEREMEAR Bl HE Gl HERILABR
Zhongyu Gas Limited liability Cayman PRC Ordinary Investment holding,
company Island sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction
AR BREEDA HEEHS H B TR REZER  RAR
HERMRE S
B4
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For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

21. Investments in Associates (Continued)

21. REFE QR 2R E (&)

Proportion of

Place of Principal nominal value of registered/
Form of business registration/  place of Class of issued capital held
Name of entity structure incorporation  operations capital by the Group Principal activities
S TE AEBEEMS
ERAE EBRERER SEMRULH EXHE  REAHER BRTRAHEE LA TEXR
2015 2014
“2-RFf —ZT—QOF
% %
BMEEEE R R IAE Limited liability PRC PRC Registered 44.00 Sales of natural gas and
BRARRR(DGHR") company gas pipeline
construction
EREERQA HE B Gl AAREER
MREEZR
BRI ARER AR Limited liabilities ~ PRC PRC Registered 25.00 Sales of natural gas, and
(“HIRRAR R company gas pipeline
construction
EREERQT Bl e A AAREER
MREEER
BT AMRKARES Limited liabilities ~ PRC PRC Registered —  Sales of natural gas, and
BRRA company gas pipeline
construction
BERELEAT HE FE Al ARRHER
MREEER
Rankam International Holdings Limited liability Bermuda Hong Kong  Paid-up — Investment holding
Limited company capital
BERARA BRE i R B REZR
Daily Pride Limited Limited liability Bermuda Hong Kong  Paid-up —  Holding of project
company capital companies for trading
of heaters and boilers
BRAR BRE BB BRBRA REERRARR
MIEZEE AR

At March 31, 2015, included in the cost of investment in

associates is goodwill
HK$483,469,000).

of HK$483,469,000

(2014:

The financial year end date for Zhongyu Gas is December 31.
For the purpose of applying the equity method of accounting,
the consolidated financial statements of Zhongyu Gas for the
year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 have been used as
the Group considers that it is impracticable for Zhongyu Gas
with its shares listed on the Stock Exchange to provide a
separate and complete set of financial statements as of March
31. Appropriate adjustments have been made accordingly for
the effects of significant transactions between that date and
March 31, 2015.

R-ZF-—AF=—A=1t—H BEQ
A 2 & & K 7N B ¥ 7 2 483,469,000 7
7T (ZZ — PO : 483,469,000 7T) °

PR R T BRFEEER AT = A
=+—H-AEAEZEIE A&
EEFEATHMRESREBE-_Z—0OF
EZE—=F+=-HA=+—BItEE
2IREAEUBRE BERALSERE
PR R (RGO RE R P L) A
ERHENR =A==+ —"HZBILTEZ
MERR AEECHEEHEE A
B OUARMZEE-_E-—AE=A=
+—BEHEEENEARGZHE -
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For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE sg
N

21. Investments in Associates (Continued) 21. REEE AR 2R E (&)

Summarised financial information of material EERE N R BFEER M
associates

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the REFLZETEHLE NG 2 HBER#H
Group's material associates is set out below. The summarised BEANWOT o N XEF 2 8% & R
financial information below represents amounts shown in the B ARENEEASMBEHRRMERE
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with BB BREERFE 2 BE N T B
HKFRSs for the purpose of preparation of these consolidated BEHMRT NS HE -

financial statements.

All of the Group's associates are accounted for using the equity REBABE NGB VB EZER
method in these consolidated financial statements: WEEABRERANARE:
BEETLE BEETE
2015 2014
—E-nF  ZE—NmF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FA& T
Current assets mEEE 870,224
Non-current assets EREBEE 3,037,991
Current liabilities mEaE (1,259,315)

Non-current liabilities EREBEE (63,249)

Revenue Wy 5 1,681,308 -

Profit and total comprehensive income for 4 (A& F| & 2 M YL A 42 58
the year
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ﬂ For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE T —AF=A=+—HILFE sg
~

21. Investments in Associates (Continued) 21.

Summarised financial information of material
associates (Continued)

14 7 & # B (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised
in the consolidated financial statements:

REERNT 2RE (&)

EERELNAMBENBL
(4%)

W RS E ()

LM BEENREZBRGR M RE
MRZBERRZREREEYK

2015 2014
—E-RF ZE—@OF
HK$'000 HK$°000
TERx TET

Net assets of M FE T MREFENEEFE
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBRERERE Y
interest in M EREH HHERERLD

Carrying amount of the Group's interest AREBAWMBELE -

in MBEET B reflected in the EXEEE(EAEE
Group's consolidated statement of 4= A B 7S A ST 35 A S B )

financial position

2,585,651

48%

Zhongyu Gas and its subsidiaries

1,241,112
i s R H BB 2 A
2015 2014
—E2-HE _—T-W0F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET

Current assets MEE E
Non-current assets FERBEE
Current liabilities mE B &
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Net assets BEEFE
Revenue I 2=

Profit and total comprehensive income for 4 (A% | &2 2 [ Ug A 48 28
the year

Profit attributable to owners of the RATHEA AFEAL S F
Company

1,710,497
5,188,325
(1,525,522)
(3.080,560)

2,292,740

3,412,690

369,160

324,351
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

e M HRRME (E

For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE s’g
¢

21. Investments in Associates (Continued) 21. A& AR Z2RE (&)

Summarised financial information of material EEBRENREE Rl
associates (Continued) (&)

Zhongyu Gas and its subsidiaries (Continued) manm R BN B LA (B
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to P EERBEERG S M E®RE
the carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised R ZEMENT ZIEEERBEYE:

in the consolidated financial statements:

2015 2014
—EZ-HF Z—ZT—HmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT

Equity attributable to owners of Zhongyu #: & Bf 53R & BT 2 B 4

Gas reported in the consolidated MREB AE(L S

financial statements 1,994,048
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBRAPRRR ZIEAR

interest in Zhongyu Gas FE 25t 1A 44.05%
Goodwill Ha 483,469

Carrying amount of the Group's interest &= B A R ¥ AR 2 25

in Zhongyu Gas reflected in the REE(EASEB ZHGRE
Group's consolidated statement of B AR R A R )
financial position 1,361,847
Aggregate information of associates that are not BlEITISWHEXZEHE NG
individually material BirEH
2015 2014
ZE-HF Z—ZT-W0F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
The Group's share of profit 7N 55 B A Vi A 26,186
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBRZEHENRZ
Group's interests in these associates RN ATERERE 1,081,138

9 2 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended March 31, 2015 &= - %

(CONTINUED)
e MR e ()

—RFE=ZA=+—BLHFE

22. Investments in Joint Ventures

2. REERFRIZEKRE

2015 2014
—E-RF ZT-WOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET

Cost of investment in joint ventures
— unlisted

Share of post-acquisition profit and other
comprehensive income
(net of dividends received)

Discount on acquisition of joint ventures

REERAZERE
—3FLET

7 1 W B 1208 A1) Jo H At 2 UL A

DN

(BR % AT IR AR

WS ERRE

2,758,205

2,064,464
51,050

4,873,719

As at March 31, 2015 and 2014, the Group had interests in the

following significant joint ventures:

R-B-—AFR-_FT-—HWNF=ZA=+
—B- $%@%MTI%%§“T¢
AR

Proportion of

Form of Place of Principal nominal value of registered/
business registration/  place of Class of issued capital
Name of entity structure incorporation  operations capital held by the Group Principal activity
LYo As TELE AEBFEEMR BRI
EHER EBEREA it B i 2= 38 5l % 25 T B Lt Bl TEXH
2015 2014
—E2-HF Z—E-AF
% %
BN RS TR AR AR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered Sales of natural gas
joint venture and gas pipeline
construction
FAEELE  HE F B At i RAARHER
MREEER
BB TR REEARAR  Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered Sales of natural gas
joint venture and gas pipeline
construction
FAHEELE  HE F B i RAARHER
MREERR
PRSI AR B AR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered Sales of natural gas
A7) (“MEREEERIR") joint venture and gas pipeline
construction
PAEELE  HHE F B at it RAARHER
MREERER
FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 9 3
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For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z—Z—HF=A=+—HILFE ¥

22. Investments in Joint Ventures (Continued) 22. R 8 R a2 B E (B)

Proportion of

Form of Place of Principal nominal value of registered/
business registration/  place of Class of issued capital
Name of entity structure incorporation  operations  capital held by the Group
LYo TELE AEEREEMR BRI
BERAE EBFERER  #H 1t B i 2~ 58 5l % 25 THD 8 Lt )
2015 2014
—E-HF Z—ZT-AF
% %
MR TIREEEER AR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered
joint venture
FOHEERE  HE F B i
EhREERSEMR AR AT Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered
joint venture
FONEBRE HE B Gl
REEARARABRAR Equity joint PRC PRC Registered
venture
BEME FE F B iy
Fujian Anran Gas Investment Limited liability PRC PRC Registered
Company Limited company
("Fujian Anran”)
BEERARKREBRAR EREAERA  HEH 2lc] iy
(REZRAD
ERREAARGEARETAR Limited liability  PRC PRC Registered
company
EREMAERA  HEH B iy
REPIEPMMREE) BB AT  Limited liability — PRC PRC Registered
company
BREMLDA # 1 A
AN RE BT Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered
MRERERAA joint venture
PHEERE FE A iy

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIERERA A

94

Principal activity

TEEK

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

AARHEER
MREEER

Nature gas refill service
and gas station
administration

RAFRIMF IR R
B MR

Sales of natural gas

RARHE

Investment holding

REER

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

AARRHE R
BREEER

Gas pipeline
construction
MREERR

Sales of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
AARRHE R
BREBER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE T —AF=A=+—HILFE

22. Investments in Joint Ventures (Continued) 22. R &8 R a2 B E (B)

Proportion of

Form of Place of Principal nominal value of registered/
business registration/  place of Class of issued capital
Name of entity structure incorporation  operations  capital held by the Group Principal activity
BT TELE AEBREEMR BRI
BEHER EBRFEREX 1t B i 2 58 5l % 75 THD 8 L B TEEH
2015 2014
—E-RfF ZT—QNF
% %

SEPRE BHEMT Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered Retailing and
MEZFRERAA joint venture wholesaling of gas
accessories and
provision of
maintenance service
FINEBRE HE g at it TERBEMRR
et AR IR B
R
REMAERTERERAR] Limited liability PRC PRC Registered Provision of pipe natural
company gas
EREERA i FE i REEBERAR
EMIINARERA A Incorporated Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary Exploration and
("B HAIAR") production of coal
bed methane
Rl AV B B =B HRREERER
MNBEIRIERERAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered Sales and distribution of
joint venture LPG
FONEBRE B F Bl Gl BIERBRHE R
YLEMHEMRRER AT Limited liability PRC PRC Registered Sales of natural gas,
company petrochemical
products and gas
accessories
BRAR B B9 Gl AAR - AlLEMR
MR HE
CHTERRRARELAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered Sales of natural gas and
joint venture gas pipeline
construction
NG ERE HE FE i AARHE R
MAEERER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e SRR M ()

%
For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z—Z—HF=A=+—HILFE ¥

22. Investments in Joint Ventures (Continued) 22. R4 E QT2 KR E ()

Note: During the year ended March 31, 2015, Eii#i#k ceased to be a joint i Hz—E—AF="A=+—HLEE &
venture of the Group and become a subsidiary as the Group's effective RAEB 7 ERNEZARNEB TEMA
interest was increased from 50% to 70% due to the capital injection by 50% ¥ E70%  BHWIHITBEAELAER 2
the Group. The amount of gain on demand disposal of a joint venture of BERNRMKABHEAR - RIELHEAS
HK$205,562,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit N A2 W % 58 205,562,0008 TR E =
or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, T-RAF=A=t+—HLEFENKZEER
2015. Details are disclosed in note 39. REMEEAKRAREAER FHERER

Bt E39 ©

At March 31, 2015, included in the cost of investment in joint RZF-—HF=ZA=+—HB 6&RQ

ventures is goodwill of HK$265,806,000 (2014: 7] Z % & pX AN B 4 7 B 265,806,000 78

HK$265,806,000). T (= Z— U4 : 265,806,000/ JT) °

Summarised financial information of material BEEZRERL AW KER B M

joint ventures

The summarised financial information below represents TXEINHBERBERBRESR S

amounts shown in the joint venture’s consolidated financial MBEBRELNRR S ERBEEH

statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs. BHREMTEE -

All of the Group’s joint ventures are accounted for using the AEBFRESERARANERARERZER

equity method in these consolidated financial statements. iAW BHRERAAR :

I F1 & 15 70 % I R & 45 44

2015 2014
—E-RF ZT-WmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT

Current assets MBEE 1,189,659 2,054,233

Non-current assets EMEBEE 3,260,032 2,283,339

Current liabilities mE A E (2,219,635) (1,976,146)

Non-current liabilities FRBBE (112,833) (214,955)
Net assets BEFE m 2,146,471
2015 2014

—E-HF Z—E—QEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FHE T

Revenue W &5 IIE'!I’ 2,073,333

Profit and total comprehensive income for 4 (A3 K & & T U A 4258

the year 210,695
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ﬂ For the year ended March 31,2015 H#E T —AF=ZA=+—RAIFE

22. Investments in Joint Ventures (Continued) 22. REE AT 2B E (§)

Summarised financial information of material EESELTMBER M
joint ventures (Continued) (#8)

I 1 & %5 # # (Continued) I ] i 45 b 9k (4B)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to LB BEARNBBEERN G SRR
the carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures HMRAZAEERNAZEEFEEEYE

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2015 2014
—EZ-HF ZZT—HmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHE T

Net assets reported in the consolidated %76 B 7% ¥R % F7T 2 3%

financial statements of IR0 &5 425 dh ok ARSI 2 B EFE 2,117,223
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REERFEFE R R Z
interest in AP 42 F A A REREZS L D 51%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest  RNEE NG & R Al Z # a8

in the joint venture FRmEE 1,079,784
Fujian Anran and its subsidiaries wBELZARANE 2 A
2015 2014
—E-hHF Z—ZE—QmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THE T FHBT
Current assets B E E 732,481
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,117,920
Current liabilities mEAE (871,546)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (461,158)

Net assets BEFE 1,517,697

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 97
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For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE gg
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22. Investments in Joint Ventures (Continued) 22. RSB AT 2R E (&)

Summarised financial information of material BEESELNTMKE R H M
joint ventures (Continued) (48)
Fujian Anran and its subsidiaries (Continued) EELZAREWE - 7 (&
2015 2014
—2-HF _—ZTMOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAET

Revenue Wz 1,562,577

Profit and total comprehensive income for 4 A Fll &2 & F WA 4858

the year 307,971
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to PR BEHBEERNGE W BRE
the carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures BRZEERRZRERAEBEYEK:

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2015 2014
—E-HF ZE-WF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET

Net assets reported in the consolidated 47 & B % 3R 5% FT 2 # 18
financial statements of Fujian Anran RRZBEFE 1,517,697
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBRRBRERAZHERRE
interest in Fujian Anran T % L A1) 49%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest  ANEERE & A 7 2 ##@m &)
in the joint venture FRmEE 743,672

9 8 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

22. Investments in Joint Ventures (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material
joint ventures (Continued)

Fujian Anran and its subsidiaries (Continued)
Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually
material:

2. REELAZRE (&)

=z
(&)
BREZAREHNE R A ()
BAMELHEAZAERFANAH
o

ENEHBERMB L

The Group's share of profit 75 B FEAG i A

Aggregate carrying amount of the
Group's interest in these joint ventures

AEBERZERERAZ
BEMEREE

2015 2014
—E-HF ZE—@ONF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET
m 120,762

2,474,080

Included in the balance of amounts due from joint ventures are
loans of HK$175,970,000 (2014: HK$221,882,000) which are
unsecured, interest bearing at fixed rates ranging from 5.10%
t0 5.84% per annum (2014: 5.84% to 6.08% per annum). The
remaining balance is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand. As at March 31, 2015, the balance is
expected to be repayable within twelve months and shown
under current assets. All balances are neither past due nor
impaired at the reporting date as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the Group believes that
the amounts are considered recoverable.

AABKREGERRARBEHBZE
5£175,970,000/% ;. ( = & — 1§ F:
221,882,000/ jt) hE IR - B F
510 £584E( - — W &FE: §4F
5842 E6.08/E) 2 EE KB - #8
HLEEER TtEREREREE-
R-_E—RAF=A=+—H &&7E
ARt -_EAREE Tt AR
BE - AREEEXUTESE ANE -
BEXAEEREEBESEREN FK
B WAREAH FIEEBHER
HRORE -
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For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 - —HAF A =+—HIFE

23. Available-For-Sale Investments

23. A HERE

2015 2014
—E-RF —T-HEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, at R &B LW 2 KRAFE 5 -

fair value RRATFEINE
Unlisted equity securities, at cost less FLETRAES
impairment

Club debenture, at fair value

BARAESE IR E)
EMES  RATFEIIE

41,627 12,392

194,119 149,487
723 1,105

236,469 162,984

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong are stated at fair value. The
fair values of listed equity securities are based on quoted market
bid price. Change in fair value of the listed equity securities
classified as available-for-sale investments for the year ended
March 31, 2015 with an increase of HK$29,235,000 (2014:
HK$2,299,000) was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Unlisted equity securities issued by private entities incorporated
in the PRC. They are measured at cost less impairment at the
end of the reporting period because the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is so significant that the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be
measured reliably.

Club debentures are stated at fair value. Fair value of the club
debenture has been determined by reference to the bid prices
quoted in the second hand market. No fair value change was
recognised in both years.

1 OO CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A

REBETZRAESTHIEAFET
BRe FTRRAZBESRZAFETLIRER
HeMBEABEE REBEE=-F—
EE=ZA=Z+—HILFEE WEEH
AEHEREZ LTRAFSFZAF
B % ) 12 129,235,000 7T (= T — Y
F 12,299,000/ 7T) RERE B R EAM
2EBAFREER -

e b 1 B 2B 5 e 1o B R S22
T AR ERAT - Ty 5 R IR A
MR B REAARAF @S
HrBEAK AAAEERA K
ATETT FHHE -

B %R TEFIE - 85 %
ZATENEEE-FHBHBLE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e R R M ()

Q For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

24. Goodwill 24. B &
HK$'000
TET
COST 5N
At April 1, 2013 R-_E—=FWA—H 908,691
Exchange adjustments VE 5, 58 B 12,777
Arising on acquisitions of businesses (note 39)  E 4 B W B ¥ 75 (M 5E39) 1,415,971
At March 31, 2014 R-EBE-—MF=A=+—H 2,337,439
Arising on acquisitions of businesses (note 39) & 4 B Uk B8 2 75 (M7 39) 168,249
At March 31, 2015 R-ZE—RAF=A=+—H 2,505,688
The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and in the REBREBFRNETRE 2T ERF
financial year in which the acquisition takes place, or more EOERABBETRE EATR
PAON =+, ZRE A o
frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be KAWE A A ER - S EBE A
impaired.

HNANOALREPORT20151 ()1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
A MR M (D)
For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE s’g
N
24. Goodwill (Continued) 24. & (87)
Impairment testing on goodwill EE D RER:E:
Management considered each subsidiary, joint venture or EERAA ZEEFRENSEmS
associate represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill EMBAR - B AR EHEE AR
impairment testing. KBURGESLEML -
The carrying amounts of goodwill as at March 31, 2015 and RZE—RAFER-ZZT—WOF=A=1
2014 are allocated as follows: —HNEENEEES>EWT :
2015 2014
—E-—EF —EF—OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Subsidiaries engaged in natural gas WREXARER
business BBt B A Fl
Clever Decision Enterprise Limited Clever Decision Enterprise Limited 156,067 156,067
BMNPRBETRRER T8 M R AR T R R B R
BRAF ("EMFRR") ABERAR(EIMFALRD 49,339 49,339
IERPRARBHER AR R HARBRER QA 17,114 17,114
WMERAREE S ERER AR HEREEZERGRE AT 59,124 59,124
MEFRMH AR ERERAT MEFR MM RER
("EE" ") BERABI(FAEHM] 16,441 16,441
ESPRBTRRERERAR] FEISHPRHETRRERE
("EFZHIR") AR AR ([EBFRRD 29,884 29,884
HAFRRE TR RERBRAA HAARRE TR EREGRA A
(SRR (TP RR]D) 33,475 33,475
PREEZREERBR AR ("KEBIR") BREXEGEEEIRBR A A
S50 128,902 128,902
IERBUEE DR ER AR AR bR EUEE s R B B R
("EIE= ") ABRAR(EEE 1) 35,564 35,564
China Gas — SK Energy Holdings Co., PR —EBRERIZERER
Limited (“China Gas — SK Energy") NENRR—EBHEIR]) 100,333 100,333
Fortune Gas B R R 944,950 944,950
IR = AR 20,502 —
EEEERAMRERAR EEEERRRERAA
("EBRMRE") (TEAmE]D 129,582 —
Other CGUs BB EEEN 168,046 149,881
Subsidiaries engaged in LPG business =&\t A MR EEH
il RN
Zhongyou Hua Dain Energy Co. Ltd FHEBRFRERAA
("Zhongyou Hua Dian") ([FRHESE]) 232,194 232,194
EBERMEERAR (" LEER") EFBERMBERAF
TEBER] 27,616 27,616
BRTERRREGRAT ("TERER") BERTELREREAGRAA
(MEZERIRD 46,615 46,615
Panva Gas Holdings Limited (“Panva Gas”) & L ¥k R %A% A R A 7
(MaIxImsl) 309,940 309,940

2,505,688 2,337,439

1 O 2 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. Goodwill (Continued)

Impairment testing on goodwill (Continued)
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs
during the period. Management estimates discount rates using
pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth
rates are based on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling
prices and direct costs are based on past practices and
expectations of future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by management for the next
five years. The CGUs cashflows beyond the 5-year period until
the expiry of the relevant operation period or exclusive rights
ranging from 15 to 30 years are extrapolated using a steady 3%
(2014: 3%) growth rate for CGUs in the natural gas business
and 5% (2014: 5%) for CGUs in the LPG business. The financial
budgets and growth rates are estimated according to the stage
of each operation with reference to the development curve of
the natural gas industry in the PRC region. The pre-tax rates
used to discount the forecast cash flows for CGUs are from
13% to 15% (2014: 13% to 15%). In the opinion of the
directors, no material impairment loss is identified for both
years. Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of CGUs to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of CGUs.

(CONTINUED)
BB R KM ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 HE T —AF=-A=+—RALFE

24. B E (&)

2R E B ()
BeELBM oA EREETNRER
BEET -AEEREEZEBRRA
HAEBZHNX - BRELBEHE
PREEKAE - -EEERREEAN
HEEEZKAERRESELEMN
B T B 2 TR H R A EH AT K o E
REZENRHARRET -EEZY
REEKRAZBEED REHRH SR
KZEBBMERE

AEERBEEEHERRAF 2 &
M BEERUA e RERE-F
BARAREBERREABAEBAF
HEEEHABACE PR BREE#
HE (N FI5EEZ0FEFLE)EmaR
cEABMNREAENSFEAREE
BREI%(ZZE—WMF :3%) 5%
(ZE—UF :5%) EITHEE - 15
EEREEERDBESER 2 ERRE
BRE2ERBEMEBEZXKARITEZ
ERMEBEG AREARESEAL
BUZHAIRESRENNEEHR13%
Z215%(ZF—HF :13% £15%) T
Z-EEZRB RzZMEFERES
AABERBAEBE EEERANL
BERZEMNEEAEEENETSGHT
CERRSCELEEN 2 RmAEBK
B o kEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN = =
70 = EZtﬁ%*ﬁin Bﬂ-;} (l% )
For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 - —HAF A =+—HIFE sg
k‘l
25. Other Intangible Assets 25 Hitt ML E&E
Exclusive
rights of
natural gas Exploration Technology Customer
operations right rights Relationship Total
RRR
EB2BR
ReEE B iR EFBR% At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FET
COST R A
At April 1, 2013 R-E—=FMA—H8 947,497 — — 16,313 963,810
Exchange adjustments & 5 16,151 — — 206 16,357
Acquired on acquisition of Wis £ 15 F 1S (M 5E39)
businesses (Note 39) 1,124,708 — 59,922 — 1,184,630
At March 31, 2014 RZZE—MF
=R=+—H 2,088,356 — 59,922 16,519 2,164,797
Exchange adjustments IS 374 152 25 — 551
Additions NE — 93,236 — — 93,236
Acquired on acquisition of W i 75 A5 (M 5£39)
businesses (Note 39) — 1,057,944 — — 1,057,944
At March 31, 2015 R-ZZE-—0F
=R=+—H 2,088,730 1,151,332 59,947 16,519 3,316,528
AMORTISATION #a
At April 1, 2013 RZE—=F
MA—H 110,869 — — 9,864 120,733
Exchange adjustments PE 1 A2 1,348 — — 125 1,473
Charge for the year F A 53,197 — 3,565 1,500 58,262
At March 31, 2014 RZZ—MF
=A=+—H 165,414 = 3,565 11,489 180,468
Exchange adjustments & 5 14 1 1 — 16
Charge for the year F N # 67,406 2,397 241 1,500 71,544
At March 31, 2015 R-ZZE-—0F
=R=+—H 232,834 2,398 3,807 12,989 252,028
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At March 31, 2015 R_ZE—AF
=A=+—8H 1,855,896 1,148,934 56,140 3,530 3,064,500
At March 31, 2014 RZT—MF
=A=+—8 1,922,942 — 56,357 5,030 1,984,329

1 O CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A



25.

26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Other Intangible Assets (Continued)

Note: The exclusive rights of natural gas operation, technology rights and
customer relationship are amortised on a straight-line method over the
period of 30 years, 40 years and 10 years respectively.

The exploration right is amortised by using the units of production method
based on the proven reserve under the assumption the Group can renew
the exploration right indefinitely till all proven reserve has been mined.

Amounts Due from Associates

Included in the balance of amounts due from associates are
loans of HK$61,934,000 (2014: HK$247,743,000) which are
unsecured, interest bearing at fixed rates of 6% per annum (2014:
5.88% t0 6.56% per annum). The remaining balance of nil (2014:
HK$117,903,000) are of trade nature aged within 180 days
based on invoice date. A credit period of 30 to 180 days is
granted to these trade customers. As at March 31, 2015, the
balance of HK$35,658,000 (2014: HK$189,887,000) is expected
to be repayable after one year and shown under non-current
assets. The remaining balance is expected to be repayable
within twelve months and shown under current assets. During
the year ended March 31, 2015, the Group made an allowance
of HK$145,646,000 (2014: nil) in respect of the non-trade
balance of amount due from an associate, which was past due
at the reporting date with long age and slow repayments were
received from respective associate since the due date. The
directors of the Company considered the related receivables
may be impaired and specific allowance is made. Except the
above, all balances are neither past due nor impaired at the
reporting date as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the Group believes that the amounts are
considered recoverable.

For the year ended March 31, 2015 &= - %

26.

(CONTINUED)
B MR M (&)

—RF=ZRA=+—-HLFE

HELEE (&)

sk : RAREBZBREERE RMTBEREP
1R 5 B 30F ~ 40F R 104F 2 HRI A A
BEET A -

HDREDBRAEERAELRARES
TEFRAT  EAHERMBEHRE TR
BRI EEREEEMAFERE -

JE W Bt

ARARBBE AR RBEEBZE
61,934,000 L( = T — M F:
247,743,000 o) I EEK R - B F
6E(=ZZF — M4 : §4588E%6.56
BE)cBEEMEGFE - BRBEEL(ZF
— PO 4 : 117,903,000/ 7T) BB 5 &
g BRERHAEZEHETI180H R - K
SERZEESREFE T30HZE180
E!ZP%E@ R-_E—FHF=A=+
— B - 4 #:35,658,000/8 L (== —
ii189,887,000/%7E)E‘Eu‘|‘/,\ﬁ’\ i
BERE Wi AFERDEE - 45ETE
SFEET -_MEARNEE Wit ARE
EE - BHE_T—HAF=ZA=1+—H
IEFE - AEBERERBERAIER
5 4 8 E 145,646,000 7T (— T —
ME: T)EE REAZS RNERR
SHHCAR - BREMBEEBE
/Aﬁ@iuﬁﬂau%z;&?ﬁu*%lm
ARAREERAEEBRKERL TR
B WIEHSEBEME- EEIE’\\\TE/\’E%

NECIE |

VTEBANE BAKEHREERSE
BMARMER T UE - MRBREB M A
BEBRHERRNRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

) (CONTINUED)
¥ |, GARMBRANE@ &
S \5 For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z2 T —HAF=A=+—HILFE ‘l \'5
N ¥ ¥
27. Inventories 27. &
2015 2014
—E—-E1F —E-mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THE T FAT
Construction materials EM 424,471
Consumables, spare parts and coke materials & #& 0 ~ # 14 & A B vk 135,763
Natural gas RKAR 78,540
LPG BAL A R 560,105

1,198,879

28. Amounts Due from (to) Customers for 2. EWW(EERBEFZEHT

Contract Work BERE
2015 2014
—E-HEF —E—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET

Contracts in progress at end of the RpEHRZEEZTRE
reporting period:

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits = 15 2 & %) 5k 4% 1N

less recognised losses B R AR B EREE 1,945,730

Less: Progress billings B EE AR (1,575,640)
370,090

Analysed for reporting purposes as: E2HABE DT :
Amounts due from customers ERERFEZEHITIERIE

for contract work 797,749
Amounts due to customers BNEFPZAEHITRERIE

for contract work (427,659)

370,090

1 O CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIERERA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. Amounts Due from (to) Customers for

29.

(CONTINUED)
e W Rk et ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

Contract Work (Continued)

At March 31, 2015 and 2014, there was no retention monies
held by customers for contract work performed. At March 31,
2015, advances received from customers for contract work not
yet commenced amounted to HK$606,971,000 (2014:

HK$801,053,000) which were included in
payables in note 32.

Trade and Other Receivables

trade and other

29.

28.

R-E—FHER _T—NF=F=+
— B VYERBRERAEREREET
ZAHNTIERMBE - R-_T—AF=
A=+—H BEREAEBAZEHNL
2 EF UWE 2 83X 5606,971,00078 7T
(== — [ £ : 801,053,000/ 7T ) * I
EAAMERESREAERREME
HERIE -

B2 EWERMRREMER
fR1E

Trade receivables
Less: Accumulated allowances

Trade receivables

Deposits paid for construction
and other materials

Deposits paid for purchase of natural gas
and LPG

Advance payments to sub-contractors

Rental and utilities deposits

Other tax recoverable

Other receivables and deposits

Prepaid operating expenses

Amounts due from non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries

Total trade and other receivables

2015 2014
—F-1R% —FTWF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FE T
B 5 EBER 1,716,337 1,438,018
o BEHEAE (375,685) (318,613)
B 5 e BRI 1,340,652 1,119,405
ITREEMMBESZS
796,171 681,232
BERAREKBRLLAHR
EffiEs 641,747 545,747
BN T 5B 2RIE 525,896 538,683
ek AHEELS 233,709 138,340
H b 7] g = 7 IH 242,742 162,500
HiEREERES 1,247,221 1,190,433
TEMEERX 265,078 320,333
JE A B BB A B FE AR
e %5 KA 34,637 39,924
Z 5 E U BR TR I H A fE UK
BRIBARE 4,736,597

Other than certain major customers with good repayment

history which the Group allows a longer

credit period or

settlement by instalment basis, the Group generally allows an
average credit period of 30 to 180 days to its trade customers.

BRETHREHRRITIZEEZTFER
EEAEFEREGEEHI D BHAR
G ANEBE—RAEZEFEFREHETF
3021808 22 EH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
= E G ))

For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 - —HAF A =+—HIFE

< -

N
k‘l

29. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of
impairment losses presented based on invoice date at the end
of the reporting period:

B2 EWERMRREMER
Bk I8

RBERR RERBH2NZES

JE W BR R (FNBR R E B 1B) 2 BR ik 2 4T
mr

2015 2014

—ZE-RfF —E-mF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR FET

0-180 days 0-180 H
181-365 days 181-365H
Over 365 days 365H M E

1,124,493 890,496
155,878 182,357
60,281 46,552

l!ll!l! 1,119,405

The trade receivables with carrying amount of
HK$1,124,493,000 (2014: HK$890,496,000) are neither past
due nor impaired at the reporting date for which the Group
believes that the amounts are considered recoverable.

The Group has policies for allowance of bad and doubtful debts
which are based on the evaluation of collectability and age
analysis of accounts and on the management’s judgment
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each customer.

During the year ended March 31, 2015, the Group made an
allowance of HK$57,072,000 (2014: HK$64,579,000) in respect
of the trade receivables related to the gas pipeline construction
business and LPG business, which was past due at the reporting
date with long age and slow repayments were received from
respective customers since the due date. The directors of the
Company considered the related receivables may be impaired
and specific allowance is made.

’I 08 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

HEIRRIZRERA A

B8R ™ {8 1,124,493,000/% ;T (= & — I
F : 890,496,000/ 7T) 2 B 5 FE W AR X
RE BB ma Ak BIERE
SEREZEREIERAATRE -

ARE RERBEEBRDREED
RERERZFBERBRZERE DN
TIREEEEHEREEREPRK L
B R GRIE AR 2 H B

REBEE-_T—RAF=ZA=+—HIF
ER AEEREGREBERER
B2 E 5 EWER K {EH57,072,000
BT (ZZ— M4 : 64,579,000/ 7T) 2
BiE RRAZSERERKZEBHE
BE HEHRAZREBEEBRETPAARAR
HEARZERREEZE - A DRE
EREBEBERERFBARSHE WiE
M ERE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
e B RS EHR AR M EE ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 HE T —AF=-A=+—RALFE

Movement in the allowance for bad and doubtful debts:

29. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued) 29. fé FE UK BE =X &% H 4t FE W

Balance at the beginning of the year F )&

Exchange differences ME 5, Z 58
Charge for the year FEEE
Balance at the end of the year F IR

iR 18 ()
RIZRRBZED
2015 2014
—E-EfF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TAET
318,613 250,858
— 3,176
57,072 64,579

-H!!! 318,613

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables, the
Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to the
reporting date. The trade receivables past due but not provided
for impairment were either subsequently settled as at the date
these consolidated financial statements were authorised for
issuance or no historical default of payments by the respective
customers. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the
customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company believe that there is no further credit
provision required in excess of the allowance for bad and
doubtful debts.

Included in the Group's trade receivables are debtors, with a
carrying amount of HK$216,159,000 (2014: HK$228,909,000)
which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group
has not provided as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the amount are still considered recoverable.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The
average age of these trade receivable is 345 days (2014: 325
days) as at March 31, 2015.

H T B 5 e W AR SR AE B IR E B - AN &
BeEtRESRKRERZEREERE
EEVASLEREERSE HHHE
ZEFRE - BEERELREZE
HRMEREFFERRAGEA B R
RERENE2HEEN BRI
BRATHRERLBIEF ARE
FESEEARITEE HREEE
FREEBRAR B ARREFHE
BARRERBEHENINE - FPRBE
EXE -

AEB2EZRUERTBEEERR
216,159,000 7t < R K (=& — I
% :228,909,000/8 7T) * % E FHKIE R R
SHHERY BEAEEENEEE
EXABERELLASBMWER B UK
[B] T & R PR Y o AN B N & B
EEBRFRAEAER - R —HF
ZA=t—HB %ZEES5RUERZ
FHERER AB345H(=ZF — PO F : 325
H) e

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015
—E-hEPBERE 1 09



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

R R ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE gg
¢

29. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued) 29. E S FE W BR = & H b fE UK

iR I1E (4R)
Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not E@EERIIERE 2 E S E KX
impaired: 2B
2015 2014
—E-HF% —F-@OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAERT
180-365 days 180-365 H 155,878
Over 365 days 365H A = 60,281
216,159
The non-trade balances of amounts due from non-controlling KRB AR EERER ZIFESE
interests of subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and BRI AEEF S HEAREREER-

repayable on demand.

30. Held-For-Trading Investments 30. FIEEERE
2015 2014
—E-HEF —ZE—F
HK$7000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Equity securities at fair value listed in BRATEFE2BE LT
Hong Kong NS

1 1 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
i a B R AR Y ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

31. Pledged Bank Deposits/Bank Balances

and Cash

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less and carry interest at market rates which range
from 0.01% to 2.80% per annum (2014: 0.01% to 2.60% per
annum).

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group. Deposits
amounting to HK$63,484,000 (2014: HK$250,748,000) have
been pledged to secure short-term bank loans and undrawn
short-term facilities and are therefore classified as current assets.
The pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rate of 2.80% to
2.90% (2014: 1.35% to 3.08%) per annum.

The details of the Group’s pledged bank deposits and bank
balances and cash which are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the respective group entities are
set out below:

MEEFRITERRITE
BREE

RTERLRACBERAEEFF 2B
S REAR=@EAKAANEHZ S
RITEZR BEF00EE280E (=
T—NE: GFE00IEZE260E) 2T
ARG B o

EHBEROTGEREARGETAS
BsR{ITMEMBLBFRITZAE
K ©63,484,000% (= & — M@ F:
250,748,000 7T ) Z 17 Z B E# #7 LA
BSEBHETERRRIER ZEHH
B A BEARSEE SHEHMAR
TERIETF280EE290E (=T —
ME : §4135E£3.082) 2 & E A
KErB e

AEEUEHBEEER KRR
SNz SN EHE 2 B M IRITIE A
MRTTRB LR ZFBHINWOT

usD HK$
ESpH BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&TT TH& T
equivalent
BER
At March 31, 2015 R-—E—RHE=A=+—H 561,911 32,986
At March 31, 2014 R-_ZE—NWE=A=+—H 995,204 208,654

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015'| 1 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
e M Rk et ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 B ZE T —RAF=-A=+—HILFE

32. Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables comprise amounts outstanding for
trade purchases and ongoing costs. The following is an aged
analysis of trade and other payables presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

32 EZENRMRK
|

H ftb F& 1%
AR

BIRNEREEMENKREREE
FEERFBENA 2 RGEFHR -1
BERAR REZAH2IN2EFHE
i BR 3k Ko B A FE A BR IR 2 BR 6 9 AT 40
T

2015 2014
—E-—FF — g4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
0-90 days 0-90 H 1,379,846 1,101,225
91-180 days 91-180 H 477,489 432,312
Over 180 days 180H BA 1,360,640 1,001,938
Trade and bill payables BORNERRENER EWAVE Y 2,535,475
Other payables and accrued charges HEmEMIRIERESER 642,893 563,161
Construction fee payables ERNIEEA 528,918 507,833
Other tax payables JRE 5 Ath 7% 18 60,792 26,348
Accrued staff costs =N 86,397 70,869
Loan interest payables & B K F B 76,827 115,947
Deposits received from customers BWEMEFZES 45,939 48,253
Advance payments from customers KAREP B W HIA 1,486,290 1,338,459
Advances received from customers for contract 2 [A] 14 7k & B 2 & #) T 12
works that have not yet been started = B U B 2 25k 606,971 801,053
Amounts due to non-controlling interests of & 1~ Fff & A &) JE 28 i
subsidiaries e 5 SKIE 171,324 71,697

6,924,326 6,079,095

Included in the amounts due to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries are trade payables amounting to HK$582,000 (2014:
HK$16,204,000) respectively. All of the balances were aged
within 90 days based on invoice date and the average credit
period is 90 days.

The non-trade balances of amounts due to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

1 1 ZCHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A

FFABRNHB AR EERER S5
BB 5 et R 7582,0008 T (=& —
P9 4F : 16,204,000/ T ) ° FT A 4 64 2
Rk mBEEEZAHEF0BR F
HEEHA0H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

mEMBERRN T (&
33. Amount Due to a Non-Controlling 3. BB ATFERESRS

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE T —AF=A=+—HILFE
Interest of a Subsidiary |

ZRARERR  HENEK2EFTE -
REREEERIABEGE-

The amount was unsecured, bearing fixed-rate interest at 2%
per annum, repayable on demand and denominated in JPY.

34. Bank and Other Borrowings 3. BRITRHEMMEE

2015 2014

—E2—F8F —E e

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FHET

Bank and other borrowings comprise the RITREMEERRE
following: ATR&IA -

Bank borrowings RITEE 19,326,169
Trust receipt loans ERREER 112,687
Other bank borrowings HaiRI1TEE 1,224,553
Other loans HiER 72,153
20,735,562
Secured A i 1 7,187,277
Unsecured 4 4 1 13,548,285

20,735,562

HiRITIEERA 2 EEYEZMR
ARIEEBREREENER

Other bank borrowings represent the loans from discounting of
intercompany receivables with full recourse.

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 1 1 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e SRR M ()

’
For the year ended March 31,2015 B ZE T —RAF=-A=+—HILFE

\
¥

34. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued) 34. $R{TR HEME & (&)

2015 2014
—E-AHEF —T—mF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FET

The maturity profile of the above loans isas bt £ & 2 B HIE SR a0 T

follows:
Within one year R—FR 3,918,554
More than one year, but not exceeding two % —F BT HBRBMF
years 5,242,474
More than two years, but not exceeding five % AWM EE T BB TS
years 9,509,517
More than five years ZRAF 2,065,017
20,735,562
Less: Amount due within one year shown W —FREIEY AR
under current liabilities BEZHE (3.918,554)
Amount due after one year —F1& B H 2 ;RIE 16,817,008
Borrowings comprise: BEBE:
Fixed-rate borrowings ELEE 2,812,752
Floating-rate borrowings FREE
— LIBOR plus 1.50% — 2.35% — B R EFER X
S hn1.50E F2.352 12,602,918
— Base rate of People’s Bank of China — R ARRITELE
) & 5,319,892

20,735,562

1 1 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIERERA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
e M B RR M R

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

34. RITR EMEE (F)

A E B RIS FI % 8 (7748
ERITHFE) 0T -

34. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued)

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as

follows:
2015 2014
—B-RfF —ZF [
Effective interest rate per annum: BEERFEHE -
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE p [ D78 D/ 2°00%-8:90%
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE LIRS 3.84%-8.46%

AEEGRENBEEERIERER
Ropz BBt EZEEFHHI M

The details of the Group’s borrowings which are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the respective

group entities are set out below: T

usbD JPY EURO
E300 =] & T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TFAET FAET
equivalent equivalent equivalent
HER HER HE R

At March 31, 2015 RZT—hHF
=—A=+—H 16,572,877 539,423 26,056

At March 31, 2014 M-T—mE
=A=+—8H 13,727,926 587,818 37,408

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 1 1 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e P BHRERNE &

For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z—Z—HF=A=+—HILFE ¥

35. Share Capital 35. & 2
Convertible

Ordinary shares preference shares Total
EBER RRE LR a5t

No. of shares No. of shares

‘000 at ‘000 at
HK$0.01 each HK$’'000 HK$1.00 each HK$'000 HK$'000

T A& A% 2= Ak T % ik 2= A

EE0.017& 7T TR  H{E00VET THET TET

Authorised ETE 9,000,000 90,000 124,902 124,902 214,902
Issued and fully paid: BETRAE :
At April 1, 2013 N-ZE—=4F

mA—H 4,569,725 45,697 — — 45,697
Issue of new ordinary BT L BRI

shares for the acquisition Y & — 78 2 7%

of a business (Note a) (Mf7xa) 184,119 1,842 — = 1,842
Exercise of share option 17150 IR e
(note 44) (Fif 55 44) 241,444 2,414 — - 2414
At March 31, 2014 RZZE—MF
=A=+—H 4,995,288 49,953 — — 49,953
Repurchase of shares ] % A% 19 (Pt 3 b)
(Note b) (19,210) (192) — (192)
Exercise of share option 17 {50 B % 4
(note 44) (Pt X 44) 25,760 258 — 258
At March 31, 2015 RZZE—HF
=A=+—8H 5,001,838 50,019 — 50,019

The new shares issued rank pari passu with the existing shares
in all respects.

LS

1 1 6 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
e W Rk et ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

35. Share Capital (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

As part of the consideration of the acquisition of Fortune Gas, completion
of which took place on August 2013, 184,119,463 ordinary shares of the
Company with par value of HK$0.01 each was issued.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company repurchased its own
shares through the Stock Exchange as follows:

35. R4S (&)

@ FARESHHRE(ER=Z—=/A
STR) ZE D RE - B #17184,119,463 /%
SREE AL ZARR TR -

b) BEZT-—AF=A=+—HLEFE K
RABBEIMEABES S ZRNHOT

No. of Price per share Aggregated

ordinary SRE® repurchased

Month of repurchase B & A 17 shares of HK$0.01 highest lowest costs
0.01% T

ZEBREE B& RIE #8508 [ Y A<

HK$ HK$ HK$'000

7T BT FHET

December 2014 —E-—WFE+=-A 6,610,000 12.40 11.94 80,955

January 2015 —T—h%—A8 11,734,000 12.56 11.74 141,409

February 2015 —T—hF%=A 866,000 11.98 11.94 10,393
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e SRR M ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 B Z -~ T —h¥=A=+—RILFE §§
¥
36. Reserves 36. f# &
2015 2014
—E-AHEF —T—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Translation reserve BERE
At the beginning of the reporting period REREH 794,098
Exchange difference arising on translation RpEmMEELECIER =5 (1,979)
At the end of the reporting period R EHR 792,119
Investment revaluation reserve BREEMREE
At the beginning of the reporting period R E B

11

Increase in fair value on available-for-sale
investments

At the end of the reporting period

A ERE QX FEE N

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

e B HRRMNE R

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

37. Deferred Taxation

37. EERH 18

The following is the deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting

UTRRABRRFEERAMNBRFE
EHRARCHBARE(BE) AKRIERE

years. BE) o
Fair value Impairment
adjustment on trade
on property, receivables
Revaluation plant and and amounts
Accelerated on equipment due from
tax investment and prepaid Tax Intangible customers for
depreciation properties lease payments losses assets  contract work Total
L/ER 3 8 5 RYURS
REEUR REWEF
BAAREREZ ZENIR
MEBRSTE  RENEEMR ATERE BAkR BREE TERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THT TET FTET THT FTET
At April 1, 2013 R=ZZ-=%F
mA—H 471 24,701 147,763 (13,376) 219,721 (97,236) 282,044
Exchange adjustments ERAE — 149 1,917 — 2,313 (1,233) 3,146
Charge (credit) to profit or loss for AR B2 MK
the year (note 12) (%) (FiEE12) — 2,086 (4,622) (297) (8.,617) (12,329) (23,779)
Acquisition of businesses g% — — — — 259,169 — 259,169
At March 31, 2014 RZZ—mEF
=A=+-H 47 26,936 145,058 (13,673) 472,586 (110,798) 520,580
Exchange adjustments [E 5 A8 — — (31) — 519 — 488
Charge (credit) to profit or loss for £ AR B2 R Mk
the year (note 12) (E %) (fizE12) — 1,263 (4,662) (1,089) (12,042) (13,691) (30,221)
Acquisition of businesses -8 — — — — 119,450 — 119,450
At March 31, 2015 R-Z—H%F
=ZA=t+-H 471 28,199 140,365 (14,762) 580,513 (124,489) 610,297

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

REINEAMBRARME & TE
EHBREERABES THEBE AT
SRMBEHREN S ZELERIRL R

DT

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

ERERIAEE
EEBIAERE

2015
—
HK$°000
TER

124,489
(734,786)

ll! |!!II (520,580)

- =

2014
—mE

HK$'000

1

THET

10,798

(631,378)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
B MR R M ()

For the year ended March 31, 2015 = - %

37.

120

—hFE=A=+t—BILHFE

Deferred Taxation (Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax,
withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of
profit earned by PRC subsidiaries from January 1, 2008 onward.
No deferred taxation has been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC entities
amounting to HK$8,890,918,000 (2014: HK$5,168,332,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

All joint ventures and associates established in the PRC are held
directly by certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group
established in the PRC which are therefore not subject to the
above-mentioned withholding tax.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated
unused tax losses of HK$4,264,561,000 (2014: HK$3,718,070,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of HK$89,462,000 (2014:
HK$82,862,000) of the tax losses. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised for the remaining estimated tax losses of
HK$4,175,099,000 (2014: HK$3,635,208,000) due to the
uncertainty of future profits streams. Included in unrecognised
estimated tax losses are losses of HK$2,751,245,000 (2014:
HK$2,594,621,000) that will expire in 5 years from the year of
origination which is ranged from 2015 to 2019 (2014: 2014 to
2018). Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ERERAT

37. }

-

L*EIE (n\ﬁ)

RETBECEMEHE A _-F

=N

F—A—HE BHPENEREMR
Bz A E K2 BB AU E
MoFEMBERRLEDLFHERLR

=t % 718,890,918,000 7T (= & — Y
£ 1 5,168,332,00058 JT) 2 & B = F(E
HEERBEE RESASE IR
SO ERERE2ER BERNZEZS
RATRE T 2R A B R E -

IBRERALBERRIHAANEE
ERERIZETEEMBARER
FA G R BAHS LA BN -

N E R ANEBE A ALEER
KaflzBar ABAHEBEE A
4,264,561,000% o ( = T — g & :
3,718,070,0007% 7T ) » E 589,462,000

B (= Z — U4 :82,862,000/% 7T )
ZHREEBERRECHELEE - AR

R G F R M T REE - BT
I8 5 48.4,175,099,000% 7T ( — & — Y
£ : 3,635,208,0008 T ) I £ # R IE
EHIBEEE - KRERMGFHIEEIE
FEEEBRRFE(ZZE—RAFE=
E-—NF)(ZE—WF: _T—NF
E-E-N\FHE)RBITAEFTFANEM
22,751,245,000% ;o ( = & — I 4 :
2,594,621,0007% JT) 18 - H Ath E5i8 A]
4 IR HA 45
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For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

38. Acquisition of Additional Interest in
Subsidiaries

(A) Acquisition of additional interest in

(B)

subsidiaries in 2015

The Group entered into a sale and purchase agreements
with the remaining equity interests of certain subsidiaries
on the PRC for a total consideration of RMB9,804,000
(approximately HK$12,410,000). The difference between
the consideration paid and the carrying amount of the
additional interest acquired by the Group of
HK$4,518,000 was credited to equity as capital reserve
during the year ended March 31, 2015.

Acquisition of additional interest in
subsidiaries in 2014

The Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with the remaining 5% equity interests of a subsidiary on
the PRC for a consideration of RMB6,318,000
(approximately HK$7,897,000). The difference between
the consideration paid and the carrying amount of the
additional interest acquired by the Group of
HK$7,882,000 was debited to equity as capital reserve
during the year ended March 31, 2014.

38. KB B LRI ER

A R=EZ2—HFWBEBHEL

(B)

A RE M 2R
AEBENVEEHHE NABH
@K (B AR #9,804,0007T (49
12,410,000 7% 7T ) U i 5 T 0 B B
BRARIZHTRAREZ B2
KRB EA S BRI E B INE R BR
M2 =%84,518,000 8 TN E =
TE-—RE=RA=+—RIEE
LA E 7N R s HE i 2 FR H0RK o

AN—_ZE—MFIRBHEBEQ
) KEME 2=
AEBITVEEHGSE NAH
RILKE AR #6,318,0007T (49
7,897,0007% 7T ) Y i A B BT B A
AR To% ANz - B XK
BHEANEEKRBREIINESERT
B2 #=%87,882,000/8 TR E = —
E-NE=A=+—HILFEM
BRI S R R o
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39. Acquisition of Businesses

(A) Acquisition of a business through purchase A R-ZZE—HEFFEBWEK
of subsidiaries in 2015 B BTH&%%%
(i) In January 14, 2014, a subsidiary of the Group i) "—_ZE—MWFE—-—AHF+mH@

entered into an acquisition agreement with an
independent third party, pursuant to which the
Group acquired 100% equity interest of ‘B & £ 18

BEBEMAARAR ("HEME") at a consideration
of RMB23,000,000 (approximately HK$29,114,000).
The acquisition was completed on April 1, 2014, on
that date the control in E & @£ was passed to the
Group. E&E3@iE is principally engaged in natural

gas business.

= $%IZW%’AE§E§%
NE=ZFEKKERE B
It AREBREE RS BE
EEMABERAATE=R
BE]) 22 PRAEE
KB A AR ¥23,000,0007T
(#929,114,000 7T ) » U B
E#:% @EEH—H
I%|J¢E$%$y§$%@ BE=E

BEFZRERARED -
Consideration transferred E#EAE
HK$’'000
FH T
Cash e 29,114
Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition AEBRKEEERZE
recognised by the Group: ERBE:

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and fair value
before combination

WS RS BFAT

ZEREER AFE

HK$'000

FAET

Property, plant and equipment W BE K& HE 11,164
Prepaid lease payments A HEERKIE 3,894
Trade and other receivables B 5 & YRR 3R R H At fE W AR 1R 6,337
Bank balances and cash WITEHRRE S 4
Trade and other payables B EMNBRR N EMEMNKE (230)
21,169

Goodwill RS 7,945
29,114

1 2 2 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A
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For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(A) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of subsidiaries in 2015 (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

The fair value as well as the gross contractual
amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired
amounted to HK$6,337,000 at the date of
acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of
the contractual cash flows not expected to be
collected is nil.

39. BB = ()

A R=ZZ2-—LFEBWEK
BLrWiEER (&)
(i) (&

RIWER: FTkEZE S
JE WS BR 3R I E b B UK BR 1B
ZAFEREAENBEREA
6,337,000/ T 7 W B B
HIEBEEIKEB S HIEE
MZmERBTBES -

Goodwill arising on acquisition B i EE A B AR
HK$'000
FBT
Consideration transferred BEENAE 29,114
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets & : Fr Ut B8 o] 3% B /% & &
acquired /NS ] (21,169)
Goodwill arising on acquisition B B T A 2 P 7,945

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of H =i
is attributed to the anticipated profitability of its
natural gas business.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is

AKBEEBREMELZ
BHEDERERARER
ZEHBREEN

BHYERZBREME

expected to be deductible for tax purposes. &7 AR DRI ©

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition B4 B i EE 2 R %
H R

HK$’000
FHET
Bank balances and cash acquired Friig c RITHEMR R IR ® 4
Cash consideration paid it 2BHeRE (29,114)
Deposit paid it zize 8,734
(20,376)
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<
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

12

(A) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of subsidiaries in 2015 (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the Group's result for the year ended
March 31, 2015 is a loss of HK$1,703,000
attributable to the additional business incurred by
‘B &2, Revenue included in the Group’s revenue
for the year ended March 31, 2015 amounted to
HK$800,000.

In March 21, 2014, a subsidiary of the Group
entered into an acquisition agreement with an
independent third party, pursuant to which the
Group acquired 90% equity interest of )l ¥TEE(L
TREBR AT (“In)IIFEE") at a consideration of
RMB432,000,000 (approximately HK$546,835,000).
The acquisition was completed on April 17, 2014,
on that date the control in i)l was passed to
the Group. %#J113#75E is an investment holding which
its associate is principally engaged in natural gas
business.

39. WEE X5 (&

A R=ZZ2-—HLFEBWEK
BLorWiEER (&)

(i)

(ii)

(#&

WEH A EFEE Z ZE
AEEHE-_ZT—HF=
A=+—BLEEEZXE
PREFERE=REZSE
4N Z 7 21,703,000 T &
Bt ARNEBHE_FT—
hAF=ZA=+—RHILFE
U 25 B9 U 25 800,000 7T °

R-_E—WNME=H=-+—
B A&EBEWHBE QG HEB
VA=t B VAR
Bt - AL B U EE TR )| H 48
(ER)EEBRAA(RK
NI #ee]) 2 90% MR A #E 25
R E A A R #432,000,000
7% ( #9546,835,0007 7T ) °
KWEER-ZE—mEm A
+tB%EK RE R I
ez EnlEEEEAE
& o 35 )1 FaE TR B R A
Al EBENRETERERXR
RRETS -

Consideration transferred EEEZEAE
HK$'000
FE T
Cash Re 546,835

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A
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For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. W BB & ()

(A) Acquisition of a business through purchase A R=ZZE—RFZEBWEKH
of subsidiaries in 2015 (Continued) BN U ER (F)
(ii) (Continued) (i) (%)
Consideration transferred (Continued) EEEEAE(E)
Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition AEBRKWBEHERZE
recognised by the Group: ERBE:

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and provisional
fair value before
combination

WS REBAT 2
REEREELNFEE
HK$’000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment I ER N 150
Investment in an associate REE QR Z A 607,227
Trade and other receivables B 5 e W AR R % E i FE W R 1A 193
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRIRS 25
607,595
Non-controlling interests IE 2 A% HE 25 (60,760)
546,835
The initial accounting for the above acquisition has T EE 2T S5
been determined provisionally, awaiting the receipt BRETNEREE @ AR
of professional valuation in relation to investment in SEBERBE ARIMNKRE
an associate. ZEFEMERETE -
The fair value as well as the gross contractual RIEBR: KB ZE S
amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired FE W BR 51 K H h FE Y BR 1R
amounted to HK$193,000 at the date of acquisition. ZAFEREHNRER
The best estimate at acquisition date of the 193,000/ 7T o PA UK & B %
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected TEHE A & AR &R
is nil. ZERERMGFAE -

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 1 2 5
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(A) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of subsidiaries in 2015 (Continued)

126

(ii)

(iii)

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests in )| 1%78E recognised
at the date of the acquisition was measured by
reference to the respective proportionate shares of
recognised amounts of net assets of relevant
subsidiary and amounted to HK$60,760,000.

39. W 7 (48)

A RZE—FHFEZEBWEM
J*/“TM&H%%?}%@M
(i) (%)

IR 2

R UEE B AR 2 I 1| # BE
FERESEE2EHMBMN
BAREEZFENSHEH
ERRBBLOAFER
60,760,000% JT °

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition B W g i EE A 2 B2 7
JHEE

HK$’000
FH T
Bank balances and cash acquired g 2 sRITH B RR € 25
Cash consideration paid FrEftzEERE (546,835)
(546,810)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group g fiE 7K £ B A 2

Included in the profit for the year ended March 31,
2015 is HK$5,889,000 attributable to the additional
business generated by I%)I|¥78. No revenue
contributed by F)!|%#78E for the year ended March
31, 2015.

In March 27, 2014, a subsidiary of the Group
entered into an acquisition agreement with an
independent third party, pursuant to which the
Group acquired 100% equity interest of +H#E& & L
FEPRETRRERERAR ("HEREIL") at
a consideration of RMB25,524,000 (approximately
HK$32,309,000). The acquisition was completed
on May 31, 2014, on that date the control in
+IEE E 1L was passed to the Group. THER & 1L is
principally engaged in natural gas business.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A

(iii)

rEBHE_ZE-—AE=
A=Z+—BLEEEZHH
BIESBNII 28
4N Z 7% 25,889,000 TT °
WIFeEREE_F—Hh
F=ZA=+—BHILEEY
5 BT Uk 2 -

RZE—WOE=A=-_++t
H A&EBEWBE QR RS
N EZ R MR
Bt AEBRBFERE
WiEEF R mRARER
BR2BI(+HERE LD
2100% % A # w0 B
A AN R % 25,524,000 7T ( 49
32,309,000/ T ) o WEE
R-ZE—WOF=ZA=+—
HEK ' REH  +ER
BlzEflEEgEsAE
B -+EREZELEEREX
RRETS -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Q For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. W BB & ()

(A) Acquisition of a business through purchase A R-ZZE—HEFFEBWNEKH
of subsidiaries in 2015 (Continued) BN e WK (8)
(iii) (Continued) (i) (#&)
Consideration transferred E#EAE
HK$'000
FHET
Cash H4e 32,309
Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition AEBRKEARBRZE
recognised by the Group: ERBE:

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and fair value
before combination

WU B A RE BEAT
ZEREERATE
HK$'000
FAET
Property, plant and equipment M - BB &R 7,678
Prepaid lease payments AN EERIE 506
Inventories FE 42
Trade and other receivables B 5 e WAR 3 N E i e Uk BR 1R 37,739
Bank balances and cash WRITEHRRIES 1,031
Trade and other payables B 5 FE 1 BR 5 I E A FE 5 AR 1E (4,787)
Bank borrowings RITEE (14,557)
27,652
Goodwill RS 4,657
32,309
The fair value as well as the gross contractual RKER: FMEZES
amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired JE U BR SR K E b E YK BR 18
amounted to HK$37,739,000 at the date of ZAFERAHBEE
acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of 37,739,000 JT A W B8 H
the contractual cash flows not expected to be HEMHEZREEHNES
collected is nil. M2 EEBTHRE -

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 1 2 7
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For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE gg
\"

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. WEE XK (&

(A) Acquisition of a business through purchase A R-ZZE—HEFFEBWEK
of subsidiaries in 2015 (Continued) BARWEEE(E)
(iii) (Continued) (iii) (#&)
Goodwill arising on acquisition B Y B T E A 2 A
HK$’000
FAT
Consideration transferred EHEERE 32,309
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets  J&{ - FTUKBE AT s RIF B &=
acquired NEE (27,652)
Goodwill arising on acquisition AKEMEEZEE 4,657
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of +E& & WETERE LmESE
L] is attributed to the anticipated profitability of its ZRAEBDEREXRARE
natural gas business. Bz BHAR N -
None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is T8 HA I A R 5% 18 U RE T 2
expected to be deductible for tax purposes. A2 B HRELIA -
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition B fg T B A 2 B i M
JH R
HK$'000
FAET
Bank balances and cash acquired g v RITH B ER € 1,031
Cash consideration paid FIZftzBHERE (32,309)
(31,278)
Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group g Fi 7K £ B e A4F > 22 4
Included in the profit for the year ended March 31, AEBHE_Z—HF=
2015 is HK$1,297,000 attributable to the additional A=+—HBILEFEEZ%EF
business generated by +1EEE L. Revenue BEEBERTERS L
included in the Group’s revenue for the year ended ¥ AN % & 21,297,000
March 31, 2015 amounted to HK$15,739,000. Tt AXEEEHEZE_T

—FAE=H=F—BIEE
E Y 25§ U 25 415,739,000
BT °

1 2 8 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(A) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of subsidiaries in 2015 (Continued)

(iv)

In June 30, 2014, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent
third party, pursuant to which the Group acquired
100% equity interest of E#REZRENAERAMRET
AFl ("B#HWBEN") at a consideration of
RMB32,000,000 (approximately HK$40,506,000).
The acquisition was completed on October 1, 2014,
on that date the control in E#8EYt was passed to
the Group. E#BEXt is principally engaged in
natural gas business.

39. BB = ()

A R=ZZ-—LFEFEBWREMN
B W ()
(v =2 -—WmEXA=+

H AEBEWNEBRQRHEB
SN E =R URE
BUE - NEB Y E 0GB
HERBREERAR( S
WEN] )z 2 ER AL -
KB A AR ®32,000,0007T
(#940,506,0003 7T ) © U B
ER-_E—Wm&E+A—H
TKCREH BHREXZ
THEEEEAREER - 518

BEAEENRERARER -
Consideration transferred EEZEAE
HK$'000
FBT
Cash H 4 40,506

Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition
recognised by the Group:

AEBERKBRAERZE
ENAE:

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and fair value
before combination

WU B R A B A

ZEREERATE

HK$'000

FAET

Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NEE 35,271
Prepaid lease payments A ERIE 2,981
Inventories FE 583
Trade and other receivables B 5 e YR 3 % H A fE AR TR 563
Bank balances and cash WITHEBRIR® 82
Trade and other payables B 5 FE A AR 3 % K Ath FE S BRIE (4,537)
34,943

Goodwill = 5,563
40,506

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 ’| 2 9
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For the year ended March 31,2015 #iZ =T —HAF=A=+—BILFE gg
\"
39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. B XK (&
(A) Acquisition of a business through purchase A R-ZZE—HEFFEBWEK
of subsidiaries in 2015 (Continued) BArURiBER(8)
(iv) (Continued) (iv) (#&)
Consideration transferred (Continued) BB EE (E)
The fair value as well as the gross contractual RWEB TKEZES
amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired & Us BR ZX N H b fE UYL BR 18
amounted to HK$563,000 at the date of acquisition. ZAFERBEHNBEEA
The best estimate at acquisition date of the 563,0007%8 7T ° 7 Uk B& B ¥
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected TEEEIZWE S HIRE R
is nil. ZEREMBMGFAE -
Gooawill arising on acquisition B4 FE i E A 2 A
HK$'000
FH& T
Consideration transferred BEEENRE 40,506
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets  J& : Ui A] 4 R F & &=
acquired 2N E (34,943)
Goodwill arising on acquisition E i T E 2 5,563
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of = # 8 ¥ KWEERELEE 2 HE
is attributed to the anticipated profitability of its DEREXRAREK 2E
natural gas business. HRaFee -
None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is T8 HA 3 4 A 5% 18 W B T =
expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 2 EERHRMRIE -
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition B e % T EE A 2 B &
JHER
HK$’000
FH T
Bank balances and cash acquired Friiis 2 IRITH B RIS 82
Cash consideration paid itz eRE (40,506)
(40,424)

1 3 O CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A
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For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(A) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of subsidiaries in 2015 (Continued)
(iv) (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the Group’s result for the year ended
March 31, 2015 is a loss of HK$634,000 attributable
to the additional business incurred by E#BEt.
Revenue included in the Group’s revenue for the
year ended March 31, 2015 amounted to
HK$1,610,000.

(B) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of additional in interests in joint ventures
in 2015

(i)

In April 8, 2014, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent
third party, pursuant to which the Group acquired
an additional 20% equity interest of Eih#i#k at a
consideration of US$23,611,000 (approximately
HK$183,221,000). The acquisition was completed
on June 30, 2014, on that date the control in Eitt
WIHK was passed to the Group. Since then & Hi Ak
ceased a joint venture of the Group and become the
subsidiary of the Company. EHb#I#K is principally
engaged in the business of exploration and
production of coalbed methane.

39. BB = ()

A RZE—HTFEBREBEK
BN e WK (8)
(iv) (#&)
WS R E 2L > L
AEBHEE_T—HE=
A=+ —HILEFEZX#E
BIEEBREWNRE L ZE
SN 2 T 2 5 18634,00078
et ARNEEHE-_ZT—
AE=ZA=+—BLEE
I 2% B9 UR %5 &1,610,0007%
7_|:o
B) RZZE—HFFEBRES

=

il

N,

N EFIMES BB R

I

R—ZE—mFMPANAB -
AEBEZWHWEB QAR HEHE
OB = EK KRR
Bt AEEWES I
KRB IN20% A% AN B i R
8 523,611,000% T( 4
183,221,000/ L) - WEEE
R—_ZE—WMENA=FH
TR REB B
THEEBBREALEE B
It BRI E AL E
ZEERNR WKAARD A
ZHBRAA - EHHIMES

REMEREERER -

Consideration transferred EEEAE
HK$'000
FHET
Cash He 14,829

Capitalisation of amount due from JFE U b D AR FRE B 7R B AN

= AR 168,392
Fair value of previously held interest TR R Z A TE 406,810
590,031
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

39. WEE X5 (&

(B) Acquisition of a business through purchase

B R-ZE—LFEBKES

of additional in interests in joint ventures ENEEIERWBEER
in 2015 (Continued) (&)
(i) (Continued) i (%)
Consideration transferred (Continued) BE#EZEAEE)
Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition AEBRWBEHERZE
recognised by the Group: ERBE:

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and fair value
before combination

132

WU B 5 R E B AT

ZEREERATFE

HK$'000

FBT

Property, plant and equipment Y BB REE 14,209
Intangible assets mILEE 1,057,944
Trade and other receivables B 5 e YR 3 & A e AR TR 4,004
Bank balances and cash RITEHRRES 21,418

Trade and other payables B 5 P IR B N H At FE S BRIE (63,399)

Amount due to a non-controlling JE 1 = 3 A0 AR JE 458 AR 5 RRIE

interest of = HuIIAk (101,113)

Deferred taxation iR AE I8 (119,450)
813,613

Non-controlling interests FE 1 AR A = (244,084)
Goodwill kS 20,502
590,031

The fair value as well as the gross contractual
amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired
amounted to HK$4,004,000 at the date of
acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of
the contractual cash flows not expected to be

collected is nil.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A

RWER kB2 5 RUER
REEMERERRZ A FERA
A 48 58 /54,004,000 % 7T o 1 RE
BHEHMEZIREENRER
REGBGFRT -
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(CONTINUED)
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For the year ended March 31, 2015 &= - %
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(B) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of additional in interests in joint ventures
in 2015 (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests in & 14K recognised
at the date of the acquisition was measured by
reference to the respective proportionate shares of
recognised amounts of net assets of relevant
subsidiary and amounted to HK$244,084,000.

39. WiE =% ()
B R=F-—AFEBUES

B2 N\
=

(&)

(i)

AR RBE R

&)
TR
RUFE B RER 2= it H A
FEEREEL2EREN
BRRIEEFENSHEM
ERACHALOIFAES
244,084,000/ It °

Goodwill on acquisition B B 1T E A 2 A
HK$’000
FH&TT
Consideration transferred EEERENKE 14,829
Capitalisation of amount due from JE W = b 1D R
= Ho AR RIBREFTE R 168,392
Previously held interest in = Hi#I#k BEAFEFE LA
as a joint venture, at fair value AERAEHHIMN Z
%ﬁ
406,810
Plus: Non-controlling interests o0 FEE R RE A (= H A AR
(30% share of net assets in = Ik SREEZ30%) 244,084
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets R PR BT A RN A B
acquired /NS -] (813,613)
20,502

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of &K
was attributed to anticipated profitability of its
investment in exploration and production of coal
bed methane.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The fair value of the 50% equity interest in &b
K previously held by the Group was re-measured as
of the date of acquisition, resulting in a gain of
HK$205,562,000 recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended March 31, 2015.

R = mimEEZ
BHEDERENBREE
ERERNKREZESEA
FEEN o

EHYERZRKEDE
EZEBEAMBREA -

N & B SR AT IS = 0 AR
50% M AE=m 2 A FE
RKBEREFGT=E BHE
HE_ZT—ARAF=A=+
—HIEFEHGKAE=RE
fi 2w U A 3R R R =
205,562,0007% Jt °
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

13

(B) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of additional in interests in joint ventures

(i)

ENEEIERWBEER
in 2015 (Continued) (&)
(Continued) (i) (&)
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition AU mELZELRA
JH
HK$'000
FAT
Bank balances and cash acquired Friig  SRITHEM R R € 21,418
Cash consideration paid FIxftzBEeRE (14,829)
6,589

(ii)

39. WEE X5 (&

B R-ZE—LFEBKES

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the Group's profit for the year ended
March 31, 2015 is HK$3,608,000 attributable to the
additional business generated by & Hs#)#K. Revenue
included in the Group's revenue for the year ended
March 31, 2015 amount to HK$8,963,000.

In December 29, 2014, a subsidiary of the Group
entered into an acquisition agreement with an
independent third party, pursuant to which the
Group acquired additional 51% equity interest of
BAAE at a consideration of RMB85,000,000
(approximately HK$107,595,000). The acquisition
was completed on December 29, 2014, on that date
the control in EFASR was passed to the Group.
B AR is principally engaged in the provision of
compressed natural gas business.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A

(ii)

WEH A EFEE T FE
AEBHE-_ZT—HE=
BA=Z+—HBLEFEEZEF
BEFBERE UMK ZHE
4N ¥ 1% 2 3,608,00078 JT °
AL EREE-_Z— A
E=ZF=+—HILEFEK
%5 B Uk 25 438,963,00058 7T ©

RZE—WmF+=—A=+
hB AEBZH B AR A
BB B = EKWE D
ZCBL AEBKREER
MR BB IN51% A% AN HE 2%
KB & A R % 85,000,000 7T
(49107,595,0003% 7T) ° U B
ER-_ZE—NF+_A=
TABZK REB  BA
MBZEHEBEREEAE
- -BHRRRTIBERERA
REB -HRARKREERS
REREGERAR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
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Q For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(B) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of additional in interests in joint ventures

39. WEE ¥ (&

B R=Z—LFEBWRESE
ENFBEIEEWBERER

in 2015 (Continued) (#&)
(i) (Continued) (i) (#&)
Consideration transferred E#EAE
HK$’000
FH& T
Cash HE 107,595
Fair value of previously held interest ERMFER 2 AFE 75,442
183,037
Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition AEBRKEBARBRZE
recognised by the Group: ExEE:
Acquiree’s carrying
amount and provisional
fair value before
combination
WWEAREBA 2
FEHEREELFE
HK$'000
FAT
Property, plant and equipment Y BE K& 51,123
Prepaid lease payments TN HEERIE 1,117
Inventories FE 132
Trade and other receivables B 5 FE YRR 3R K At fE W AR IR 12,858
Bank balances and cash WITEHRRE S 19,051
Trade and other payables B 5PN AR % H A fE T BRIE (20,828)
Taxation 18 (1,296)
62,157
Non-controlling interests FE1E A% HE 2 (8,702)
Goodwill [EES 129,582
183,037

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 1 3 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
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For the year ended March 31,2015 #Z—Z—HF=A=+—HILFE ¥ |—|

39. WIE % (&)

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(B) Acquisition of a business through purchase B) RZE—HTFEBWRESE
of additional in interests in joint ventures ENEEIERWBEER
in 2015 (Continued) (%)

(ii) (Continued) (i) (%)

Consideration transferred (Continued)

The initial accounting for the above acquisition has
been determined provisionally, awaiting the receipt
of professional valuation in relation to property,
plant and equipment.

The fair value as well as the gross contractual
amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired
amounted to HK$12,858,000 at the date of
acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of
the contractual cash flows not expected to be
collected is nil.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests in B AR recognised
at the date of the acquisition was measured by
reference to the respective proportionate shares of
recognised amounts of net assets of relevant
subsidiary and amounted to HK$8,702,000

BEBEREE)
ERRBER S &G
REDNEREE  NAFN
BERYE BENREREZ
BEXMGERETE -

RWEBE fTREZES
FE W BR 51 & H & Y BR 18
ZAFERENBEREA
12,858,000 T - AU & A
HIEBEX KBS HIEE
M2 EEGHEEZ -

IR E R
REBHERZEAMRR
FERERE2ZHBEN
BRARIEEFENSIHERA
ERRSBLAFTES
8,702,000% Tt °

Gooadwill on acquisition B4 F i A 2 R
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration transferred BHEENAE 107,595
Previously held interest in ZE R A, BRAFEFTE LR

as a joint venture, at fair value BEARBEAMR R 75,442
Plus: Non-controlling interests e EERER (ERRR
(14% share of net assets in SFEEZ14%)
ERRR) 8,702
Less: Provisional fair value of identifiable )& : 7 U & 7] 2 B )% & 7=
net assets acquired ZEERTE (62,157)
129,582
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of B A, WEERARRMEE Z
was attributed to anticipated profitability of its BHEDEREDRRAE
investment in exploration and production of coal HERMNKE 2 BBHAR

bed methane.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A

ak
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(CONTINUED)

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. W BB & ()

(B) Acquisition of a business through purchase (B)
of additional in interests in joint ventures
in 2015 (Continued)
(ii) (Continued)

N—_E-RFEBWES
ENFBEIEEWBERER
(&)

(i) (&)

Goodwill on acquisition (Continued) B g i = A 2 B (BB
None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is TEHR W R BN BE T E
expected to be deductible for tax purposes. E B HRELIE -
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition B Y g i E AL 2 R 2w M
JHEE
HK$'000
TAT
Bank balances and cash acquired g 2 RITHE B RIS 19,051
Cash consideration paid i zBERE (107,595)
(88,544)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the Group's profit for the year ended
March 31, 2015 is HK$35,261,000 attributable to
the additional business generated by EAAR.
Revenue included in the Group’s revenue for the
year ended March 31, 2015 amount to
HK$166,219,000.

WEEH A EFELE 2 FZE
AEBHEE_T—HE=
A=+—HLEFEEZEH
PREEBREAMR ZE
4N E 7§ 2.35,261,00078 TT °
SFAREEHE-_ZT— &
FZA=Z+—RALEFEK
B U 2f 75166,219,000 78
3T o
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. W BB % ()

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-E—DUFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 BTN ER
()  On December 16, 2012, a subsidiary of the Group (i) R=ZT—=—F+=A+,x
entered into an acquisition agreement with Fortune B AEEEEMTEKRE
Oil PRC Holdings Limited (“Fortune Oil”) and Wilmar BRAR(TEHEERE]) &
International Limited (“Wilmar”) (“Fortune UHEBBERAR(E %
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group BT WEHRE(TS
acquired 100% equity interest of Fortune Gas at a Wil B KREBEE
consideration of US$400,000,000 (approximately U BE = i R S| 2 & R AR AN
HK$3,113,200,000). The acquisition was completed # 25 X 8 A&400,000,000
in August 2013, on that date the control in Fortune % Jt( #93,113,200,000 7%
Gas was passed to the Group. Subsidiaries of L)  WEBER T —=%F
Fortune Gas are principally engaged in the business NAZK: RE H ' i
of natural gas, wholesale and retail distributions, MR IEHEEREERNE
natural gas refueling, upstream coal bed methane B-BHRRzlBRARE
("CBM") business, LNG supply to public transit ERERAGRHBELETE
vehicles and developing LNG dual fuel vessel DIHER  RARMRE - £
refueling business along the Yangtze River. HEEBR(CBMD ¥ - M

AHATEERHEEAR(LR
AR R 7 & TR 1805 %
MRAL K 28 SR SRR 8 AR AN

BT -
Consideration transferred EEEMAE

HK$'000
FAT
Cash B 1,553,200
Share consideration (note) A& A8 (B 5E) 1,560,000
3,113,200
Note: Pursuant to the Fortune Agreement, Fortune Oil and e : BREEHHE SHPE R
Wilmar requested the Company to allot and issue YEBRERARQ AR R
184,119,463 ordinary shares of the Company % 17184,119,463 % & R 7]
("Consideration Shares”) as part of the consideration for TAaR(RERSD A
the acquisition in November 2013. The fair value of the —E—=Ft+—-—AKEZH
Consideration Shares is determined by reference to the ARE - RERGOZATE
quoted market price of the ordinary shares of the company Th #8235 KR 7] T A P iR
amounted to HK$1,560,000,000. T {8 1,560,000,0007% JT 14 &

B o

1 3 8 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

39. WEE ¥ (&

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-ZE—UFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) BArRWIEER(E)
(i) (Continued) (i (&
Consideration transferred (Continued) ErEE(E(E)

Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition

recognised by the Group:

AEBERKBRERZE
ENAE:

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and fair value
before combination

WUWE S RE BRI 2
REERATLE
HK$’000
FHTT
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NEE 828,954
Prepaid lease payments T E KB 35,223
Other intangible assets HEEEE 1,183,045
Investments in associates REENRIZKE 11,873
Investments in joint ventures RELRRIZEE 309,166
Inventories =& 56,462
Trade and other receivables B 5 FE YRR 3R R A fE W AR IR 196,675
Amounts due from joint ventures FEU A & AR FRIE 233,902
Bank balances and cash WRITEHRRIES 300,653
Trade and other payables B HRNERREMENERIE (332,896)
Taxation T E (25,166)
Bank borrowings RITEE (105,016)
Deferred taxation RIEFIE (254,833)
Non-controlling interests of BB B AR Z
the subsidiaries of Fortune Gas FE1E AR FE 2 (269,792)
2,168,250
Goodwill = 944,950
3,113,200

The fair value as well as the gross contractual
amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired
amounted to HK$196,675,000 at the date of
acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of
the contractual cash flows not expected to be

collected was nil.

RIWER: FTkiEZE S5
JE W BR 51 & H & Y BR 18
ZAFERENBEREA
196,675,000/ 7t > K W B&
BYBEHELKE S LR
ERZBRERFAZ -
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For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 - —HAF A =+—HIFE sg
RS
“’
39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39 WEE X (88
(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-E—DUFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) B AW X (&)
(i) (Continued) (i) (&
Goodwill arising on acquisition U B i B A 7 AR
HK$’000
FET
Consideration transferred EHEERE 3,113,200
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets  J& : F7 U & 7] 2% RIS % & &=
acquired ZAYE (2,168,250)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEmMEL 2 B2 944,950
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Fortune W B = i MR SR T B A 2
Gas was attributed to anticipated profitability of its HMEBDEREXRARER
natural gas business, complementary business ZTEHRREEN  EBEE
portfolio facilities synergy integration with the M E I ERNEEES
Group and the prospects of CBM business and LNG T 5% 1 [A] 38 FE DA R CBM 3
vessel and vehicle refueling business. BRERRERXRAREMME
EBHAIR
None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was EHY EEAZEKEmE
expected to be deductible for tax purposes. E BB HRRIE -
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition B fig i EE A 2 B % T
JHER
HK$'000
FHET
Bank balances and cash acquired Fri g v SRITHEMB R R € 300,653
Cash consideration paid FrxftzBEeRE (1,553,200)
(1,252,547)

1 40 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the Group's profit for the year ended
March 31, 2014 was HK$135,420,000 attributable
to the additional business generated by Fortune
Gas. Revenue included in the Group’s revenue for
the year ended March 31, 2014 amounted to
HK$904,537,000.

On July 30, 2012, a subsidiary of the Company
entered into an acquisition agreement with the
independent third party, pursuant to which the
Group acquired 84% equity interest of EFaEEF 5
BEEMRRIREGRRA ("EAET") at a
consideration of RMB30,450,000 (approximately to
HK$38,063,000). The acquisition was completed in
April 27, 2013, on that date the control in EFgHEF
was passed to the Group. EFEHEF is principally
engaged in natural gas business.

39. B 7 (48)

@ »
i

(i)

(i)

—E-NFEEBWEKH
ATW%%ﬁma

(#&)

WEH A EEEE &
AREEBHE T —NFE=
A=+—BLEEEZHF
PREEBREHMR 28
HN 2 15 2 & 135,420,000
B st AAEBH =
—_E—NmWE=H8=+F—
BILEFERzZHKIE A
904,537,000 7T °

EA: ——_ &%+t A=+
$A7Fﬁ§ Al £ 5
= F TS YR ek
#% AN E U BE E T A
FTHEEERREREER
ARA([EAETF]) 284%
BA#EZ REAARK
30,450,000 7T (4738,063,000
BL)  WEBER =T —=
FWMA-F+EBEER RE
B EfEFEHEEE
EAEE BREFEER

Consideration transferred EEEZEAE
HK$'000
FBT
Cash He 38,063

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015
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39. WEE X5 (&

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-E—DUFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) BArRWEER(E)

(i) (Continued) (i) (%)
Consideration transferred (Continued)
Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition

recognised by the Group: ERBE:

EBEZEAEE)
AEERNKBRERZE

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and fair value
before combination

142

BRBEREGATZ

FEEHERATE

HK$'000

TFBT

Property, plant and equipment M BEKEE 7,094
Trade and other receivables B 5 EWERE I & H b fE Y BRIE 3,848
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRIA S 14,905
Trade and other payables E 5 FE S BR A % E L FE S AR IE (1,701)
24,146

Non-controlling interests e R = (3,863)
Goodwill = 17,780
38,063

The fair value as well as the gross contractual
amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired
amounted to HK$3,848,000 at the date of
acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of
the contractual cash flows not expected to be
collected was nil.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests in &4 recognised
at the date of the acquisition was measured by
reference to the respective proportionate shares of
recognised amounts of net assets of relevant
subsidiary and amounted to HK$3,863,000.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A

RKEB: TRBEZES
JE W BR 3R & H fh FE U BR 1H
ZAFEREGEHBES
3,848,000 T o X W & H
HEHEZIKE A OE S
MZEEGBTBE -

R 2
RUHE A ER . EAEETF
FEREDEE2ERBN
BRAREERENZHEA
ERBBLOFER
3,863,000/ 7T °
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. W BB & ()

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-ZE—UFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) BARWEEE(E)
(ii) (Continued) (i) (%)
Goodwill arising on acquisition B B 7 E A 2 AR
HK$’000
FH&TT
Consideration transferred EHEERE 38,063
Plus: Non-controlling interests (16% share jil = FE3% IR 4 25 (& P 1
of net assets in & Pg4EF) FEEZ16%) 3,863
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets & : P U B& AT 58 Rl % & &=
acquired Z N E (24,146)
Goodwill arising on acquisition AEmEEZEE 17,780
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of & Fg1E WEEAETYmMEEZ
was attributed to anticipated profitability of its MEDERERARER
natural gas business. 2 TEEIBAEE S -
None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was T8 HA 3 £ 5% 18 W RE T &=
expected to be deductible for tax purposes. &7 BRI o
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition B W fiE i EE A 2 B &
H R
HK$’000
FH& T
Bank balances and cash acquired Friiig c RITHEBR RR 14,905
Cash consideration paid itz eRE (38,063)
(23,158)
Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group WHEH A EF XA ZE
Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended AEBHEZE-_Z-—NF=
March 31, 2014 was HK$2,294,000 attributable to A=+—HBLEFEZ%EF
the additional business generated by REFEHET. PIEGBREAET 28
Revenue included in the Group's revenue for the 4N 2 7§ 22,294,000/ TT °
year ended March 31, 2014 amounted to SFAREERHZ_—_ZT—
HK$6,829,000. F=ZA=+—BLEFEEK

5 B9 U 55 456,829,000 IT ©
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39. WEE X5 (&

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-E—DUFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) E AT BB ER (8)
(iii) On June 3, 2013, a subsidiary of the Company (i) AT —=Z=F A =H
entered into an acquisition agreement with the KN F KB A E EFL
independent third party, pursuant to which the F=ZFRIWEWE BE

Group acquired 54.57% equity interest of BB & 5
at a consideration of RMB87,708,000 (approximately
to HK$111,023,000). The acquisition was completed
on July 26, 2013, on that date the control in Bl )Es
77 was passed to the Group. B & 7 is principally

engaged in natural gas business.

V)
Z5457% B AR RE
A A R #87,708,000 7T ( 49
111,023,000 7T) - WEE
RZE—=FtA=-+~
Bk REB BEBEEH
ZIRHEEREAREE - B

HENETERERRAGE
% o
Consideration transferred E#EEAE
HK$'000
FHET
Cash B 111,023
Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition AEBRKEBBRRCE
recognised by the Group: ExEE:

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and fair value
before combination

WWBARE G2

REERAFE

HK$'000

FAT

Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 103,750
Investments ®&E 1,392
Inventories FE 7,384
Trade and other receivables B 5 e WK 3 N E b fE Uk BR 1E 72,022
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHRNIA S 28,855
Trade and other payables B 5 FE A AR 3 E At FE S BRIE (52,344)
Bank borrowings RITEE (22,779)
138,280

Non-controlling interests I I A (62,821)
Goodwill EES 35,564
111,023

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. WEE XK (&

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-ZE—UFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) BArRWIEER(E)
(iii) (Continued) (i) (#&)

Consideration transferred (Continued)

The fair value as well as the gross contractual
amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired
amounted to HK$72,022,000 at the date of
acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of
the contractual cash flows not expected to be
collected was nil.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests in Bl)EE /7 recognised
at the date of the acquisition was measured by
reference to the respective proportionate shares of
recognised amounts of net assets of relevant
subsidiary and amounted to HK$62,821,000.

BB EE (E)

RIWER FTkEZE S
FE W2 BR 51 & H h FE Y BR 18
ZAFEREHNBEREA
72,022,000 7T - AW EE B
HIEBHEX KBS HNIEE
M2 EEGM AT -

IR 5
REBEERZBEEE D
FEREEKL2EZHEN
BRARIEEFENSIHERA
ERRSBLAFTES
62,821,000/% JT °

Goodwill arising on acquisition B B T BE A 2 B
HK$’000
FE T
Consideration transferred BEEENRE 111,023
Plus: Non-controlling interests (45.43% 1 : 33k zs (BUE & 7
share of net assets in BB = /) FEEZ4543%) 62,821
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets  J&{ = P U B8 7] 34 RIS & 2=
acquired ZNEE (138,280)
Goodwill arising on acquisition AUWEmEE 22 35,564

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of B S /1 WEBRBENMmES 2

was attributed to anticipated profitability of its FMEDERERAREL
natural gas business. ZTEEABEAIEE S -

EHYERZBAKEDE
EZEBEAMREBEA -

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. WEE XK (/&

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-E—DUFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) BARWEEE(E)
(iii) (Continued) (iii) (#&)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition B Y g i E AL 2 R %R
JFEE
HK$’000
FH T
Bank balances and cash acquired Friiis 2 IRITHB RIS 28,855
Cash consideration paid itz eRE (111,023)
(82,168)
Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group WEH A EE XA ZE
Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended AEBHZEZZT —WNF =
March 31, 2014 was HK$6,528,000 attributable to A=+—HBLEFEZ&EF
the additional business generated by BEIE7gE /. PREEBREBEE I 28
Revenue included in the Group's revenue for the AN ¥ 7% 26,528,000 TT °
year ended March 31, 2014 amounted to SFAREEHZ —_Z— @
HK$153,798,000. F=ZA=+—BLEFEK
#n BY W & /4% 153,798,000 %
o
(iv) On November 9, 2011, a subsidiary of the Company (iv A-ZFE——F+— A h
entered into an acquisition agreement with the H-ARQaWE R A EEF
independent third party, pursuant to which the SNE=ZFHEI W
Group acquired 100% equity interest of #E/H 4% B A K E R EE N T
FRRARERAE (“HEMNEER") and ZREF R BLPRRARERA A
RARBEAR] ("ZRFHR") at a consideration of (MM ]) RERE S
RMB8,045,000 (approximately to HK$10,183,000). MRARERRAR(ZER
The acquisition was completed on April 1, 2013, on R 2 2Bl AER R
that date the control in #EJI£4%Z and ZEJRAR A & & AR #8,045,0007T (%)
were passed to the Group. #2422 and Z&R A 10,183,0007% 70 ) - W & 2
are principally engaged in natural gas business. RZZE—=FMA—H®

oRER BMNER RE
BRPERzZENEEREER
=8 o MM 52 R R TR
TERERARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. W iE 15 (&)

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase (O R=-ZE—UEFEFEBWEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) BARWBER(E)
(iv) (Continued) (iv) (#&)
Consideration transferred BEEZEARE
HK$'000
F# T
Cash H4e 10,183
Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition AEBRKBEEHERZE
recognised by the Group: ERBE:

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and fair value
before combination

BRBHRE A2

BREERAFE

HK$'000

FE& T

Property, plant and equipment Y - BB REE 21,984
Inventories FE 54
Trade and other receivables Z 5 U BR I N E b fE UK BR IR 77
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRIA S 1

Trade and other payables B 5 FE S BR A% H L fE AR IE (15,539)
6,577

Goodwill [EES 3,606
10,183

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended March 31,2015 #ZE T —HAF=A=+—HILFE gg
\"
39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. WiBEK (&
(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-E—DUFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) BN e WK (8)
(iv) (Continued) (iv) (#&)
Consideration transferred (Continued) BB EE (E)
The fair value as well as the gross contractual RUEH FTkiEEZE 5k
amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired WER R M E b fE U BRIE 2
amounted to HK$77,000 at the date of acquisition. NFERE #HEEE A77,000
The best estimate at acquisition date of the BT o MU EE B T H R
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected WEEHRESRZEEMR
was nil. SAEE -
Gooawill arising on acquisition B4 FE i E A 2 A
HK$'000
FAT
Consideration transferred BEZENRE 10,183
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets & : Fr UK BE A 34 RIS & &=
acquired 2N E (6,577)
Goodwill arising on acquisition E i E L 2 R 3,606
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of #4477 U BE #E M %4 27 |2 2L R R
and ZEFHE were attributed to anticipated MMEEZEHETIERA
profitability of its natural gas business. RAREL 2 TEH & F &8
% -
None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was TEER AL AN sz B MR i E
expected to be deductible for tax purposes. A2 BRI R AIE o
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition B4 B i E 2 B E T
JHEE
HK$’000
FAT
Bank balances and cash acquired FrUs g 2 SR1T4E 2 IR & 1
Cash consideration paid FrZftziEeRE (10,183)
(10,182)
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(CONTINUED)
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For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued)
(iv) (Continued)

(v)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the Group’s result for the year ended
March 31, 2014 was a loss of HK$3,134,000
attributable to the additional business generated by
WM Z47 and ZEJRA KR, Revenue included in the
Group's revenue for the year ended March 31, 2014
amounted to HK$1,171,000.

On December 26, 2013, a subsidiary of the
Company entered into an acquisition agreement
with the independent third party, pursuant to which
the Group acquired 100% equity interest of F1 K:&
WREREFREMRBRAR (“RAEDLFM) at a
consideration of RMB13,000,000 (approximately to
HK$16,456,000). The acquisition was completed on
March 31, 2014, on that date the control in T K&
SFRR was passed to the Group. T AGEMAR is
principally engaged in natural gas business.

39. BB = ()

<\\_

O M=

T-MEEBWREBEKH

BorWiEER (&)

(iv)

(v)

(#&)
WEH A EEEE &
AREBHZE_ZT—DmNF=
A=+—BLEEEZXE
BIEEBREMNERT RE
B ZENEL 2B
3,134,000 7T ° 5 A RN &
BHZEz_ZT—HmFEF=A=
+— B IEFE W Ea s
71,171,00038 7T ©

RZE—=F+-H=+
NE ARRKEB R A EE
SN E =R WRE
Bt AEEKERKE
MR SEFERIERA
A(TRERELRKR]) 22
HRAER REAARK
13,000,000 7T (%9 16,456,000
BIL) c WMBER - — I
F=ZRA=+—H=RK RE
B+ K& M R WR 2 1 Hil 4
HEEARER - A REMSP

MREBHRERARER -
Consideration transferred EEEZEAE
HK$'000
FH& T
Cash H 5 16,456
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. W BB % ()

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-E—DUFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) BN e WK (8)
(v) (Continued) (v) (#&)
Consideration transferred (Continued) BB EE (E)
Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition AEBRKWEBEHERZE
recognised by the Group: ERBE:

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and fair value
before combination

WWREBAEREMHATZ
REERATLE
HK$'000
FH& T
Property, plant and equipment - BENEE 3,474
Trade and other receivables Z 5 U BR T N E b FE UK BR IR 9,184
12,658
Goodwill = 3,798
16,456
The fair value as well as the gross contractual REEE FTKEZES
amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired FE U BR 30 R E it fE U AR 18
amounted to HK$9,184,000 at the date of ZAFERGHRTEE
acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of 9,184,000/ 7T ° M Y & B
the contractual cash flows not expected to be HEHEZRBEEHE®
collected was nil. MZEEMBGTRE -
Goodwill arising on acquisition B Y B 1T E A 2
HK$'000
FH T
Consideration transferred EHEERE 16,456
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets  J& = P U B ] 34 RIS & 2=
acquired ZRNFEE (12,658)
Goodwill arising on acquisition AWEmMEE 22 3,798
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FEIRRIZERGRA A
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

39. BB = ()

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-ZE—UFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) BARWEEE(E)
(v) (Continued) (v) (#&)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (Continued) B4 i T E A 2 B R (4B
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of T A& W BE K & St R A T EE
fh ¥k was attributed to anticipated profitability of its EVHEHEDNERNRE XA
natural gas business. Xz EHAENEN -
None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was T8 HA I A R 5% T8 U RE T E
expected to be deductible for tax purposes. A2 BN R ELIE o
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition B e g i EE A 2 B2 7
JH
HK$'000
FE T
Cash consideration paid FrxftzBeRE (16,456)

(vi)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the Group's result for the year ended
March 31, 2014 was a loss of HK$17,000
attributable to the additional business incurred by
FRE A PR, No revenue contributed by 1 K35
FR for the year ended March 31, 2014.

On October 15, 2013, a subsidiary of the Company
entered into an acquisition agreement with the
independent third party, pursuant to which the
Group acquired 51% equity interest of {REF AT
EERERBERLA ("REHFM") at a
consideration of RMB19,125,000 (approximately to
HK$24,209,000). The acquisition was completed on
December 31, 2013, on that date the control in 1%
EHER was passed to the Group. fREFMR is
principally engaged in natural gas business.

(vi)

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015

WL AR EZFHE
AEBHE_T-—NF=
A=T-RLFEZXE
BIEE BN I AE PR
ZEBINEH 2 BB 17,0008
Lo AREBEHFRREEZ
T-mOE=A=1t—H1L
FEIERBEA S -

R—_ZET—=Z%+A+H
B ARG K EBRA R BT
BZFAWEWRE &
bt NEBUREBREF RS
EFRERERD A (R
FERBR]) 2 51% A HEZS -
REAAR19,125,0007T
(4924,209,0005% 7T ) - U B
ER-_EBE—Z=F+=-A=
+—B%K REBR  RE
Rz EERE RS
B -REFREERERA
RER -
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. W BB % ()

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-E—DUFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) BN e WK (8)
(vi) (Continued) (vi) (%)
Consideration transferred E#EAE
HK$'000
FHET
Cash 4 24,209
Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition AEBRKEBARBRZE
recognised by the Group: ERBE:

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and fair value
before combination

WWREAREHA 2

REEHERATE

HK$’000

FH T

Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NEE 58,059

Trade and other receivables B 5 FE YRR 3R K H At fE W AR 1R 339

Bank balances and cash WITHEHRRIE S 206

Trade and other payables B 5 AR H A A AR 1A (11,136)

47,468

Non-controlling interests FE5 A% hE 2 (23,259)

24,209

The fair value as well as the gross contractual RIKER: FTE 2B 5

amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired JE W BR 3R % H fth B UK AR 1B

amounted to HK$339,000 at the date of acquisition. ZRAFEREHNBAES

The best estimate at acquisition date of the 339,000 T MUK EE B ¥

contractual cash flows not expected to be collected TBHEEZKE A HNRE R
was nil. ZHREMBESEARE -
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. W BB & ()

(C) Acquisition of a business through purchase O R-ZE—UFEFHFHAUEK
of subsidiaries in 2014 (Continued) BN U ER (F)
(vi) (Continued) (vi) (%)
Non-controlling interests FEFER 2
The non-controlling interests in £R € #A recognised RIWEBERZERTE SR
at the date of the acquisition was measured by S LE L2 E BN
reference to the respective proportionate shares of BRAREEFENSIHA

recognised amounts of net assets of relevant
subsidiary and amounted to HK$23,259,000.

ERREBLIFTER
23,259,000/ 7T °

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition B U B i E A2 B 2 7
JH
HK$'000
FAT
Bank balances and cash acquired Friiig v RITHEM R R 206
Cash consideration paid FIxftzBEeRE (24,209)
(24,003)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the Group's result for the year ended
March 31, 2014, there was no profit or loss
attributable to the additional business generated by
{REHHR. No revenue contributed by 1R ¥4 for
the year ended March 31, 2014.

WEH A EBRE T E
BE_Z-MNMHEF=A=+
—BLEFE RAKEXS
R (T ] 9B i 5 B X IR
EF MR BEINETS - REF
MRBE-_ZT-—NE=A
St—BLEFEYESFR
(ERCI G

(D) Acquisition of a business through purchase (D) ERWBEE QT REIIE
of additional in interests in an associate i U B FE
On March 10, 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the RZE——F=A+H &R
Company entered into an equity transfer agreement AZ2ENBARARIHEBYE=F
(“Equity Transfer Agreement”) with independent third TEIMREAFDITLKRESE
parties (“Panva Gas Vendors”) to acquire 100% equity EHE(RESERBRE]D - U
interest in Panva Gas at a total cash consideration of 530,000,000% 7T 2 237 & B UL
HK$530,000,000. Panva Gas is an investment holding BRAIMK[EIRE - BIHAR
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in RIWEZERAR - B BARE
retail business of LPG in the PRC. EEHFEREREABINTE

£
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

1545

(D) Acquisition of a business through purchase

of additional in interests in an associate
(Continued)

On June 4, 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into the supplemental agreement with
Panva Gas Vendors to amend and supplement the Equity
Transfer Agreement, pursuant to which (i) a subsidiary of
the Company has conditionally agreed to purchase and
Panva Gas Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell 49%
of the entire shares of Panva Gas for a total cash
consideration of HK$259,700,000; and (i) Panva Gas
Vendors have agreed to grant the call option (“Call
Option”) to the Group for acquiring the remaining 51%
issued shares of Panva Gas held by Panva Gas Vendors at
a total cash consideration of HK$270,300,000 within 1
year after the completion of the acquisition of 49% of the
entire shares of Panva Gas by the Group (“Option Exercise
Period”). The exercise of Call Option to acquire the
remaining 51% issued shares of Panva Gas is subjected to
obtaining of the substantive approvals for anti-trust
application, having been obtained from the relevant
competent PRC authorities. The acquisition of 49% issued
shares of Panva Gas was completed in June 2011.

On May 29, 2012, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into the second supplemental agreement with Panva Gas
Vendors, pursuant to which Panva Gas Vendors agreed to
extend the Option Exercise Period to September 30, 2012.

On July 27, 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, pursuant to the Call Option, entered into an
agreement (“51% Agreement”) with the Panva Gas
Vendors pursuant to which the wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company has conditionally agreed to purchase and
the Panva Gas Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell
51% of the issued shares of Panva Gas for a total cash
consideration of HK$270,300,000. As at March 31, 2013,
the substantive approvals for anti-trust application have
not been obtained from the relevant competent PRC
authorities and the 51% Agreement has not been
completed.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

ERERAT

-

(D) %Luﬂlﬁ%ﬂz =NCIRERUY

Hﬁzﬁﬁiﬁ‘i(.:“é‘f)

RZZFE——F X XANH A2 A
%EW%“ﬁﬁﬁﬂWﬁEﬁﬂ
N AT MSET R T IR
AR e ﬁm(mﬁiwg
NElBEHERERERBEIRR
EFERKHERELEEINRR
2R (D 249% F IR & KRB A
259,700,000/ 7T : K (i) B LR
BEHREBE RSB TR
([REHEE])  URNAEB TR
W B TR 28Ik H 2 49% 1%
—FR([RETER])KERT
MRESTFHFHETIREH T51%
ZEBETRG BREREBL
270,300,000 L e FFHF R B EE
REAMEREBHBAREE A A
1718 R BE B DA U BE B T MR R
T51% 2 B TR M - WEHT
MRA%EBITRHN —FERZ
T——FNAZEK -

R-ZB—ZHHAA-FTIAB &
NEMBAREEIMRETR
MBS R EITR
RETAEMRETERTEE=
F-—_HAA=+AH-

RZE—=—FtA=-++tH =K
@ﬂ%ﬁ%%“ﬂ@%éﬁﬁﬁ
B BT MR SR T ([51%
HaEl) - %mﬁ&ﬂ%ﬁ%%@
AERGREBEME INAE
FEBRGERELETG IMAE
BTN 251%  BESKES
270,300,000 7C - R=F— =
=A=+—H BAREBFEHE
HEREAHMEAREHBSER
51% 19 &% 18 7K SEAK ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
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For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(D) Acquisition of a business through purchase

of additional in interests in an associate
(Continued)

On August 20, 2013, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a supplemental agreement to the
51% Agreement (“51% Supplemental Agreement”) with
Panva Gas Vendors. Pursuant to 51% Supplemental
Agreement, the Group acquired the remaining 51%
issued shares of Panva Gas in August 2013. Since then,
the Group’s equity interest in Panva Gas has increased
from 49% to 100%, Panva Gas become the subsidiary of
the Company.

Pursuant to 51% Supplemental Agreement, the cash
consideration of the acquisition was reduced from
HK$270,300,000 to HK$173,300,000. Clauses under
51% Agreement in respect of the undertaking by Panva
Gas Vendors to compensate the shortfall between the
actual profit of Panva Gas and its affiliate companies and
HK$60,000,000 (“Shortfall”) were deleted. The Group
agreed to waive any rights to compensation or otherwise
claim against Panva Gas Vendors in respect of the
Shortfall.

The acquisition had been accounted for using the
purchase method.

39. BB = ()

(D) EBUW B & 1 7 #EIME

= W BB 55 ()

R=ZZFE—=F#NA=+H &K
AEEMBRARIEFINAES
IS 51% Wk 2 ek ([51%
WrmED - BES1%HE T %
FHOAEER_Z—=F/1\AE
WERITRRS T51%E T
BBl AEBRBIRRE
B H A #E 2 R 49% 3 £ 100%
CEIRRBEMmMKARRE 2
BAE -

BRIBESV %AW WEZ2HEE
£ {8 § 270,300,000 7T &l B =
173,300,000/ 7T - A B LR
ERFAGHERT LA EEE
A 7 F B 4% F £160,000,0007% JT
MERE(ERE]) Z251%HHEET
&AM T ARIER - AEE R ZE K
BEREZAMNENSREZERE
IHMRESREEMNRE 2 #
FJ o

WHBERABEEAK-

Consideration transferred BE#EZEAE
HK$'000
T T
Cash " 170,300
Fair value of the shortfall EZB2 N FE 58,817
Fair value of previously held interests LRI R A TE 220,132
449,249
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued) 39. W BB % ()

(D) Acquisition of a business through purchase (D) FEiB U BB B = N 5] 58 I RE
of additional in interests in an associate =N B E TS ()
(Continued)

Consideration transferred (Continued) BEBEZREE)
Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition recognised AEBRWEBEERAZEENRE
by the Group: f&

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and fair value
before combination

WA RGBT Z
FEERATEE
HK$'000
FH& T
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB &EE 258,773
Prepaid lease payments T EE 63,664
Other intangible assets HtEREE 1,585
Investments in associates REE R 2R E 728
Investments in joint ventures RELRAIZHKE 27,661
Inventories rE 259,075
Trade and other receivables B 5 e W R 3 % H e UK AR TH 178,019
Bank balance and cash RITEBR RIS 267,801
Trade and other payable B 5 e BR R % H f fE T BR I8 (332,430)
Amount due to group companies R NEIE S (127,073)
Taxation sl (3,088)
Bank borrowings RITEE (92,883)
Deferred taxation RIET IR (4,336)
Non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries & LA RKTE R 7 2
of Panva Gas eI HE (358,187)
139,309
Goodwill RS 309,940
449,249
The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts of RUER - FrE 2 B 5 . IER
the trade and other receivables acquired amounted to HTEREMEREE 2 ATFERE
HK$178,019,000 at the date of acquisition. The best #) 48 %8 5178,019,0007 7T ° P I
estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows BAYBEHAEZREEHNRESR
not expected to be collected was nil. ZERERGTRET -
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(D) Acquisition of a business through purchase

39. BB = ()

(D) EBUW B & 1 7 #EIME

of additional in interests in an associate =B ER (E)
(Continued)
Goodwill on acquisition FW g i E 2 R
HK$'000
FET
Consideration transferred BEELNE 170,300
Fair value of the Shortfall EZHzANFE 58,817
Previously held interest in Panva Gas as an & A F{E 5t & % m Fr
associate, at fair value BMENTIREIRR 2R 220,132
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets W BT R SRR B E
acquired 2 NFEE (139,309)
309,940

ARBE IMRRmMEE ZBET

The goodwill arising on the acquisition on Panva Gas was
attributed to anticipated profitability of its LPG retail
business.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Loss on deemed disposal of associate

ERNEREABRTERH 2
HIZFIBEN -

BRYENZREEMELEZR
BRI MBI ©

BERHE BB ELRZEE

HK$’000
TAT

Carrying amount of Panva Gas as an BE AR RIMRN L E R H
associate as at date of disposal ZETEE (293,982)
Fair value of the shortfall =B AT E 58,817

Fair value of the Group's previously held AREBLERFAFRAIRRE

equity interest in Panva Gas RS 2 A FE 220,132
(15,033)
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(D) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of additional in interests in an associate
(Continued)

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition

39. W iE = ()

(D) ZEB U B & 1 7 7R IME

= W BB 2 55 ()

AU g mEEL 2 BET RAFEE

HK$’000
FHET
Bank balances and cash acquired FriiE  IRITHEH RIS 267,801
Cash consideration paid FIZftziBaRE (170,300)
97,501

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

Included in the Group's profit for the year ended March
31, 2014 was HK$3,965,000 attributable to the additional
business generated by Panva Gas. Revenue included in the
Group’s revenue for the year ended March 31, 2014
amounted to HK$2,725,172,000.

(E) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of additional in interests in a joint venture
in 2014

158

(i)

On September 3, 2013, a subsidiary of the Company
entered into an acquisition agreement with the
independent third party, pursuant to which the
Group acquired the remaining 50% equity interest
of China Gas — SK Energy at a consideration of
RMB129,500,000 (approximately to
HK$163,384,000). The acquisition was completed in
September 17, 2013, on that date the control in
China Gas — SK Energy was passed to the Group.
Since then China Gas — SK Energy become the
subsidiary of the Group. China Gas — SK Energy is
an investment holding which joint ventures are
principally engaged in natural gas business.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A

(E)

WhEAI AN EE 2R &
AEBHE-_ZTE—NF=A=1
—BLFEZREMNBPEGEERA
LR R 2 BB IS 2 3,965,000
Lot AREBHE_ZT—NF
A=+ —HLEFEREHKE
/52,725,172,0007% 7T °

RZZ-NFEBREBES
ERmABEMER RIBRER

() R-TE—=%FhA=H &
NAINBAREBIYE =
FERIM B - Bt &
EEKERR — T B H
TR T 50% B A - RE
A A R 129,500,000 7T (4
163,384,000 7t) - WEE
R-_ZE—=FNLA++tH
EHCREBR BB —FR
FeER2IEm#EER =N
SE-WE - FHR—FEHA
EEKABAEBZHEA
Ale R —BERERA
—HREER NG A%
RAIEERERARET °
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(E) Acquisition of a business through purchase

(E)

39. WIE % ()
RZZE-—NFEBRES

of additional in interests in a joint venture ENEEIERWBEER
in 2014 (Continued) (&)
(i) (Continued) (i) (#&)
Consideration transferred E#EAE
HK$’000
FHET
Cash He 163,384
Fair value of previously held interests ERIFF DA TFE 163,385
326,769
Assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition AEBRKEBARBRZE

recognised by the Group:

ENAE:

Acquiree’s carrying
amount and fair value
before combination

BRBBARE BRI 2

FEEHERATE

HK$'000

FBT

Property, plant and equipment ME - BB &R 25
Investments in associates REBERRZEKE 40,258
Investments in joint ventures REERRIZEE 190,187
Trade and other receivables B 5 e U BE 3k & H b FE Lk BR 18 299
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBRIA S 2,662
Trade and other payables B 5 FE S BR A % E L FE S AR IE (7,293)
226,436

Goodwill [EES 100,333
326,769

The fair value as well as the gross contractual
amounts of the trade and other receivables acquired
amounted to HK$299,000 at the date of acquisition.
The best estimate at acquisition date of the
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected
was nil.

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015
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39. WEE X5 (&

39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(E) Acquisition of a business through purchase (E) R=ZZE—NEFEFAKES
of additional in interests in a joint venture ENEEIERWBEER
in 2014 (Continued) (&)

(i) (Continued) (i) (%)

Goodwill arising on acquisition B i i E A 2 AR
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration transferred EHEEReERE 326,769

Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets & : FrURBE Al 4 RV & &=

acquired ZRFEE (226,436)
Goodwill arising on acquisition Wik E £ 2 imE 100,333

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of China AKER R — B BRER

160

Gas — SK Energy was attributed to anticipated
profitability of its investment in natural gas business
by its joint ventures.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The fair value of the 50% equity interest in China
Gas — SK Energy previously held by the Group was
re-measured as of the date of acquisition at
HK$163,385,000 by reference to the cash
consideration, resulting in a gain of HK$51,135,000
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended March 31, 2014.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MEXAZEHELERES
EBRARERAREKZ
BEHAFEN -

BHYERZBREME
EZEBEAMBREA -

ANEBERTEFEH R —
E B ft JR50% % K #
mZ ATFEEZ2ERSR
BrERKEBEHNTES
163,385,000/ T < B &
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39. Acquisition of Businesses (Continued)

(E) Acquisition of a business through purchase
of additional in interests in a joint venture
in 2014 (Continued)

(CONTINUED)
e B RS EHR AR M EE ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 HE T —AF=-A=+—RALFE

39. B 7 (48)

E) RZZE—NFEBURES
ENABENMERRBES
(,,,,a)

(i) (Continued) (i) (#&)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition B U B i E A2 B 2 7

H
HK$'000
FHET
Bank balances and cash acquired Friii g  IRITHEM R R € 2,662
Cash consideration paid X zBERE (163,384)
(160,722)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the Group's profit for the year ended
March 31, 2014 was profit of HK$2,168,000
attributable to the additional business generated by
China Gas — SK Energy. Revenue included in the
Group's revenue for the year ended March 31, 2014
amounted to nil.

If the above acquisitions during the year ended March 31, 2015
had been completed on April 1, 2014, total group revenue and
profit for the year would have been HK$31,763,459,000 and
HK$3,874,817,000 respectively. The pro forma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication
of revenue and results of the operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had above acquisition been
completed on April 1, 2014, nor is it intended to be projection
of future results.

If the above acquisition during the year ended March 31, 2014
had been completed on April 1, 2013, total group revenue and
profit for the year would have been HK$27,629,688,000 and
HK$3,030,718,000 respectively. The pro forma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication
of revenue and results of the operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had above acquisition been
completed on April 1, 2013, nor is it intended to be projection
of future results.

Wi R EBELE T FZE
AEBHZE_Z—NWNFE=
B=+—BLEFEZHF
PIEEBERTR —F B
FEE IR 2 BN E 15 2 %
2,168,000/ T ° & A AN &
BEHz_—_ZFT—HmWE=ZA=
+—BAEFER=EH S
BT -

WEtREE " ET—RAF=A=+—
AtFEz2HBEEAER - —
FHA—BREK FAZEBRIKZE
K 5u A& 5 Bl &31,763,459,000 7% 7T &
3,874,817,0007%8 7T ° 5 & & BHE 5
B BARM AW ERKEEZEEHER
—mimﬂ—a%ﬁﬁ%mﬁfg
ﬁ%ﬁ Bzl mREEEEIER
JTT%&{’EE*X%%TZ%E%JO

i P REE T —NF=ZA =+ —
HEFEZKHBERAHAER - —=
FHA—BZR FAZEB R
5% A 35 9 Bll 527,629,688,00078 T M
3,030,718,000/% 7T ° ff5 & & K&t &
B BARMAMWERWEEESER
—f——¢MH HEKRASEEE

RERBZRENEEXEZEET
JTT%M’H%*?K%%%Z%E/EIJ
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40. Operating Lease Arrangements

The Group as lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of rented premises and equipment
which fall due as follows:

40.

REHNZH

AEBEREBEA
R|ERR - AEBREE T 5] R
JE 2 T E Y R R T AT A
SROTAHBRARRI N Z RIER
£WT

2015 2014
—E—REF —E—JQFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FA&T

Within one year —fR

In the second to fifth year inclusive FZFEEFERF
(BREEEME)

After five years hF &

80,875 67,890

166,450 92,567
109,827 52,548

.HH 213,005

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group in respect of leasehold land and buildings and
equipment. Leases for rented premises and equipment are
negotiated for an average term of two to six years with fixed
rental.

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented
premises which fall due as follows:

REBOZNFEASERHAE L0
EEFhEHERENZES HEWE

REEANERZEFIR/REMER
FOHEHESEE -

AEBERHBEA

REEHA REETHHEERZ
FARBAENEELERY %M
BEBASHUTRRKER SN RE
HEEK

2015 2014
—F-BF Z—FT-WF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TAT

Within one year —FR

In the second to fifth year inclusive F_FEFERF
(BEERME)

After five years hF%

16,441 9,742

4,582 3,795
10,297 —

-I!!!I 13,537

Leases are negotiated for an average term of two to ten years
with fixed rentals.
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The Group has entered into the following significant
transactions, which have not been completed at the end of the
reporting period nor at the date these consolidated financial
statements were authorised for issuance.

(i

(ii)

On November 26, 2014, the Group has entered into a
share purchase agreement Beijing Gas Group (BVI) Co.,
Ltd (“Seller”), pursuant to which the Group has
conditionally agreed to acquire the entire issued share
capital of Beijing Gas Development Limited and its 12
subsidiaries established in the PRC principally engaged in
the holding, management and operations of PRC projects
and business relating to natural gas, for a consideration of
RMB1,632,796,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,063,852,000) from the Seller (“Proposed
Acquisition”). As at the date of the share purchase
agreement, Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (“BEHL")
directly and indirectly owns 1,126,840,132 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 22.44% of the
issued share capital of the Company. As such, BEHL is a
connected person of the Company. The Seller is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of BEHL. Therefore, the Seller is a
connected person of the Company and the Proposed
Acquisition will constitute a connected transaction of the
Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and is subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements thereunder. As at March 31, 2015, no
deposit was paid and the transaction has not been
completed.

In January 2015, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into an equity transfer agreement with
an independent third party to acquire 100% equity
interest in HZMHINHEBRRER AT at a total cash
consideration of RMB21,000,000 (approximately
HK$26,582,000). Total deposit of RMB3,700,000
(approximately HK$4,684,000) was paid for the year
ended March 31, 2015. The transaction has not been
completed as March 31, 2015.

AEBEBCIZTIRS

HZERXHR

BEMRERZEGAMBERRERE
T2z BHRHRTMX -

(ii)

RZE—NMF+—A=+,xH"
AEBHEIEITKRIEBEBNE
RARI(TBERIZERBZE
Bl AEEBEEBGKEHRER
EFTWRBILLRERER QAR
HRRMBERAG (KR R EM
My WEEREFRHIEER 2
ZElR - BEEREE UWREXA
BB 2EB) 22 BEBETR
K R{EAANRM632,796,000
7t (#8& 7 492,063,852,000% 7T )
([EHWED - RERHA
Bk RmERERAA(IER
TR D EELREEEE AR A
1,126,840,132 % & 17 » 165 AN A &
B EITIR AN #922.44% - FH Uit -
b RERAKRDG 2 BEAL -
ERALRERZZEWNBE AR
Ao MU B IE £ R A 14A
E EHARNDNRIZBEAL
WEBRESEXNARR R EE
RS BB LEWAAUETBR
RAEZHE - RZE—RHF=
A=+—8 A2 EXHE
RS MR S I ARTERK °

R—ZE—FRFE— A AXEHZ
2EWNBAREBIYE=FE
VREEZHE AKRBTZ
MHBEEMRERAAEE
BAEZ AEEREAAR
#& 21,000,000 7T (%Y 26,582,000
BIL) BHE-_ZT—HE=A=
+—HLEFE AAFEXH
& A H£ AR#3,700,0007T (49
4,684,000/ 70) c RHN=ZF —
AF=ZA=1t—HMEEKTHK -
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41. Capital Commitments (Continued)

164+

(iii)

(iv)

In January 2015, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into an equity transfer agreement with
an independent third party to acquire 100% equity
interest in AR EE28ERET AR A7) at a total cash
consideration of RMB22,000,000 (approximately
HK$27,848,000). Total deposit of RMB17,600,000
(approximately HK$22,278,000) was paid for the year
ended March 31,2015. The transaction has not been
completed as March 31, 2015.

In January 2015, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into an equity transfer agreement with
an independent third party to acquire 100% equity
interest in I EEMEA AR A at a total cash
consideration of RMB86,666,700 (approximately
HK$109,704,000). Total deposit of RMB26,000,000
(approximately HK$32,911,000) was paid for the year
ended March 31,2015. The transaction has not been
completed as March 31, 2015.

As at March 31, 2015, the Group has capital commitments in
respect of the acquisition for property, plant and equipment
and construction materials for property, plant and equipment
contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements amounting to HK$172,378,000 (2014:
HK$87,804,000) and HK$148,358,000 (2014: HK$170,810,000)
respectively.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

ERERAF

-

41. ERFEIE ()

(iii)

(iv)

ﬁ/\_
BB E BEEKRBELEYD

R_ZE—RF— A" AV“TZ%
BB AR BEBLE=HEAL
R i A HD P
B REEREM AR AR 2
EAEZD BReREAARE
22,000,0007T (#727,848,00078 JT) °
BHE-Z—RF=A=+—H8H1
FE ARQRAEINEEEHEA
R 17,600,000 7T ( #722,278,0007%
) RN _E—RE=A=+
—HMARTEAK °

RZE—RFE—A  ARalz®
BB AR EBYE=HA] LK
TR e DA URBE B0 I 2 1B AR
RERRABEZHBR AL - BI7
& KRB A AR ¥86,666,7007T (47
109,704,000/ 7T) c k2 =F — 1
FZAZ+—HBLFE A27
ESEH&%:.A}\EM%OOOOOO
7T (#932,911,000/8 7)) ° K A =
E-—RAFE=ZA=+—HBHHEEAZK -

~EF=A=+—-A A%
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42.

43.

Pledge of Assets

The Group pledged certain non-current and current assets and
equity interests over certain subsidiaries to banks to secure loan
facilities granted to the Group. Carrying amount of the non-
current and current assets pledged to banks to secure loan
facilities granted to the Group is as follows:

42.

EERA

AEBBERETHEBRAR ZSE TIE
RBERBEERKREERTRT
EAEEERZENREZER-B
BERPROTERAEEER ZEXR
BERZERB AR EEREEN
T

Long-term loan facilities RPERRE
Investment properties REME

Property, plant and equipment Mz - BEREE
Prepaid lease payments TN HEE KA
Short-term loan facilities BEHERRE
Inventories 5B

Pledged bank deposits BHEMRITER

2015 2014
—E—AEF —E—JF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FA&T
60,600 58,800
321,475 262,215
23,508 16,328
155,696

63,484 250,748

469,067 743,787

Retirement Benefits Schemes

The Group has joined a MPF Scheme for all employees in Hong
Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rule of
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at rate specified
in the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect of
the MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under
the scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years at March 31, 2015 and
2014.

43.

3y SR |

rEBAMETEREBEZ2MBES
go-RELFBANRERFNERTES
ol Rt ERAEERRE
fi- @A ZEERAKREZE
EPHAKALHABIIFAAEE R
BERBREAH AR BEZREBRE
AR AT E 2 b R\ %t &I -
AEERBRESFHIZE-—REIRR
ZETEZEBREFR -R_F—HFK
ZT-ME=ZA=+—HB 1TERK
R AIE R R R B A 2 K o
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43.

44.

Retirement Benefits Schemes (Continued)

Employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are covered by
the retirement and pension schemes defined by local practice
and regulations. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
specific percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement and
pension schemes. The only obligation of the Group in respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contribution.

The calculation of contributions for PRC eligible staff is based on
certain percentage of the applicable payroll costs. The
contribution to the MPF Scheme is calculated based on the rules
set out in the MPF Ordinance which is 5% on the basic salary of
the relevant employee subject to a specific ceiling.

Share Option Scheme and Share-Based
Payments

The share option scheme was adopted by the Company
pursuant to a resolution passed on February 6, 2003 (the
“Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
any directors of the Company, any employees of the Group, or
any employee, partner or director of any business consultant,
joint venture partner, financial adviser or legal adviser of the
Group.

’I 66 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. Share Option Scheme and Share-Based

Payments (Continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at the date of shareholders’
approval of the Scheme (“Scheme Mandate Limit”) or, if such
10% limit is refreshed, at the date of shareholders’ approval of
the renewal of the Scheme Mandate Limit. The maximum
aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme must not exceed 30% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
The number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company then in issue. Each
grant of options to any director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder must be approved by independent non-executive
directors. Where any grant of options to substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director or any of their
respective associate would result in the shares of the Company
issued and to be issued upon exercise of options already granted
and to be granted in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued
share capital and with a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 in the
12-month period up to the date of grant must be approved in
advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days from the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$10 per each grant. Options may
be exercised at any time from the date to be determined by the
board of directors to the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.
The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant and (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

The life of the Scheme is effective for 10 years from the date of
adoption until February 5, 2013.

Since the Scheme expired on February 6, 2013, no further
options can be granted thereunder. However, the provisions of
the Scheme shall remain in force in all other respects and all
options, granted prior to its expiration shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance therewith.

(CONTINUED)
i a B B R AR B ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

4. BREGTE R UK G X

7% (5)
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44. Share Option Scheme and Share-Based

Payments (Continued)

A new share option scheme was adopted pursuant to a
resolution passed on August 20, 2013 (the “2013 Scheme”).
The purpose of the New Scheme is to grant share options to
eligible persons as incentives or rewards for their contribution to
the Group. The New Scheme will expire on 27 November 2023.

The eligible person as defined in the New Scheme are individuals
or entities who or which may participate in the New Scheme
(“Eligible Persons”). The following individuals or entities who in
the absolute discretion of the Board of Directors of the
Company have contributed to the Group on the basis of their
contribution to the development and growth of the Group may
participate in the New Scheme:

() an eligible employee; and

(i)  a non-executive director and an independent non-
executive director of any member of the Group; and

(i) an agent or a consultant of any member of the Group;
and

(iv) a supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any director or employee of such supplier; and

(v)  a customer of any member of the Group or any director
or employee of such customer; and

(vi)  person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any advisory, consultancy
or professional services to any member of the Group or
any director or employee of any such entity; and

(vii) a subsidiary; and

(viii) a company in which the Company holds, either directly or
indirectly, 20% or more of its equity interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

m For the year ended March 31,

44. Share Option Scheme and Share-Based
Payments (Continued)

Maximum number of shares available for
subscription

(i)

(ii)

Subject to the Listing Rules, the maximum number of the
share of the Company subject to outstanding unvested or
vested options under the New Scheme (“New Options”)
and outstanding options under other share option scheme
of the Company (“Other Options”) must not exceed 30%
of the shares or the Company in issue from time to time
("Overriding Limit”). No New Options or Other Options
may be granted if it will result in this Overriding Limit
being exceeded.

Subject to the Overriding Limit, paragraphs (iii) and (iv)
below, the total number of shares of the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all New Options and
Other Options must not exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the August 20, 2014 (subject to
adjustment in the event of a capitalisation issue or rights
issue or open offer of shares of the Company, or
consolidation, sub-division or reduction of share capital of
the Company (other than an issue of shares of the
Company as consideration in respect of a transaction))
(“Mandate Limit”). Unless approved pursuant to
paragraphs (i) and (iv) below, no New Options or Other
Options may be granted if such grant will result in the
Mandate Limit being exceeded. New Options and Other
Options lapsed according to the terms of the New Scheme
or other share option scheme(s) will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the Mandate Limit.

a44.

(CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)
G RS SRR T (A

For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE

44. Share Option Scheme and Share-Based
Payments (Continued)

Maximum number of shares available for

subscription (Continued)

(i) Subject to the Overriding Limit and an approval of
shareholders of the Company, the Company may from
time to time “refresh” a Mandate Limit provided that the
total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all New Options or Other Options
to be granted under the limit as “refreshed” must not
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the
date of the resolution to approve the “refreshed” limit
(“Refresher Date”). New Options and Other Options
previously granted (whether outstanding, cancelled,
lapsed (according to the New Scheme or the other share
option schemes of the company) or exercised) will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as
“refreshed”. The Company can seek the approval of
shareholders of the Company to “refresh” a Mandate
Limit any number of times as the Board of Directors of the
Company considers appropriate. Unless approved
pursuant to paragraph (iv) below, the board of directors
of the Company cannot grant any New Options on or
after the Refresher Date if such grant will result in the
Mandate Limit as refreshed being exceeded.

(iv)  Subject to the Overriding Limit and a specific approval of
shareholders of the Company, the board of directors of
the Company may grant New Options to Eligible Persons
identified by the board of directors of the Company. If the
approval of shareholders of the Company is obtained, the
board of directors of the Company may grant New
Options to any Eligible Person in respect of such number
of shares of the Company and on such terms as specified
in that approval of shareholders of the Company.

Options granted under the New Scheme must be taken up
within 20 business days of the date of grant and pay the
Company the amount payable, if any, on acceptance of the
option. Any option under the New Scheme which has vested, in
respect of which all conditions attaching to it have satisfied and
which has not lapsed may be exercised at any time, by no
option may be exercised if such exercise would, in the opinion
of the board of directors of the Company, be in breach of the
New Scheme, any applicable law, rule or regulation or the terms
and conditions of the relevant option granted under the New
Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. Share Option Scheme and Share-Based

Payments (Continued)

Maximum number of shares available for
subscription (Continued)

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant, (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company's share.

For the year ended March 31, 2015, 250,000,000 share option
were granted by the Company to certain directors and
employees of the Group on April 16, 2014, 2,000,000 shares
were forfeited upon resignation of an employee and none of
the share options were exercised. These share options may be
exercised on or after April 16, 2017. The estimated fair value of
the options granted on this date are HK$891,000,000.

The fair value of the share options granted was calculated using
the Binomial Options Pricing Model. The variables and
assumptions used in computing the fair value of the options are
based on the directors' best estimate. The value of a share
option varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions. The following assumptions were used to calculate
the fair value of the share options:

Grant date share price HK$12.40
Exercise price HK$12.40
Time to maturity (in year) 4.90 years
Annualised volatility 35%
Expected dividend yield 0.76%
Risk-free interest rate 1.18%
Exercise multiple 4.0
Post-vesting exit rate 0%

As at March 31, 2015, the directors of the Company consider
that the option being granted in this grant will not vest as the
condition for exercising those share options is not probable to
meet. For the year ended March 31, 2015, no share-based
payment expense is recognised (2014: nil).

(CONTINUED)
B MR M (&)

For the year ended March 31,2015 HE T —AF=-A=+—RALFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e P BHRERNE &

For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 - —HAF A =+—HIFE

44. Share Option Scheme and Share-Based

Payments (Continued)

44.

At March 31, 2015, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remaining outstanding under the
New Scheme is 248,000,000 representing 4.96% of the shares

of the Company in issue at that date.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share
options held by employees (including directors) and movements

in such holdings during the two years ended March 31, 2015:

R-_E—RAF=ZA=+—H8 BEH
AEIERHBBEMATENHES RO
% 15 Bt B /248,000,000 8% - 16 A &
B HEEITRMANI496% °

TRILEB(BRESR) AKALA
BREs2FBREE_ZT—HF=A
St-ALMBEFEREBRECE

FIFN
Number Number Forfeited/ Number
of share Exercised Forfeited Transfer of share Exercised Granted lapsed of share
Exercise price options at during during during  options at during during during  options at
Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period per share 412013 the year the year the year 3312014 the year the year the year 3.31.2015
R=%-z% R=%-B% RZ%-1F
BA-8 =A=t-A ExBRY/ ZAZt-A
REAH £ L ATRAR SROKE ZBRERE EREAE  ERBRM FREE ZBRERE  ERBAR FACEM X ZBREHE
HK$ (Note 3) (Note 5) (Note 6) (Note 3) (Note 5)
o (K3t3) (Kts) (K3t6) (3) (Rts)
Held by Directors
HESRE
19.2004 1.9.2004 t0 8.30.2004 9.1.2004t0 182014 0.80 4,000,000 (4,000,000) = = = = = = =
19.200428.30.2004 9.1.2004%1.8.2014
10.20.2005 1020.2005t010.19.2010  10.20.2010t0 10.19.2015 150 6,000,000 (6,000,000) = = = = = = =
1020.2005210.192010  10.20.2010%10.19.2015
8.23.2007 8.23.200709.18.2008 9.19.2008 t08.22.2017 232 3,000,000 (3,000,000) = = = = = = =
8.23.2007£9.18.2008 9.19.2008%8.22.2017
832009 (Note 4) (Note 4) 210 100,000,000 (100,000,000) - - - - - - -
(Ke) (Kizta)
832009 8320090822011 8320110822014 210 23,000,000 {10,000,000) — (30000000 10,000,000  (10,000,000) - - -
8320092822011 8320112822014
9.17.2009 9.17.200909.16.2012 9.17.2014109.16.2014 260 2,000,000 (2,000,000) = = = = = = =
9.17.2009%9.16.2012 9.17.2014%9.16.2014
4.16.2014 (Note 1) (Note 1) 1240 - - - - - — 25000000 (2,000,000 23,000,000
(K1) (K1)
138,000,000 (125,000,000 — (30000000 10,000,000  (10,000,000) 25,000,000  (2,000,000) 23,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. Share Option Scheme and Share-Based
Payments (Continued)

(CONTINUED)
e MRk e (&

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

44

CERERTE R UK AG N
5 (&)

o

Number Number Forfeited/ Number
of share Exercised Forfeited Transfer of share Exercised Granted lapsed of share
Exercise price options at during during during  options at during during during  options at
Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period per share 412013 the year the year the year 3.31.2014 the year the year theyear 3312015
R=%-z% RZ%-B% RZ%-1F
mA-8 ZAZt-A ERERY/ ZAZt-A
REAH B L ATRER SROGE ZBREHE EFAEAR  ERBRM FREE ZBREEE  EABAR  FACEY X zBREHE
HKS (Note 3) (Note 5) (Note 6) (Note 3) (Note 5)
AL (Ht3) (Hizts) (Hrte) (Rit3) (Rts)
Held by Others
HEBARE
19.2004 1.9.2004 t0 8.30.2004 9.1.2004t0 182014 0.80 1,910,000 (900,000)  {1,010,000) - - - - - -
1.9.2004 £8:30.2004 9.1.2004%18.2014
106.2004 106.2004 t03.19.2005 320200510 10.5.2014 071 33,600,000 - - — 33,600,000 - —  (33,600,000) -
10.6.2004%3.19.2005 320.2005%105.2014
(Note 2)
(i)
10.20.2005 10.202005t0 10.192010  10.20.2010t0 10.19.2015 150 107,300,000 (2,500,000) = — 104800000  (10,000,000) = — 94,800,000
10.202005%10.19.2010  1020.2010%10.19.2015
8.3.2009 (Note 4) (Note 4) 210 100,000,000 (100,000,000) — - — — - — -
(Btst4) (GEL)
8.3.2009 8.3.2009t0 8.2.2011 832014108.2.2014 210 15,714,000 (12,274,000) — 3,000,000 6,440,000 (5,360,000) - (1,080,000) -
832009822011 832014822014
9.17.2009 9.17.2009 to 10.13.2009 10.14.2009 t0 9.16.2014 260 500,000 (500,000) — - — - — - -
9.17.2009%10.13.2009 10.14.2009%9.16.2014
9.17.2009 9.17.2009 t0 9.16.2012 9.17.2014109.16.2014 260 670,000 (270,000 — - 400,000 (400,000) — — —
9.17.2009%9.16.2012 9.17.2014%9.16.2014
4.16.2014 (Note 1) (Note 1) 1240 - — — - — — 225,000,000 — 225,000,000
(Bis1) (K1)
259,694,000 (116,444,000 (1,010,000) 3000000 145240000 (15,760,000 225000000  (34,680,000) 319,800,000
397,694,000 (241,444,000 (1,010,000) — 155240000 25760000 225000000  (36,680,000) 342,800,000
Weighted average exercise price nETHGEE HK$1.80 HKS2.06 HK$0.80 NA  HK$139 HRS1ES  HK$1240 HK$1.39 HK$9.39
18087 20687 08077 TR 13987 1658 12408 13987 939% 7
Exercisable at the end of the year ARERTE 197,694,000 155,240,000 128,400,000
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For the year ended March 31,2015 B ZE T —RAF=-A=+—HILFE

44,

17

Share Option Scheme and Share-Based
Payments (Continued)

Notes:

(1) The validity period of the options is five years from April 16, 2014 to April
15, 2019. And the options may be exercised on or after April 16, 2017.
The exercise of the options will be subject to the conditions that (i) the
audited profit after tax of the Group after deduction of minority interests
for the financial year March 31, 2017 or before shall not be less than
HK$5.5 billion; (ii) if the above condition is not fulfilled, the options may
be exercised if the audited profit after tax of the Group after deduction of
minority interests for the financial year ended March 31, 2018 shall not be
less than HK$6 billion; and (iii) the options will lapse if the above two
conditions are not satisfied.

(2) The original exercisable period was July 1, 2005 to October 5, 2014.
Pursuant to a resolution passed in the board of directors meeting held on
March 20, 2005, the exercisable period is changed to the period from
March 20, 2005 to October 5, 2014.

(3) During the year March 31, 2015, weighted average share price on exercise
dates and the weighted average price immediately before exercise dates
are HK$15.17 (2014: HK$7.67) per share.

(4) The exercise of option will be subject to the condition that the annual
consolidated profit after taxation of the Company and its subsidiaries
which shall be certified by the auditors appointed by the Company as at
the date of the exercise of the options being not less than HK$1.5 billion.
Exercisable period is between August 3, 2009 to August 2, 2019.

(5 The options were forfeited upon resignation of the employees.
(6) The options were transferred as Mr. Feng Zhuo Zhi was not re-elected as

director at the Annual General Meeting of the Company on August 20,
2013.

The options outstanding as at March 31, 2015 have a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 5 years (2014: 1 year).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

e B RS EHR AR M EE ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 i ZE =T —AF=A=+—RHItFE

45. Related Party Transactions

Apart from the amounts due from/to related parties and
transactions as disclosed in notes 22, 26, 29, 32 and 33
respectively, the Group entered into the following transactions
with major related parties that are not members of the Group:

(i) During the year ended March 31, 2015, the Group
purchased gas for total amount of HK$39,894,000 (2014
HK$32,833,000) from a joint venture.

(i)  During the year ended March 31, 2015, the Group
sold gas total amount of HK$54,041,000 (2014:
HK$46,521,000) to joint ventures.

(i)  During the year ended March 31, 2015, the Group
received interest income for total amount of
HK$9,531,000 (2014: HK$10,955,000) from an associate.

The remuneration of key management of the Group was as

45. BEAETRS

B Bt 5522 - 26 - 29 - 32 %335 Bl AT
BoREW TENEEALTZRBEBER

CELE

AEBERYIFAKEKE QA

ZEBREALIIL TR :

@)

(ii)

(iii)

BEzE_ET—RAF=ZA=+—
BEFE A"EBNBEHE
39,894,000/ Tt (= & — I 4F :
32,833,000 7C) A — K& &b ¥
BERE-

Bz ZEZ—H&E=/A=+—
BEFE AEBNUNBEEE
54,041,000 7T ( = & — P4 4 :
46,521,000/ 0) A& EHE
REEo

BEe—_f2—AF=A=+—HI
FE - AEENR—RBELE QAR
Bz & B W A 42 %8 A9,531,000
BT (ZZF — M4 : 10,955,000
JL) °

AEBTZEEEZMSWT

follows:
2015 2014
—E2-HF —T—@NOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FAT
Short-term benefits %2 B 4@ F 25,014
Post employment benefits B B3 12 12 T 71

40,387 25,085

F

The remuneration of key management is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

TEEEEMNeaFHEZEERER

5
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For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 - —HAF A =+—HIFE sg
¥
46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries 6. T EM B A BB
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: TEMRBARIFEBNOT
Proportion of
Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/  business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
k1A B 3 o HRBRITRE KRR RTRA
WEARER JEERY EREBER /EMER /EMEREE LA TEEH
2015 2014
-1 TN
% %
Hai Xia Finance Limited Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary Securities investment
HK$2
BREBERAR BE EaiiA EER2ET BHRE
Iwai's Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited ~ Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary Investment holding,
HK$1,000 property investment
Non-voting and provision of
deferred shares management services
HK$1,000,000 to group companies
(Note 1)
BE EaiiA LR REZR NERER
1,000 T ERFE REUEEERBTER
BT 11,000,000 NG
B (i)
Wellgem Asia Limited Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary Property development
HK$10,000
BEIHERAF BE EaiiA L RER10,000% T NEER
R EE LR EBR AT PRC Wholly—foreign Registered Investment holding
Zhongran Gas (Shenzhen) owned 1S$29,800,000 and treasury
Company Limited* enterprises
("WFOE")
HE NEBELE AR REZRRHE
(MMhEaBE 29,800,000% 7t
i3-3))
HIREBRAR PRC WFOE Registered Investment holding
RMB898,637,000 and treasury
HE NEBELE EMERARK REZRRHE

898,637,0007T

1 7 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)
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ﬂ For the year ended March 31,2015 B2 - —HAF A =+—HIFE sg
~

46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries 46. T EM B N T EE ()
(Continued)
Proportion of
Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/  business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
1R B S o BREBRATRE ARRMESRITRE
WEARAR JEENRE ERERER /HEMER /EAMEREEL A TEER
2015 2014
ZE-RE ZT-QmF
% %
SRR R R AR AR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Beijing Zhongran Xiangke equity joint RMB20,000,000 and gas pipeline
0il Gas Technology venture construction
Company Limited*
hE PHRELE FMERARE RARHERME
20,000,0007T BERE
Elegant Cheer Limited Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary Property holding
HK$10,000
BE Eaii2A LAk 10,000% T RENZ
RETRREERAR PRC WFOE Registered Investment holding
Wuhan China Natural Gas RMB69,980,000
Investment Company Limited*
HE NEBELR EMERAREK REZR
69,980,000
aERRETRREEERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Yiyang Central Gas & City Gas equity joint RMB44,000,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd.* venture construction
HE RN ERE FMERAREK RARHERME
44,000,0007T EERE
ERZHRETEEERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Wuhu City Natural Gas equity joint RMB100,000,000 and gas pipeline
Development Company Limited* venture construction
HhE mHRELE EMERARK RARHERMR
100,000,007 BERE
ERPAAREEERAR PRC Limited Registered Sales of natural gas
liability RMB2,000,000 and gas pipeline
company construction
HE BREEAH EMERARK RARHEERMR
2,000,000 BERE
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(CONTINUED)
e SRR M ()

For the year ended March 31,2015 BiZ2 =T —HAF=A=+—HIEFE

46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries

46. T EM B~ A =15 (&)

(Continued)

Proportion of
Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/  business share capital/ registered capital

Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities

1A B L o R BREBATRE ARRMECRITRE

WEARAR /RN ERERER /HEMER /AMEREELL A TEER

2015 2014
ZE-REF ZT-QmF
% %

B EERAR PRC Limited Registered Sales of natural gas
liability RMB1,000,000 and gas pipeline
company construction

HE BREMAA TMERARE RARHERME
1,000,000 FERE

BamAREREMERER AR PRC Limited Registered Sales of natural gas
liability RMB1,185,000 and gas pipeline
company construction

HE BREMAA TMERARE RARHERMR
1,185,0007C FERE

HERRAMRREEERAR PRC Limited Registered Sales of natural gas

Yichang Zhongran City Gas liability RMB70,000,000 and gas pipeline

Development Limited* company construction
hE BREARH FMERAREK RARHERME
70,000,0007T BERE

ERIRRRERAR PRC Limited Registered Sales of natural gas
liability RMB46,000,000 and gas pipeline
company construction

hE BEREARH FMERAREK RARHEERME
46,000,0007C BERE

Clever Decision Enterprises Limited BVI Incorporated Ordinary Investment holding

Us$100
RERAES EailAv Eak00%T RE R
ERBEERRARITER PRC WFOE Registered Investment holding
BRARE RMB20,000,000
hE NEBERE FMERARE KRB R
20,000,0007T

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A
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46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries

46. TEM B A AF1E (&)

(Continued)
Proportion of
Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/  business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
1R B S o BREBRATRE ARRMESRITRE
WEARAR JEENRE ERERER /HEMER /EAMEREEL A TEER
2015 2014
ZE-RE ZT-QmF
% %
ERPRAMEEERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Huainan China Gas City Gas equity joint RMB72,000,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd.* venture construction
hE RONRERE FMERAREK RARHERME
72,000,0007T BERE
SZhmEmRERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
equity joint RMB3,000,000 and gas pipeline
venture construction
hE RONRERE FMERARE RARHERME
3,000,0007T BERE
BMNRRE TR R B BRAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Suizhou Zhongran City Gas equity joint RMB35,000,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd.* venture construction
HE mHRELE EMERAREK RARHERMR
35,000,000 EERE
ERPRRARARAF PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Xiaogan China Gas Co., Ltd.* equity joint RMB118,950,000 and gas pipeline
venture construction
HE mHRELE EMERARK RARHERMR
118,950,000 EERE
ZRPEHMRRERERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Xiaogan (Zhongya) China Gas equity joint RMB16,002,000 and gas pipeline
Co., Ltd.* venture construction
il RN ERE FMERAREK RARHERME
16,002,0007C BERE
BT R EEERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Hanchuan Jchina Gas Co., Ltd.* equity joint RMB11,274,000 and gas pipeline
venture construction
HE RN ERE FMERAREK RARHERME
11,274,00070 BERE

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015
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46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries

46. T EM B~ A =15 (&)

(Continued)
Place of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued
or registration/  business share capital/
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital
B BREBATRE
WEARAR /RN EBRRBER /HEMER
EERRATREEEERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered
Yunmeng China Gas Co., Ltd.* equity joint RMBY,708,000
venture
HE PHRERE AMERAREK
9,708,0007T
B RRRm AR EEERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered
Yingcheng Jiaxu China Gas equity joint RMB10,074,000
Co, Ltd.* venture
HE PHRELE FMERAREK
10,074,0007C
EBRRRRRERAA PRC WFOE Registered
Danyyang Zhongran Gas Co., Ltd.* HK$20,000,000
hE NEBELE M E A
20,000,000 7t
BT RERERAR PRC WFOE Registered
Pizhou Zhongran City Gas US$3,060,000
Development Co., Ltd.*
HE NEBELR EMEA
3,060,000 7T
BN RATREREEERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered
Suzhou Zhongran City Gas equity joint RMB40,000,000
Development Co., Ltd.* venture
HE HNRERE FMERARE
40,000,0007T
BN TR AERERAR PRC WFOE Registered
Cangzhou Zhongran City Gas HK$2,000,000
Development Co., Ltd.*
HE NEBELR AR
2,000,000% 7

18

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company
ARRMECRITRE
/EMEREELA
2015 2014
—Z-F5% —T-QfF

% %

Principal activities

TEXHK

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

RARHERME
EERE

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

ARRHERME
BERE

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

RARHERME
BERE

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline

RARBERMR
FERE

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

AARHEERMR
BERE

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

RARHERMR
EERE
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46. TEM B A AF1E (&)

46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries

(Continued)
Proportion of
Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/  business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
A S R A HREBRITRE ARAFfBERTRA
WEAEER JEERY EBRRBER /HERER /EMERERELA TEEH
2015 2014
ZE-RE ZT-QmF
% %
BRI RERERAR PRC WFOE Registered Sales of natural gas
Nanpixian Zhongran City Gas HK$10,000,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd.*
HE NEBERE AMER ARRHERME
10,000,0007% 7T BERE
RGP REEERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Wuhuxian Zhongran City Gas equity joint RMB10,000,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd.* venture construction
HE HONRERE TMERARE RARHEERMR
10,000,0007C EERE
FMNFRBTRREEERAR PRC WFOE Registered Sales of natural gas
Qinzhou Zhongran City Gas RMB20,000,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd.* construction
b NEBERE FHERARE AARHEERMR
20,000,0007T BERE
B TR AERERAR PRC WFOE Registered Sales of natural gas
Yangzhong Zhongran City Gas US$1,000,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd.* construction
P NEBE % Baili=w RARHERME
1,000,000% 7T BERE
REFRBIRREEERAR PRC WFOE Registered Sales of natural gas
Tianmen Zhongran City Gas HK$9,450,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd.* construction
HE NEBERE FHEA AARHEERME
9,450,000/ 7 EERE
EERME T AR EERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Baoji Zhongran City Gas equity joint RMB265,725,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd. venture construction
hE RONRERE TMERARE RARHERME
265,725,00070 BERE

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015 1 81
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46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries 6. T EMMEB A AFEE (8)
(Continued)
Proportion of
Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/  business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
1A B L o R BREBATRE ARRMECRITRE
WEARAR /RN EBRRBER /HEMER /EMEREELA TEER
2015 2014
“2-5F _F-QF
% %
AR REEEERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Nanjing Zhongran City Gas equity joint RMB200,000,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd.* venture construction
hE RONRERE FMERAREK AARHERME
200,000,0007T BERE
EHPRA TR RERBRAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Yulin Zhongran City Gas equity joint RMB42,000,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd.* venture construction
HE HONRERE TMERARE RARHERME
42,000,0007C EERE
BEETRRARERLT PRC WFOE Registered Sales of natural gas
RMB50,000,000 and gas pipeline
construction
HE NEBER%E TMERARE RARHERME
50,000,000 EERE
BRI TRAZRERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Fushun Zhongran City Gas equity joint RMB133,330,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd.* venture construction
HE RONEERE FMERAREK AARHEERME
133,330,000 BERE
ERTPRETRRREEERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
Wuwei Zhongran City Gas equity joint RMB18,000,000 and gas pipeline
Development Co., Ltd.* venture construction
HE HONRERE TMERARE RARHERME
18,000,000 EERE
EEFHBTAREEERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
equity joint RMB20,000,000 and gas pipeline
venture construction
HE HONRERE TMERARE RARHERME
20,000,000 7T BERE

1 8 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries 46. T EME A A 15 (&)

(Continued)

Proportion of
Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/  business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
R A S R AR HREBRITRE ARAFBERTRA
WEARER JEERY ES 2T $ /ERER /ERERAELH TEEH
2015 2014
ZE-RE ZT-QmF
% %

BEMRRERA PRC Sino-foreign Registered Sales of natural gas
equity joint RMB183,800,000 and gas pipeline
venture construction

HE HONRERE TMERARE RARHERMR
183,800,000 BERE

BETBRAARNRAER AT PRC Sino-foreign Registered Natural gas refill
equity joint RMB30,000,000 services and gas
venture station administration

HE HONRERE TMERARE RARIME RS K
30,000,0007 MRWER

BEMRFEETRERAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered Design, construction
equity joint RMB10,000,000 and maintenance of
venture ity pipeline projects

HE HONRERE TMERARE MTEBERZ
10,000,0007C Rit - BERRE

Zhongyou Hua Dian PRC Limited Registered Sales of LPG
liability RMB300,000,000
company

HRES HE BREMEAA TMERARE RIARRHE

300,000,0007T

HERREERERBR A PRC Limited Registered Investment in
liability RMB1,130,000,000 petrochemical facilities
company of storage and

transportation,
fundamental facilities
of pier, sales of raw
chemical materials and
construction materials

HE BEREAEAA AMERARE Rl F RE&R MR

1,130,000,0007C BRAERRBRE -

LS MR R B EM R
HE

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015
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46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries 46. T EME A A5 (&)
(Continued)
Proportion of
Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/  business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BT BREBTRE AQAfBERITRA
WEAR AR /R EBRRBER /HEMER /EMERERELA TEER
2015 2014
“2-5F _F-QF
% %

BMNFERRERAR PRC Limited Registered Sale of inflammable
liability RMB20,000,000 gas, LPG, inflammable
company liquid and inflammable

solid
HE BREMAA AMERAREK SRRE RIELABR-
20,000,007 SRR 7 E

HE

RN RREERER AR PRC Limited Registered Retailing and wholesaling
liability RMB3,000,000 of LPG and accessories
company

HE BREMAA AMERAREK RAARREGTE
3,000,000 7T Rt %

EMES R RRAERAR PRC Limited Registered Manufacturing of highly
liability USD60,000,000 purified LPG, highly
company purified propane and

butane
HE BEREAEAA &R BRHERCARE
60,000,000 7T BELRRRT RAEE

ERT i RERAR PRC Limited Registered Storing and trading of
liability UsD7,000,000 LPG, sales of chemical
company products, filling of

LPG and delivery of
hazardous products
HE BREMAA AR ReAAREFREE
7,000,000 70 LEERHE Rl
ARRAMRRER R
B8

IHEFRRIAERAR PRC Limited Registered Producing and storing
liability US$10,000,000 LPG and chemical
company product

HE BEREEAA &R RiRRA R EER
10,000,000 70 EERER

1 8 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A
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(CONTINUED)
REUBRERMEE

46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries
(Continued)

46. TEM B A AF1E (&)

Place of

incorporation Form of Paid up issued
or registration/  business share capital/
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital
1R B L o R BRERTRE
WEARER JEERY ERERER /HEMER
EF i ERARABRAR PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB21,250,000

company
HE BREARHA AMERAREK
21,250,0007T
China Gas Corporate Services Limited ~ Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary
HK$2
FERREERBERAA e Baiif v ERR2ET
Iwai Style Limited Limited Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary
HK$2
Bk Baiif v ETRR2ET
HEER PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB100,000,000

company
HE BREARH AMERAREK
100,000,0007T
BRTAORATRRERARAR  PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB30,000,000

company
HE BREARH AMERAREK
30,000,0007T

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company
ARRMECRITRE
/EMERERELA
2015 2014
—Z-H5% —ZT-mF

Principal activities

TEXH

% %

Operation of gas in cities,
filling of LPG, delivery
of hazardous products
and wholesaling and
retailing of chemical
products

BEFTRR Rl
ARANE R H
BHRZERBER

TE

Nominee and secretarial
services

REARBERY

Provision of management
services to the Group
MAREREER RS

Shipping delivery
services, technical
development, providing
consultancy services
and agent of delivery

MERS  RMFEE
REBERRYLESR
R R E

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

AARHERME
BERE
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46. TEME A AF1E (&)

46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries

(Continued)

Proportion of
Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/  business share capital/ registered capital

Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities

1R B S o = BRBRITRE AARAABERTRE

WEARER JEERY ERERER /HEAMER /EAMEREELF TEXH

2015 2014
“E-5F Z—ZT-QNF
% %

B PRC Limited Ordinary Sales of natural gas
liability RMB68,500,000 and gas pipeline
company construction

il BREMARA TRRARE RARHEERME
68,500,000 FERE
Brilliant China Investments Limited BVI Incorporated Ordinary Investment holding
US$50,000
RERLES Baiif v %A MR50,000% T REZR
Beijing Zhongmin Zhongran PRC Limited Ordinary Investment holding
Trading Company Limited liability HK$30,000,000
company
FRHRRRESERAR HE BREMARA EER R &R
30,000,000/ 7¢

P PRC Limited Ordinary Sales of natural gas
liability RMB40,000,000 and gas pipeline
company construction

HE BREMAA TRRARE RARHEERME
40,000,0007C FERE
=l PRC Limited Ordinary Sales of natural gas
liability RMB15,000,000 and gas pipeline
company construction
HE BREMAA TRRARE RARHEERME
15,000,0007C FERE

FTRRR R AR AR PRC Limited Ordinary Sales of natural gas
liability RMB50,000,000 and gas pipeline
company construction

HE BREMAA TRRARE RARHEERME
50,000,000 FERE

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A
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(CONTINUED)
REUBRERMEE

46. TEM B A AF1E (&)

Particular of Principal Subsidiaries
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued
or registration/  business share capital/
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital
1R B L o R BREBRTRE
o NGIE Y SRR EBRRBER /EREX
BERRE TR AZRERDR PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB300,000,000
company
HE BEREEAR FMERARE
300,000,0007T
LR PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB30,000,000
company
Gl BEREEAR FMERARE
30,000,0007T
Fortune Gas Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary
HK$702,730,911
702,730,911 ¢
Panva Gas BVI Incorporated Ordinary
US$1,111
BIRS RERAHE Bl A EREBINET
HEEN PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB107,500,000
company
i BREEAR FMERARE
107,500,000 7T
HmnRERERAR PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB400,000,000
company
AMERAREK
M BREERT 400,000,0007T

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company
AARAFFERTRA
/EAMEREELF
2015 2014
“E-1f _—T-NE

Principal activities

TEXE

% %

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

RARHERMR
EERE

Sales of LPG
RILEARHEE

Investment holding,
sales of natural gas
and CBM business
REZR RARHER
THEBRER

Investment holding
and sales of LPG
REBRRRIL AR
HE
Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline

construction

AARHE
Sales of LPG

RIEAARHE
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46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries 46. T EMME A AlFEE (E)
(Continued)
Proportion of
Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/  business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
1A B L o R BREBATRE ARRMECRITRE
WEARAR /RN ERERER /HEMER /AMEREELL A TEER
2015 2014
ZE-REF ZT-QmF
% %
China Gas — SK Energy Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary Investment holding
HK$18,200,000
mR—E RRRR BE Balif v EAK RERR
18,200,000% 70
5|38 PRC Sino-foreign Registered Investment holding,
equity joint RMB20,833,300 sales of chemical
venture products and
construction materials
HE PHRERE AMERAREK REZR LB2ak
20,833,3007 BEMHHE
EREN PRC Limited Registered Sales of natural gas
liability RMB30,000,000 and investment in gas
company projects
HE BREMAR AMERAREK RARHERRERR
30,000,0007T ER
EHHIRREERAR Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary Exploration and
Fortune Liulin Gas USD59,027,780 production of coal
Company Limited* bed methane
G a1 B L LEk HRREERER
59,027,780% I
EHRESERKRERAR PRC Limited Registered Provision of
Xinyang Fortune Vehicle Gas liability RMB19,340,000 compressed natural gas
Company Limited* company
e BREEAR FHERARE HERERAR
19,340,0007T
ERERPINEZERERAR PRC Limited Registered Development,
liability RMB50,000,000 consultancy services
company and investment in
clean energy
HhE BREARH FMERARE ERUREFZER
50,000,0007C RREEBERRS

1 8 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
FEIRRIZERGRA A
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46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries
(Continued)

46. T EM B R A =15 (&)

Place of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued
or registration/  business share capital/
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital
A S R A HREBRITRE
o) Ry JEENRE EBRRBER /HEREE
B RE RN ER AR PRC WFOE Registered
RMB50,000,000
HE NEBELRE TMERARE
50,000,0007C
HEflE PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB6,800,000
company
HE ERELAF TMERARE
6,800,0007C
+HEREIL PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB21,180,000
company
HE ERELAF TMERARE
21,180,0007T
w English name is for identification purposes only.

registered capital directly held by the Company.

The proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/registered capital/

# The proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/registered capital/

registered capital indirectly held by the Company.

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company Principal activities
ARRFECRITRE
/EMEREELA TEEH
2015 2014
“2-1F QA
% %

—  Energy system design,
consultancy services,
and wholesale of
power generation
products

REERAR HEEE
EmRkRtEEER
R

##

—  Sales of natural gas,
LPG and gas pipeline
construction
RAAR - RICAAMRHEE
RAREERE

—  Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

RARHERMR
EERE

ESE NI

ARAFHAZEETREA AMELRH
B E ANEE LB o

ARRFHBLERTRA EMELS T
EAEM A ANEEL G o
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46. Particular of Principal Subsidiaries 46. T EM B N A FH1E (F)
(Continued)
The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Company FTREINESA AU AREEBEEHE
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the EEXTEZE ARSI ENEA
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other Al-EBEERA RHEEMKMEB A A
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in FeERERBARTTE-

particulars of excessive length.

Note: B sE -

(1) The deferred shares, which are not held by the Group, practically carry no (1) RIERD W IFBEAEREE MER LI
rights to dividends or to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any U A5 U B RS B - B AR R BT ] B 3R oK
general meeting of the Company or to participate in any distribution on s HEeZINELREFRNER
winding up. W9 ZE[ DR 2R

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at = NI A AR B IR e Y

the end of the both years. FRREEEHES -

1 90 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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¥
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¥
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Results E4

Revenue WA

Profit for the year PiN/NE]
attributable to BB AEG
owners of the Company FZ i

Assets and liabilities EERBE
Total assets mEE
Total liabilities wEafE

Equity attributable to ZAN/NCIEZ 2SN
owners of the Company FEAE HE 2

Minority interests BT R R A

2015
—ZE—HF
HK$'000
FET

31,686,028

3,371,053

2015
—E—-HEF
HK$'000
THT

50,624,436

29,188,936

21,435,500

18,396,317

3,039,183

21,435,500

For the year ended 31 March

BEZE=—A=1+—HLEE

FINANCIAL REPORT 2015
—E-F

2014 2013 2012 2011
—TNFE —BE—=F —T——F —FT——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT TAT FAT
(restated) (restated) (restated)

(E31) (E751) (E751)

At 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2014 2013 2012 2011
—EFNF —F-=F ZF——F —FT——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET FET
(restated) (restated) (restated)
(E751) (&%) (E3)

191
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

P
¥ 1

iy
k‘l

Location Type
b B Pzl

Group's interest (%)

REE 2 (%)

Lease term

1

Leasehold land and buildings
HELHRET

In Hong Kong:
B

16/F., AXA Centre Office premises
No. 151 Gloucester Road HEYNEYES
Wan Chai

Hong Kong

B

HTITB1515%
TR 61

In the People’s Republic of China:
R EARLAME :

RN T & AT K 38 5002 5% Commercial
Bt A ESBREGHE - 1012 « 1348 - [EES
1518 & 184&

ItRmERMELMEER Office premises
FINELYES

Investment properties

REW*

No. 28-30 Kai Tak Road Vacant land
Kowloon City EETH
Kowloon
Hong Kong
BB
3
TLEE
i1 8 28-305%

1 92 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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100

100

100

100

Long lease

REAFEA

Medium term lease

hEI A

Medium term lease

T HAFEAY

Medium term lease

REIRRAY
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